

Doctoral Thesis

The relationship between packaging and food waste and its consideration in sustainability assessments

Submitted in satisfaction for the degree of Doctor of Science of the Vienna University of Technology, Faculty of Technical Chemistry

Dissertation

Der Zusammenhang zwischen Verpackung und Lebensmittelverlusten und dessen Berücksichtigung in Nachhaltigkeitsbewertungen

ausgeführt zum Zwecke der Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften unter der Leitung von

(Betreuung) Univ. Doz-. Mag. Dr. Manfred Tacker E166 Institut für Verfahrenstechnik, Umwelttechnik und technische Biowissenschaften

> Von Dipl-. Ing. Bernhard Wohner, BEd Matrikelnummer 00640292

Bund Mele

Wien, Oktober 2020



Abstract

Almost a third of all food produced is lost or wasted each year. Due to the use of energy, fertilizers and pesticides, food production substantially pollutes air, climate, soil, and water. Even more tragic if food is then lost or wasted. Since the function of packaging is to transport food safely and to protect its contents, food losses can be reduced by optimized packaging. At the same time, packaging that has not been optimized may also have the opposite effect, be it by too large packages or a design that makes it difficult to empty. Packaging and its manufacturers are in any case subject to public criticism since with the rising amount of packaging its ecological impact increases as well. Particularly, if it is not recycled but incinerated or, at worst, if it ends up in nature. When designing packaging it is important to weigh the environmental impact between packaging and possible food waste. The present work is therefore dedicated to the overarching goal of creating a better understanding of the interaction between packaging and food waste, as well as the subsequent consideration of this relationship in sustainability assessments of packaging.

In a first step, existing literature was analyzed to identify hot spots of packagingrelated food loss and waste along the food supply chain. It was investigated in which way packaging leads to food loss and waste and how such quantities can be operationalized.

After testing for emptiability was recognized as the most feasible option for this thesis, methods for operationalization were established. Based on a case study with dairy products, it was recognized that highly viscous products in inaccessible packaging (e.g. bottles) are particularly affected by poor emptiability. The accompanying life cycle analysis revealed that emptiability can lead to even greater environmental impacts than by the packaging material itself, as was the case for cream in a beverage carton.

In a third and final step, a comparative sustainability assessment was carried out using tomato ketchup as a case study. First, products were tested for their emptiability which showed that up to 29% ketchup can remain in polypropylene bottles, while emptiability of ketchup in glass packaging only led to 4% food loss. While glass packaging achieved poorer LCA results compared to polypropylene bottles, the entire food packaging system was able to perform better, a direct effect of its good emptiability. An economic analysis showed that although higher food losses lead to higher costs for consumers, it does produce a positive overall economic effect. Finally, multi-criteria decision analysis was used to identify the most sustainable alternative, which was again heavily influenced by emptiability.

Kurzfassung

Weltweit gehen jährlich rund ein Drittel aller Lebensmittel verloren. Da die Produktion von Lebensmitteln durch den Einsatz von Energie, Düngemitteln und Pestiziden zu deutlichen Belastungen von Luft, Klima, Böden und Gewässern führt, ist deren Verlust umso tragischer. Verpackungen haben die Funktion, Lebensmittel sicher transportierbar zu machen und ihren Inhalt zu schützen, wodurch Lebensmittelverluste reduziert werden können. Ebenso können nicht-optimierte Verpackungen zu Verlusten führen, sei es durch die Verwendung zu großer Packungen oder einem Design, welches eine nur mangelhafte Restentleerbarkeit ermöglicht. Verpackungen und deren Hersteller stehen jedenfalls in der öffentlichen Kritik, denn mit der zunehmenden Menge an Verpackungen wachsen auch deren ökologische Auswirkungen. Besonders in der Kritik stehen Verpackungen aus Kunststoff, vor allem wenn diese am Ende ihres Lebensweges nicht recycelt, sondern verbrannt oder im schlimmsten Fall in der Natur landen. Es gilt, ökologische Auswirkungen zwischen Verpackung und Lebensmittelverlusten abzuwägen. Die vorliegende Arbeit widmet sich übergeordneten Ziel, ein besseres Verständnis deshalb dem für das Zusammenspiel zwischen Verpackung und Lebensmittelabfällen zu schaffen, sowie Nachhaltigkeitsbewertungen dieses in von Verpackungen zu berücksichtigen.

In einem ersten Schritt wurde bestehende Literatur analysiert, um Hot Spots von verpackungsbedingten Lebensmittelverlusten entlang der Wertschöpfungskette zu identifizieren. Es wurde untersucht, in welcher Art und Weise Verpackungen zu Lebensmittelverlusten führen und wie solche Mengen operationalisiert werden können.

Nachdem eine Testierung auf Restentleerbarkeit als machbar erkannt wurde, wurden in einem zweiten Schritt Methoden entwickelt, um ein solches Verfahren zu standardisieren. Anhand einer Fallstudie mit Milchprodukten konnte erhoben werden, dass hochviskose Produkte in nicht-zugänglichen Verpackungen (z.B. Flaschen) besonders stark von schlechter Restentleerbarkeit betroffen sind. Die begleitend durchgeführte Lebenszyklusanalyse offenbarte, dass dies für Rahm im Getränkeverbundkarton zu größeren Umweltauswirkungen führen kann als mit der Produktion und Entsorgung der Verpackung verbunden sind.

In einem dritten und letzten Schritt wurde am Fallbeispiel Tomatenketchup eine vergleichende Nachhaltigkeitsbewertung durchgeführt. Hierzu wurde zuerst eine Restentleerbarkeitsuntersuchung angestellt die zeigte, dass in Polypropylenflaschen \mathbf{bis} zu 29%Ketchup zurückbleiben die kann, Restentleerbarkeit des Ketchups in einer Flasche jedoch nur zu rund 4% Lebensmittelverlusten führte. Während die Glasverpackung schlechtere ökobilanzielle Ergebnisse erzielte. konnte das gesamte Lebensmittelverpackungssystem durch die gute Restentleerbarkeit jedoch in Summe besser abschneiden. Eine ökonomische Betrachtung mittels Lebenszykluskostenanalyse zeigte, dass höhere Lebensmittelverluste zwar auch zu höheren Kosten für Konsumentinnen und Konsumenten führt, jedoch einen positiven ökonomischen Gesamteffekt produziert. Abschließend wurde mittels einer multikriteriellen Entscheidungsanalyse die Auswahl der nachhaltigsten Alternative getroffen, welche erneut substanziell durch die Restentleerbarkeit der Produkte beeinflusst wurde.

Contents

| 1 Introduction1 |
|--|
| 1.1 Food loss and waste1 |
| 1.2 Packaging functions |
| 1.2.1 Protection |
| 1.2.2 Communication2 |
| 1.2.3 Convenience |
| 1.3 Environmental impact of packaging and packaging waste |
| 2 Aims and structure of the thesis |
| 3 Methods7 |
| 3.1 Life cycle assessment |
| 3.2 Life cycle costing |
| 3.3 Multi-criteria decision analysis10 |
| 4 Summary of published articles12 |
| 4.1 Packaging-related food losses and waste. An overview of drivers and issues12 |
| 4.1.1 Background, aim and methods12 |
| 4.1.2 Results and discussion |
| 4.2 Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria |
| 4.2.1 Background, aim and methods15 |
| 4.2.2 Results and discussion |
| 4.3 Environmental and economic assessment of food-packaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup |
| 4.3.1 Background, aim, and methods |
| 4.3.2 Results and discussion |
| 5 Conclusions and outlook |
| 5.1 Conclusions |

| 5.2 | Scientific contribution and outlook | . 32 |
|-----|-------------------------------------|------|
| 6 | References | . 33 |
| 7 | Full text: Paper I | .41 |
| 8 | Full text: Paper II | .57 |
| 9 | Full text: Paper III | .80 |

Figures

| Figure 1: Four phases of a life cycle assessment | 7 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2: Carbon footprint of two packaging options for cheese | 14 |
| Figure 3: System boundaries of the foreground system, taken from Figure 1 in Paper II | 17 |
| Figure 4: Emptiability results, grouped by types of dairy products | 19 |
| Figure 5: Emptiability results, grouped by types of packaging for dairy products | 19 |
| Figure 6: Ketchup products chosen as illustrative examples. | 22 |
| Figure 7: Emptiability results of examined products | 24 |
| Figure 8: LCA results of tomato ketchup products per functional unit. | 25 |
| Figure 9: VA results of ketchup products in Euro per functional unit. | 26 |
| Figure 10: TOPSIS results (relative closeness values) of ketchup products. | 27 |

Tables

| Table 1: Generated packaging waste in 2017 by material in the European Union | $(EU)^{16}$ and |
|---|-----------------|
| Austria ¹⁷ | 3 |
| Table 2: Overview of causes reported in literature for packaging-related food loss along the food supply chain | and waste |
| along the lood supply chain | 10 |

Table 3: Percentage increase of selected products (product with the five highest and lowest increases in climate change) for primary packaging after including EMPT22°C, 7°C.....20

v

| Table 4: | Weights | of criteria, | calculated | using | equal | weighting | (Equal), | CRITIC | and | entropy. |
|----------|---------|--------------|--------------|---------|--------|------------|----------|-----------|------|----------|
| | | | | | | | | | | 27 |
| Table 5. | Summary | v of emptia | bility indic | es (ari | thmeti | c average) | of evami | ined prod | nets | 30 |

Abbreviations

| \mathbf{AC} | Acidification |
|---------------|--|
| CC | Climate change |
| CRITIC | Criteria Importance through Intercriteria Correlation (CRITIC) |
| EVOH | Ethylene vinyl alcohol |
| FEU | Freshwater eutrophication |
| FLW | Food loss and waste |
| FRD | Fossil resource depletion |
| HDPE | High-density polyethylene |
| LCA | Life cycle assessment |
| LCC | Life cycle costing |
| MCDA | Multi-criteria decision analysis |
| PEF | Product Environmental Footprint |
| PET | Polyethylene terephthalate |
| PFLW | Packaging-related food loss and waste |
| PM | Particulate matter |
| PP | Polypropylene |
| PREI | Packaging relative environmental impact |
| PS | Polystyrene |
| TEU | Terrestrial eutrophication |
| TOPSIS | Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution |
| UHT | Ultra-high temperature |
| UV | Ultra-violet |
| VA | Value added |

Published articles and contributions

This cumulative thesis is comprised of the following three journal articles:

Paper I Wohner B, Pauer E, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste: An Overview of Drivers and Issues. Sustainability 2019; 11(1).¹

I have provided the following contributions to this paper:

- Conceptualization
- Methodology
- Investigation
- Writing Original draft
- Visualization

Paper II Wohner B, Schwarzinger N, Gürlich U, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria. PeerJ 2019; 7(12): e7578.²

I have provided the following contributions to this paper:

- Conceptualization
- Methodology
- Validation
- Formal analysis
- Investigation
- Writing Original draft
- Visualization
- Paper III Wohner B, Gabriel VH, Krenn B, Krauter V, Tacker M. Environmental and economic assessment of food-packaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup. Science of The Total Environment 2020; 738: 139846.³

I have provided the following contributions to this paper:

- Conceptualization
- Methodology
- Validation
- Formal analysis
- Investigation
- Writing Original draft
- Visualization



1 Introduction

1.1 Food loss and waste

The global food and agriculture supply chain is responsible for 13.7 billion tons of CO_2 equivalents or 26% of the worlds emissions each year⁴. 50% of the total habitable land and 70% of freshwater withdrawal are used for agriculture, as well as considerable quantities of pesticides and fertilizers which pollute air, water bodies and soil if not managed properly⁵. Considering the expected population growth of up to 10 billion people by 2050⁶, carbon emissions and the pressure on land and water resources by the food and agriculture sector are expected to increase even more. If food is then lost or wasted instead of being consumed, this leads to a tragic waste of resources.

In the available literature, the terms 'food loss' and 'food waste' are often used synonymously, while some authors insist on a distinction⁷. Today, there is no common definition of the terms 'food loss' and 'food waste'⁷. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), food loss is 'the result of decisions and actions by suppliers' and thus 'concerns all stages of the food supply chain up to, but excluding, the point where there is interaction with the final consumer and thus excludes retail, food service providers and consumers', while 'food waste' is the 'result of purchasing decisions by consumers, or decisions by retailers and food service providers that affect consumer behaviour'⁸. Hence, the distinction between 'food loss' and 'food waste' can be vital when setting political, social, or technological counter-measures.

In countries with higher amounts of food loss, mainly low-income countries, measures such as improving the infrastructure for storage and cooling of food as well as introducing optimized packaging may be of more importance than in countries with higher income, where such infrastructure already exists and higher quantities are wasted at the consumer level^{9,10}. The FAO estimates that, globally, 13.8% of all the food produced in 2016 was lost, while there exists no recent global estimate for the amount that was wasted. Leastwise, the FAO estimated that in 2009, a combined quantity of food loss and waste (FLW) amounted to 1.3 billion tons or $30\%^{10}$. As a result, this led to the emission of 3.3 gigatons of CO₂ equivalents. To put this into context, food waste would rank third after USA and China if it was compared to countries¹¹.

1.2 Packaging functions

Packaging is one of the contributors to the total environmental impact of a foodpackaging system¹². It is a product to be used for the containment of goods¹³, such as facilitating the transportation of liquids¹⁴. Packaging can be grouped into (i) primary packaging, which comes into direct contact with the product, (ii) secondary packaging, which contains one or more primary packaging units and (iii) distribution, transport or tertiary packaging, which contains one or more packages (packaging and its contents)¹³. Besides containment, packaging fulfils several additional functions, such as (i) protection, (ii) communication and (iii) convenience (or the facilitation of handling)^{14,15}.

1.2.1 Protection

Packaging must protect its contents along the supply chain, from the point of filling up until the consumption. It must not only protect its contents from their surroundings, but in some cases the surrounding from the contents as well (e.g. hazardous goods). The protective function can be grouped into

- Mechanical properties: Prevention against influences on the contents such as shocks or vibration, as well as preventing theft or tampering
- Barrier properties: Prevention against spoilage by absorption or transmission of UV light, oxygen or water vapor, as well as migration of undesired substances from the packaging material or the surroundings into its contents
- Thermal properties: Protecting the consumer from getting injured by hot contents or keeping the contents at a desired temperature
- Sealing properties: Providing a tightly sealed packaging in order to prevent leakage or contamination from its surroundings¹⁵

1.2.2 Communication

Packaging is responsible for communicating with consumers and further actors along the supply chain. The communication feature consists mainly on information and instructions of (i) the product, (ii) the packaging and (iii) the package:

- the product: weight, volume, ingredients, or shelf life
- the packaging: handling, opening and (re)closing, using, and handling

• the package: sales price, origin and destination, and the name of the manufacturer

Information can be conveyed in the form of imprinted text, barcodes or QR codes on the packaging¹⁵.

1.2.3 Convenience

Packaging can and should be used for facilitating the handling of the packaging and its contents. Such facilitation can be attained by incorporating design features to support easy opening and (re)closing or emptying of contents. Furthermore, by considering the apportionment into its design, i.e. using smaller package sizes¹⁴, the user is more likely to consume all of the contents, thus reducing the amount of FLW¹⁵.

1.3 Environmental impact of packaging and packaging waste

In the European Union (EU), the amount of packaging waste reached a record high of 77 million tons in 2017, which represents an increase of 9.3% in 10 years¹⁶. Packaging and packaging waste consists mainly of the materials paper and cardboard, plastic, glass, wood and metal¹⁶, in the EU as well as in Austria (Table 1).

| Packaging material | Generated waste in 2017 in the EU (metric tons) | Share of material (%) | Generated waste in 2017 in Austria (metric tons) | Share of material (%) |
|------------------------|---|-----------------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| Paper and cardboard | 31.429.879 | 40.6 | 575.620 | 41.8 |
| Plastic | 14.548.499 | 18.8 | 302.306 | 22.0 |
| Glass | 14.060.109 | 18.2 | 278.337 | 20.2 |
| Wood | 13.255.270 | 17.1 | 112.960 | 8.2 |
| Metal | 3.976.924 | 5.1 | 63.188 | 4.6 |
| Other | - | - | 44.594 | 3.2 |
| Total | 77.486.579 | 100 | 1.377.005 | 100 |

Table 1: Generated packaging waste in 2017 by material in the European Union (EU)¹⁶ and Austria¹⁷

In 2017, the European Union reported a recycling rate of 67% and a recovery rate (recycling, composting and incineration with energy recovery) of $82\%^{16}$,

compared to Austria with rates of 66% and 95% respectively¹⁶. There is, however, no official data on packaging waste not managed properly (i.e. 'littered'). Still, the World Bank estimates that one third of all waste produced globally is going to an open dump¹⁸.

While the amount of packaging waste has increased, so has the criticism by the public, particularly on packaging made from plastic. In the eyes of consumers, using plastic is considered a 'knock-out criterion' when assessing the sustainability of packaging¹⁹, while it is often identified as the one with the most favorable results in comparative life cycle assessments $(LCA)^{20}$. It has to be noted, however, that LCA is not able to quantify the environmental impact caused by littering of certain objects, such as damage to human health by the consumption of seafood which ate plastic debris beforehand²¹. It is estimated that 4.8 to 12.7 million metric tons of plastic, and thus of plastic packaging as well, entering the oceans every year²², which would lead to the fact that by 2050, there could be more plastic than fish in the sea (by mass)²³.

When talking about the environmental impact of packaging, it is imperative to understand the relative importance, i.e. its contribution to the impact of the total food-packaging system ('packaging relative environmental impact', PREI²⁴). In most applications, plastic packaging, or packaging in general, has a considerably smaller environmental impact than is associated with the production of its contents²⁵. To put this into perspective, packaging is responsible for only 5% of greenhouse gas emissions related to the global food supply chain⁴, which translates to a contribution of 1.3% to the total greenhouse gas emissions globally. However, the relative environmental importance of packaging can vary greatly, depending on the type of food-packaging system. While the PREIs of plastic films and trays for products as cheese²⁶ or beef²⁷ can be as low as 1%, for beverages, values for aluminum cans, disposable glass or PET bottles can range from $34\%^{28}$ to $78\%^{29}$.

As a result, for products with low PREIs, even small quantities of packagingrelated FLW (PFLW) could lead to greater environmental impacts than that associated with the production and disposal of the packaging material. Consequently, assessing and, in the best case, quantifying the amount of FLW related to packaging design should be of high priority in life cycle or sustainability assessments of packaging.

2 Aims and structure of the thesis

As described in the introduction section, PFLW can contribute substantially to the total environmental impact of a food-packaging system. Therefore, the overall goal of this thesis is to quantify and include PFLW in sustainability assessments of packaging.

To address this goal, the following approach is taken:

Firstly, the available literature is reviewed to gain an extensive understanding of the relationship between packaging and FLW. Drivers and hotspots of FLW at different food supply chain stages are researched and already established methods for the quantification of PFLW are identified. This is addressed by the first paper (see section 'Full text: Paper I', p. 41ff)

Then, if no such methods are available, the gained knowledge is used to propose an operationalization for the quantification of PFLW. Consequently, the amount of food left in its associated packaging is measured, which is subsequently referred to as 'emptiability testing'. Taking dairy products as a use case, their PFLW is quantified by means of gravimetric analysis as well as the simulation of spooning out the contents. After quantifying PFLW, its environmental impacts are compared to those of the packaging itself to evaluate its relative importance. This is addressed by the second paper (see section 'Full text: Paper II', p. 57ff).

Next, the proposed method is refined and extended to a further use case of tomato ketchup products. Finally, PFLW of the investigated products is quantified, the LCA and LCC (life cycle costing) of the packaging, its contents and PFLW is calculated and lastly the most sustainable product identified by means of a multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA). This is addressed by the third paper (see section 'Full text: Paper III', p. 80ff).

From the proposed approach, the following research questions can be derived:

- i. What are the main drivers and issues of PFLW?
- ii. How can PFLW be quantified?
- iii. Are environmental impacts of PFLW relevant in comparative LCA studies of packaging?
- iv. What are the economic implications of PFLW?

v. Does the consideration of PFLW influence the ranking of packaging in sustainability assessments?

Paper I addresses research questions (i) and (ii), Paper II questions (ii) and (iii) and Paper III questions, (ii), (iii), (iv), and (v).

Concerning the structure of this thesis, first the methods used in the papers are described in section 3 (p. 7ff.), then the summary of the papers including their results are presented in section 4 (p. 12ff.). Section 5 of this thesis (p. 29ff.) lists the conclusions and scientific contribution. Finally, the full text of all papers is attached to the end of the thesis (p 41ff.).

3 Methods

3.1 Life cycle assessment

Life cycle assessment is a 'method to address potential environmental aspects throughout a product's life cycle, from the acquisition of raw materials to its end-of-life treatment' ('cradle-to-grave')³⁰. The first known LCA, then still referred to as 'Resource and Environmental Profile Analysis' (REPA), was conducted in 1969³¹ for the Coca-Cola Company. The company commissioned this study to have a solid base for their decision on whether they should selfmanufacture beverage cans, use refillable or disposable glass bottles or if they should introduce plastic bottles. While the study was never published, the company indicated to have used it to support packaging-related decisions. Since then, several REPA studies³¹ were conducted until 1990 the term 'life cycle assessment' was first used by the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC)³². Finally, the first international ISO standard on the principles and framework on LCA was released in 1997 and revised in 2006³⁰.

According to ISO 14040³⁰ (and 14044³³), LCA consists of a (i) goal and scope definition, (ii) the creation of a life cycle inventory, (iii) the calculation of the impact assessment and (iv) an interpretation phase. LCA is an iterative technique, meaning that an unexpected change in one scope could lead to the modification of another.



Figure 1: Four phases of a life cycle assessment (own representation, based on ISO 14040³⁰)

8

In the first phase, the *goal* is formulated, including the reasons for carrying out the study, its intended application and the targeted audience, as well as the *scope*, consisting of, inter alia, the system boundaries, the functional unit, the selection of impact categories (e.g. climate change, eutrophication of fresh water, acidification, and more), and allocation procedures. The primary purpose of a functional unit is to 'provide a reference to which the inputs and outputs are related'³⁰. For instance, if the goal of an LCA study is to understand the potential environmental impacts of different vehicles for public transport, the functional unit could be that of 'a person transported over 1 km'. In the case of beverage packaging, an appropriate functional unit could be either the 'facilitation of the distribution of 1 liter beverage' or 'the facilitation of the consumption of 1 liter beverage'. For instance, if a packaging leads to FLW of 50%, twice as much food has to be produced for the consumption of 1 kg compared to a loss rate of $0\%^{34}$. Consequently, results of the LCA can vary greatly depending on the choice of functional unit.

In the second phase, all 'relevant inputs and outputs of a product system' are quantified by data collection, validation and, if required, an allocation of different flows, to finally generate a *life cycle inventory*³⁰.

In the third phase, the *impact assessment* is calculated by 'evaluating the significance of potential environmental impacts' after assigning the respective characterization of each flow for every selected impact category³⁰.

In the fourth and final phase, the findings from the life cycle inventory and impact assessment are *interpreted*, potentially including conclusions and recommendations for decision-makers³⁰. Such conclusions should be drawn after the consideration of identified limitations of the study and thus the evaluation of the robustness of results due to a lack of data quality or sensitivity of certain assumptions³³.

While ISO 14040 and 14044 give guidance on how to conduct LCA studies in general, it still leaves practitioners a great deal of leeway. These standards never actually aimed for a true standardization, particularly by stating that ,there is no single method for conducting LCA^(30,35). However, reproducibility and comparability of LCA results is only possible using standardized methods. As a result, the European Commission developed the Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) guidance^{36,37}, a framework containing more detailed requirements and recommendations for conducting LCA or PEF studies. Consequently, Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PEFCR) for several types of products were developed based on the PEF guidance during a

pilot phase between 2013 and 2018. In 2020, the European Commission proposed that future green claims should only be based on results produced by PEF-compliant studies³⁸, indicating that PEF could indeed become a mandatory and highly relevant framework for LCA in the future. As a result, life cycle assessments in this thesis were based on the methodology laid out in the PEF guidance.

In particular, the following information from the PEF guidance is used for the LCA calculations in Papers II and III:

- Defining the system boundaries
- Default transport mode and distances
- Default recycled content of packaging materials
- Default type and quantity of secondary packaging (for Paper II)
- Allocation procedures and factors for the input and output of secondary materials ('Circular Footprint Formula')
- Selection of impact categories, their indicators, and methods
- Identification of the most relevant impact categories

3.2 Life cycle costing

Historically, (*conventional*) life cycle costing (LCC) is seen as a method that 'generally includes costs associated with a product that are borne directly by a given actor' and which is 'usually presented from the perspective of the producer or consumer alone'³⁹. As a result, by contrast to LCA, no end-of-life and thus only part of a products' life cycle is considered³⁹.

By contrast, *environmental LCC* is often carried out alongside an LCA by using the same study parameters such as system boundaries and the functional unit, thus enabling the consideration of the full life cycle and taking a system's perspective rather than the perspective of the producer or consumer alone. Since double-counting between environmental LCC and LCA should be avoided, costs of externalities such as greenhouse gas emissions are generally omitted from LCC³⁹.

In this thesis, LCC was performed together with LCA. Further, the goal of the LCC was to consider its results from a sustainability and thus a system's perspective. Therefore, environmental LCC, or more precisely the concept of 'value added' (VA), was selected for assessing the economic effects of PFLW.

The general assumption of VA is that the sales price of a product is typically higher than its production process, resulting in a margin or 'value added'. VA is calculated as the difference between revenues and costs and given in a monetary unit such as Euro (\in)⁴⁰. Finally, the total life cycle cost is the 'sum of all value added over the life cycle'⁴¹, including the same flows of the LCA but excluding costs associated with environmental externalities.

3.3 Multi-criteria decision analysis

As reported in section 3.1, not only climate change but several other impact categories can be selected and calculated in LCA, leading to a multitude of different results. In a comparative study, this could lead to a situation where product A yields better results in some, but product B in other impact categories, complicating the identification of the 'better' product. In LCA, this can be addressed by the steps (i) normalization ('calculation of the magnitude of category indicator results relative to reference information³⁰), (ii) weighting ('converting and possibly aggregating indicator results across impact categories using numerical factors based on value-choices³³) and, finally, (iii) the calculation of a single score by summing up all normalized and weighted values as documented in the PEF guidance³⁶. However, while such an aggregated value may be easier to communicate to or to use by a decision-maker, it is associated with a higher uncertainty compared to individual impact category results⁴². The identification of the 'best' product is becomes even more complicated when further metrics other than LCA results are taken into consideration, such as LCC results. A method increasingly used to aid such multi-dimensional sustainability assessments is 'multi-criteria decision analysis' (MCDA)⁴³.

Within MCDA, there is a rich pool of methods to choose from, each with different restrictions or requirements⁴⁴. For this thesis, Technique for Order Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS)⁴⁵ was selected by using the MCDA tool⁴⁶ considering the requirements on the method listed in Paper III. Using TOPSIS, the best possible alternative is identified as the one having the shortest geometric distance to the positive ideal solution and the longest distance from the negative ideal solution. The general process of performing TOPSIS can be summarized as follows:

- 1. Creation of an evaluation matrix of m alternatives and n criteria
- 2. Normalization of the matrix
- 3. Weighting of the normalized matrix

- 4. Determination of the positive ideal and negative ideal solution
- 5. Calculation of the Euclidian distances
- 6. Calculation of the relative closeness value to the ideal solution
- 7. Ranking of the alternatives⁴⁵

The process of weighting criteria can influence the outcome of a MCDA substantially. Weights can be determined either (i) a priori, meaning that they are set before or (ii) a posteriori, where they are set after data is collected. A priori weights are generally determined subjectively by surveys or interviews, while a posteriori weights are calculated objectively, based on the collected data⁴⁷. In Paper III, a posteriori weights were used, calculated using the methods (i) Criteria Importance through Intercriteria Correlation (CRITIC)⁴⁸ and (ii) entropy⁴⁹. While both methods are based on the concept of reducing redundancy by the calculation of standard deviations, CRITIC not only incorporates contrast but also conflict intensity between the selected criteria. The reader is referred to the full text of Paper III (p.80ff) for a detailed description of the calculation procedures concerning CRITIC, entropy and TOPSIS.

4 Summary of published articles

4.1 Packaging-related food losses and waste. An overview of drivers and issues

4.1.1 Background, aim and methods

Against the motivation of gaining a deeper understanding of the drivers and associated environmental issues of packaging-related FLW, a systematic review was performed. First, literature was searched in the online database ScienceDirect⁵⁰ by using the keywords 'food waste' AND 'packaging', as well with the additional keyword 'LCA'. Moreover, the bibliography of the selected literature was screened for further relevant scientific literature and reports of renowned organizations (such as the FAO), to be also included in the review. Finally, 88 publications were analyzed.

4.1.2 Results and discussion

Main causes of PFLW reported in the literature were distilled and summarized in Table 2.

| Sta | age | Type of packaging related food loss and waste | | | | |
|-----------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Food in the supply chain | Primary production | Not applicable | | | | |
| | Post-harvest handling and storage | Damage of products due to contaminants, sharp edges or splinters of field containers, over-packing of field crates | | | | |
| | Processing and packaging | Problems in the filling process Packaging failures while sealing Packaging changes due to marketing reasons | | | | |
| | Distribution and retail | Packaging does not provide enough mechanical protection (inappropriate packaging material, poor stackability, no packaging at all) Damage to barcodes on packaging | | | | |
| Food in households | | Difficult to open packaging Difficult to empty packaging Inappropriate packaging size | | | | |

Table 2: Overview of causes reported in literature for packaging-related food loss and waste along the food supply chain (based on Table 1, Paper I).

No PFLW could be identified for the primary production stage since no packaging is used or required during the agricultural production. Together with the introduction of packaging, the first possibility of PFLW arises. After harvesting, food can be damaged by field containers with sharp edges⁵¹ or contaminations⁵². At the processing and packaging stage, products can be damaged or lost by damaged packaging^{53,54}. Additionally, product can be lost in automatic filling processes by unoptimized operations resulting in overfilling⁵⁵, or bad handling in manual filling processes⁵¹. Due to changes in marketing and the resulting modification of packaging designs, products could be disposed of if they are already packed but not intended to be marketed anymore⁵⁶.

During distribution of food, PFLW can occur due to damaged packaging, or by damage to the product by using inappropriate packaging or no packaging at all⁵⁷, or by packaging that is stacked poorly⁵⁸. Unoptimized stock management and an exceedance of best before dates⁵⁹ leads to further avoidable losses. Moreover, the retail sector may discard food if the barcode on packages is not readable after getting damaged⁵⁷. Finally, if one or more of several food items of a packaging is spoiled, the supermarket may dispose of the whole package due to an unwillingness of removing still edible food from the packaging^{60,61}.

At the consumption stage, causes of PFLW are manifold as well and can reach up to 20 or 25% of the total FLW of a household⁶². For instance, if packaging cannot be opened easily, consumers may spill products in the opening process^{15,63,64}. After emptying, some food can remain inside the packaging which may be, at least partly, due to an unoptimized packaging design, such as a presence of a fold or corrugations inside the packaging, as well as the shape of the packaging itself^{62,65}.

Moreover, the size of a package can be one of the main reasons of PFLW at the consumption stage. If smaller packages are available, it proves to be easier to the consumer to buy the desired amount of food^{15,66–68}. While too large packages are often linked to over-preparing and thus the generation of FLW, a direct causality is hard to prove and thus should be treated with caution⁶⁹.

As stated in the introduction section, food production and thus PFLW can be of greater significance than the production and waste management of packaging. Thus, it should be of high priority to include PFLW in LCA studies of packaging. Still, most of the available literature omits this aspect⁷⁰. By including PFLW, the identification of the packaging with the better LCA results could change (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Carbon footprint of two packaging options for cheese, adapted from Figure 2 in Paper I and denkstatt $(2014)^{71}$

While the available literature on considering PFLW in LCA is scarce, several approaches for this process could be identified in publications, namely:

- Conducting a survey of a household's FLW including items of causes addressed at packaging design⁶²
- Calculating break-even rates for environmental impacts between an increase of packaging and PFLW^{72,73}
- Performing scenario analysis for probable amounts of PFLW based on expert opinion⁷⁴
- Considering the barrier properties (e.g. water and oxygen barrier) of packaging when defining the functional unit in an LCA⁷⁵
- Simulating the emptying behavior of a package ('emptiability') and quantifying the resulting food remaining inside⁶⁵

It was concluded that PFLW is still an under-researched topic and that only a few, but fortunately an increasing number of authors include PFLW in LCA today.

4.2 Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria

4.2.1 Background, aim and methods

Testing packages on their emptiability was identified as the most feasible approach for quantifying PFLW, concluding from Paper I. While some scientific literature on emptiability already exists^{34,62,65}, only Meurer et al. (2017) report their testing procedure in detail, where the authors performed gravimetric analysis on different types of packaging for ultra-high temperature (UHT) milk.

For Paper II, milk and dairy products were chosen as a case study since they are associated with high environmental impacts⁷⁶ and are consumed in large quantities in Austria⁷⁷. In total, 36 products were purchased and tested, which were grouped as follows:

- Milk, buttermilk, and chocolate milk
- Café latte
- Cream and low-fat cream alternative
- Liquid yogurt

• Yogurt, sour milk, fresh, and curd cheese

These products were packed in the following types of packaging:

- Beverage cartons
- Plastic (polyethylene terephthalate, PET) and glass bottles
- Plastic cups and tubs (polypropylene, PP and polystyrene, PS)
- Plastic pouches (multi-layer of high-density polyethylene, HDPE, PP, and ethylene vinyl alcohol, EVOH)

Since Meurer et al. (2017) only detail the testing procedure for UHT milk, adopting this methodology or rather developing new procedures for other types of products was necessary. For milk (whole milk, low-fat milk, lactose-free skimmed milk), buttermilk, and chocolate milk, the package was opened and then held upside down for 1 minute. brought to the starting position, panned five times, and held for 10 seconds, tilted again and finally held for 1 minute upside down. Chocolate milk in a beverage carton was emptied by pressing the package while the provided straw was inserted. Emptying Café Latte and liquid yoghurt was performed following the procedure for milk, with an additional shaking of five times before opening the package. Emptying cream and low-fat cream alternative in bottles followed the procedure of milk, while the low-fat cream alternative in a pouch was squeezed until no visible amounts of product could be emptied anymore.

Emptiability testing of yogurt, sour milk, fresh, and curd cheese differed greatly from the other products since the contents inside these packages could be accessed and thus emptied with a spoon with an additional scraping of the lid. It should be noted that a perfect consumer was simulated by this procedure, not necessarily reflecting the emptying behavior of consumers in practice. Thus, this type of emptiability is subsequently referred to as 'technical' emptiability.

The principal steps of quantification were:

- 1. Weighing of the package (food and packaging)
- 2. Following the emptying procedure of the respective product and weighing of the emptied package
- 3. Washing and air-drying the packaging for 48 hours at room temperature $(22 \pm 1 \text{ C}^{\circ})$
- 4. Weighing of the cleaned packaging

Emptiability was then calculated as the mass of food residues (difference between mass of emptied package and cleaned packaging), divided by the mass of food contained originally in the package (difference between mass of package and cleaned packaging). Tests were repeated three times at room ($22 \pm 1 \text{ C}^{\circ}$) and refrigerator temperature ($7 \pm 1 \text{ C}^{\circ}$) respectively. Finally, the emptiability index (EMPT) was expressed as the arithmetic mean of the respective temperatures (EMPT_{22°C} and EMPT_{7°C}), as well as a combined result (EMPT_{22°C}, $_{7^{\circ}C}$). Variability was given as the product of the respective standard deviation and 3.26 for EMPT_{22°C} and EMPT_{7°C} and 1.44 for EMPT_{22°C}, $_{7^{\circ}C}$, which follows from a desired statistical power of 0.80 and a confidence interval of 95%.

After the emptying procedure, all packaging components were weighed, and their material was determined by means of Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy. Streamlined life cycle assessments were then carried out for every dairy product-packaging combination, omitting primary data collection, but using Ecoinvent 3.5 as a source of life cycle data. The PEF guidance³⁶ was followed in respect to allocation rules, selection of impact categories and their respective methods and indicators, as well as several types of default data such as transport distances, quantity and type of secondary packaging, as well as recycled content of primary packaging. The functional unit was defined as "one kg of consumed dairy product at room or refrigerator temperature in the home of the consumer" with system boundaries specified from cradle to grave, leading to an investigated foreground system starting at the agricultural production and ending at the end-of-life of the package (Figure 3).



Figure 3: System boundaries of the foreground system, taken from Figure 1 in Paper II

To understand the influence of emptiability on the LCA, the difference between a functional unit of '1 kg consumed food' and '1kg distributed food' was calculated and expressed in relation to the impacts associated with the production and waste management of primary packaging for every impact category.

4.2.2 Results and discussion

EMPT_{22°C, 7°C} values of the investigated products ranged from 0.25% (± 0.11) for curd cheese in PS tubs to 5.79% (± 0.43) for liquid yogurt in PET bottles (Figure 4). In general, emptiability of dairy products in accessible packaging was better than in non-accessible packaging (Figure 5). From both figures, a high variability of EMPT is apparent for several types of products or packaging, while products investigated packed only in one type of packaging yield a lower variability in general, such as buttermilk. It can be concluded that EMPT is not only a function of packaging design or properties of food (such as viscosity) alone, but rather their interaction. It is further apparent that food with high viscosity (such as liquid yogurt) yields a comparatively poor emptiability if the associated packaging cannot be accessed.

While several investigated products were packed in different types of packaging, only low-fat cream alternative was identified as being the exact same product available in two types of packaging. For this product, $\text{EMPT}_{22^{\circ}\text{C}, 7^{\circ}\text{C}}$ was determined at 3.85% (± 0.08) for PET bottles, while emptiability was significantly better in a pouch (1.10% ± 0.55), resulting from the ability to squeeze the pouch efficiently compared to the non-accessible bottle. While there were differences between $\text{EMPT}_{22^{\circ}\text{C}}$ and $\text{EMPT}_{7^{\circ}\text{C}}$, no significant trend could be found (p=0.94).



Figure 4: Emptiability results, grouped by types of dairy products (adapted from Figure 9 in Paper II)



Figure 5: Emptiability results, grouped by types of packaging for dairy products (adapted from Figure 8 in Paper II)

Concerning the LCA results, the contribution of primary packaging ranged from 1.6% to 52.4% (mean 12.8%) for climate change. Naturally, after including emptiability in the LCA calculation, overall results increased. The associated implications varied greatly for every selected impact category, partly topping

1000% for categories such as acidification (AC) and terrestrial eutrophication for some products such as cream (TEU) (Table 3).

Table 3: Percentage increase of selected products (product with the five highest and lowest increases in climate change) for primary packaging after including EMPT22°C, 7°C (adapted from Table 4 in Paper II). Abbreviations for impact categories are: AC, Acidification; PM, Particulate matter; CC, Climate change; TEU, Terrestrial eutrophication; FEU, Freshwater eutrophication; FRD, Fossil resource depletion

| Dairy product | AC | RE | CC | TEU | FEU | FRD |
|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|
| Cream, 23% fat Beverage carton, flat top | $\begin{array}{c} 1045 \ \pm \\ 81 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 426 \ \pm \\ 33 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 264 \\ 20 \end{array} \pm$ | $\begin{array}{rrr} 1827 & \pm \\ 141 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{cc} 208 & \pm \\ 16 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{cc} 72 & \pm \\ 6 \end{array}$ |
| Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, bottle top | $\begin{array}{rr} 390 & \pm \\ 19 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 170 \ \pm \\ 8 \end{array}$ | 87 ± 4 | $\begin{array}{cc} 700 & \pm \\ 33 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{cc} 121 & \pm \\ 6 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 35 \pm \\ 2 \end{array}$ |
| Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, gable top | $\begin{array}{rrr} 318 & \pm \\ 28 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 134 \ \pm \\ 12 \end{array}$ | 87 ± 8 | $\begin{array}{l} 555 \pm \\ 50 \end{array}$ | 99 ± 9 | $\begin{array}{ccc} 34 & \pm \\ 3 \end{array}$ |
| Buttermilk Beverage carton, bottle top, variant a | $\begin{array}{cc} 279 & \pm \\ 31 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 125 \ \pm \\ 14 \end{array}$ | 51 ± 6 | $\begin{array}{rrr} 512 & \pm \\ 56 \end{array}$ | 66 ± 7 | $\begin{array}{cc} 19 & \pm \\ 2 \end{array}$ |
| Buttermilk Beverage carton, bottle top, variant b | $\begin{array}{rrr} 272 & \pm \\ 27 \end{array}$ | $\begin{array}{c} 121 \ \pm \\ 12 \end{array}$ | 50 ± 5 | $\begin{array}{rrr} 498 & \pm \\ 50 \end{array}$ | 65 ± 6 | $\begin{array}{cc} 19 & \pm \\ 2 \end{array}$ |
| Yogurt, cereals PS cup | 39 ± 3 | 31 ± 2 | 4 ± 0 | 103 ± 7 | 52 ± 4 | 2 ± 0 |
| Sour milk PS cup | 36 ± 7 | 27 ± 5 | 4 ± 1 | 91 ± 17 | 22 ± 4 | 3 ± 1 |
| Cafe Latté PET bottle | 22 ± 3 | 18 ± 3 | 3 ± 0 | 50 ± 7 | 3 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 |
| Curd cheese, crumbly PS tub | $\begin{array}{cc} 25 & \pm \\ 11 \end{array}$ | 18 ± 8 | 3 ± 1 | 63 ± 28 | 10 ± 4 | 2 ± 1 |
| Whole milk Glass bottle | 5 ± 0 | 3 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 | 11 ± 1 | 1 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 |

Concerning climate change, the increases ranged from 1% for whole milk in glass packaging to 264% for cream (fat content of 23%) in a beverage carton. Thus, for cream in beverage cartons, technical emptiability was of even more importance than the production and waste management of its packaging. This was a result of the high environmental impacts associated with the production of this type of food, as well as the low impacts generated by beverage cartons compared to other types of packaging. This highlights the relevance of including EMPT when conducting comparative LCA studies of packaging.

4.3 Environmental and economic assessment of foodpackaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup

4.3.1 Background, aim, and methods

An important conclusion from Paper II was the fact that packaging should be tested on its emptiability in comparative LCA studies. To support this even further, tomato ketchup was investigated in Paper III.

From Paper II it became apparent that if PFLW is included in studies of different packaging for a specific product category (e.g. tomato ketchup), but which does not contain the exact same product (i.e. hot tomato ketchup by company A), then packaging should not be compared without considering its contents as well. This is necessary since (i) viscosity of the products and thus their emptiability, as well as their (ii) composition and thus the environmental impact associated with its production could differ greatly from one another. Consequently, in Paper III the scope was not only on packaging but rather the entire food-packaging system, for which four different tomato ketchup products were examined (Figure 6).

The aim was to identify the most sustainable product by:

- 1. Testing emptiability
- 2. Conducting LCA and LCC including emptiability results
- 3. Assessing the total sustainability considering LCA and LCC results by means of MCDA (TOPSIS)

The functional unit was chosen as 3.8 kg consumed ketchup, the average consumption per capita in Austria in 2018⁷⁸. Analogous to Paper II, the LCA was conducted without collection of primary data but was based on weighing and identifying the packaging material after testing for emptiability. Ecoinvent 3.5 was used as LCI database and the PEF guidance was followed for the selection of impact categories, allocation factors and procedures, as well as for default transport distances. The difference in conventional and organic agriculture of tomatoes could not be considered due to missing information in Ecoinvent. While organic tomatoes may have lower⁷⁹ or higher⁸⁰ yields, their

LCA results can be higher^{81,82} or lower as well. Still, organic agriculture is associated with several environmental benefits such as greater biodiversity and fewer negative effects on human health⁸³. Thus, organic agriculture was considered as beneficial in TOPSIS as well and quantified as '1', compared to '0' for products of conventional agriculture. Weights for TOPSIS were determined by (i) equal weighting, as well as by means of (ii) Criteria Importance through Intercriteria Correlation (CRITIC) and (iii) Shannon's entropy.



Figure 6: Ketchup products chosen as illustrative examples. a) Conventional ketchup, produced in Austria, 450 g indicated filling quantity, 29.99 g colored polypropylene (PP) bottle with 10.81 g colored PP cap, 0.28 g multilayer seal (assuming a composition of 52% polyethylene, 25% polyethylene terephthalate, 17% adhesive and 6% aluminum) and 0.97 g PP labels. 172 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: 1.99 \in (PP-450-CONV).

b) Organic ketchup, produced in Austria, 380 g indicated filling quantity, 22.30 g clear transparent PP bottle with 4.36 g colored PP cap, 0.29 g multilayer seal and 0.63 g PP labels. Sales price: $2.99 \in (PP-380-ORG)$.

c) Organic ketchup, produced in the Czech Republic, 550 g indicated filling quantity, 30.96 g clear transparent PP bottle with 9.79 g colored PP cap, 0.32 g multilayer seal and 1.27 g paper labels. 210 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: $1.99 \in (PP-550-ORG)$.

d) Organic ketchup, produced in Italy, 480 g indicated filling quantity, 236.61 g flint packaging glass with 4.88 g tinplate screw cap and 1.29 g paper labels. 225 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: $1.45 \in (GL-480-ORG)$. Figure taken from Paper III.

For the selected products, not only technical but also practical emptiability was tested. The general calculation steps followed the methodology presented in Paper II. For simulating practical emptiability in plastic packaging, the bottles were shaken three times and then squeezed until air was released. Next, the bottles were swiveled and squeezed again until air was released. This process was repeated three times. By contrast, for products in glass packaging, the bottles were shaken three times, held upside down for 2 minutes, then shaken again three times and held upside down again for 1 minute. Additionally, technical emptiability was tested by scraping the bottles and their respective caps using a dedicated ketchup spoon with a length of 24.5 cm.

All tests were performed at room temperature $(22^{\circ}C \pm 1)$ with a sample size of 6. The final indices for both practical and technical emptiability were expressed as arithmetic average \pm confidence interval 95%. The results were analyzed by one-way ANOVA (Fisher's with Tukey post hoc test for samples with equality of variances and Welch's with Games-Howell post hoc test for samples without equality of variances).

4.3.2 Results and discussion

Practical emptiability (Figure 7) ranged from 13.12% (±2.05) to 28.80% (±3.30) for PP bottles, while the product in glass packaging performed significantly better at 3.85% (±0.41). These results are comparable to other studies reporting 0.5% to 26% in PP bottles⁸⁴ and 30% to 52% in PET bottles⁸⁵.

Nonetheless, emptiability of PP bottles can be significantly improved by using a spoon, resulting in technical emptiability indices of between 5.12% (± 0.40) and 7.08% (± 0.61). Since results of technical emptiability did not differ significantly, only practical emptiability was included in the subsequent TOPSIS analysis.



Practical emptiability = Technical emptiability

Figure 7: Emptiability results of examined products. Bars represent the mean, while error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Abbreviations represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture. Figure taken from Paper III.

The product with the poorest emptiability (PP-380-ORG) was also the one with the highest tomato content. Since the viscosity of ketchup increases with its tomato content⁸⁶, this could be one of the reasons for this outcome.

PP-380-ORG could be identified as the product with the greatest environmental impact across all relevant impact categories (Figure 8). This was again a result of its poor emptiability, stemming from its high tomato content, naturally leading to a higher amount of tomatoes and energy demand in the manufacturing process. Consequently, for PP-380-ORG, FLW due to poor emptiability leads to even greater environmental impacts than its packaging. By contrast, the glass packaging of GL-480-ORG) yielded worse LCA results but can be considered better considering its good comparably good emptiability.



Figure 8: LCA results of tomato ketchup products per functional unit. Figure taken from Paper III.

Concerning the results of LCC, or VA to be more precise, a very similar picture was presented (Figure 9). However, while for LCA results lower values are preferable, for VA a higher result and thus a greater contribution to the economy is desirable.



Figure 9: VA results of ketchup products in Euro per functional unit. Figure taken from Paper III

Unsurprisingly, a higher FLW rate leads to an increase in profit along the supply chain. The more ketchup is wasted due to poor emptiability, the more the ketchup manufacturer can sell, which then also increases the profits of the respective suppliers of packaging or ingredients. Ultimately, the product with the poorest emptiability led to the best VA result. Conversely, looking only at the costs to the consumer, the product with the best emptiability (GL-480-ORG) would be the most beneficial.

After testing for emptiability and calculating the LCA and LCC, weights for the use in TOPSIS were determined by equal weighting, as well as CRITIC and Entropy (Table 4).
| Category | Criteria | Equal (%) | CRITIC (%) | Entropy (%) |
|-----------------------|---------------|-----------|------------|-------------|
| Life cycle assessment | CC | 12.5 | 6.8 | 14.4 |
| | FRD | 12.5 | 7.5 | 13.9 |
| | WU | 12.5 | 8.4 | 17.3 |
| | FEU | 12.5 | 6.8 | 14.3 |
| | AC | 12.5 | 8.0 | 14.2 |
| | \mathbf{PM} | 12.5 | 15.2 | 13.3 |
| Organic agriculture | Yes/no | 12.5 | 32.2 | 7.5 |
| Economic assessment | VA | 12.5 | 15.2 | 5.1 |

Table 4: Weights of criteria, calculated using equal weighting (Equal), CRITIC and entropy. Abbreviations for criteria represent: CC (climate change), FRD (fossil resource depletion), WU (water use), FEU (eutrophication, freshwater), AC (acidification), PM (particulate matter), and VA (value added). Table adapted from Table 4 in Paper III.

The determined weights differed greatly between each set. Concerning CRITIC, organic agriculture was assigned 32.2%, but only 7.5% using entropy. In contrast, entropy assigned more weight to the LCA and less to LCC results.

After creating the decision matrix and following the TOPSIS procedure (as detailed in the full text of Paper III), final closeness values for all products were calculated with the best being the one closest to 1 (Figure 10).



Figure 10: TOPSIS results (relative closeness values) of ketchup products. Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450, 480 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture.

Closeness values varied widely, resulting from the different computed emphasis. Nonetheless, PP-550-ORG was identified as the best and GL-480-ORG the second-best possible solution across all three weighting sets. The most striking differences were for PP-380-ORG and PP-450-CNV, following from the varying importance of organic agriculture.

5 Conclusions and outlook

This thesis evaluated methods for the operationalization of packaging-related food loss and waste, its integration in life cycle and life cycle cost assessments and the proposal of a combined sustainability assessment using multi-criteria decision analysis. The following is a summary of the results of Papers I, II and III, in response to the research questions raised in section 2 (p. 5f)

5.1 Conclusions

(i) What are the main drivers and issues of PFLW?

Packaging-related food loss and waste can occur at every stage of the food supply chain, beginning at the post-harvest and handling stage and ending with emptying the package. In general, food can be lost or wasted by either (i) the omission of packaging itself, (ii) the use of inappropriate packaging (e.g. underpacking or insufficient barrier properties) or by (iii) unoptimized packaging design (difficult to open or empty, no reclosability, too large package).

Since the production of food and thus its wastage is associated with a substantial consumption of resources and generation of emissions, the quantification of PFLW is highly relevant. However, it is still an under-researched issue and just not considered in the majority of LCA studies on food⁷⁰. In total, 30% of all food produced is lost or wasted globally¹⁰. In relation to a households total FLW, packaging can be responsible for 20% to $25\%^{62}$.

(ii) How can the quantification of PFLW be operationalized?

In the available literature, the following approaches for the quantification of PFLW could be identified:

• Surveying a household's FLW⁶²

• Simulating the emptying behavior of a package ('emptiability') and quantifying the resulting food remaining inside⁶⁵

Testing packages on their emptiability was considered as most viable within the scope of this thesis. New approaches for its operationalization were proposed in Papers II and III.

In Paper II, 36 different dairy products and in Paper III, four different tomato ketchup products were examined. The resulting emptiability indices (ratio of food left in a package compared to original quantity) can be grouped and summarized as follows (Table 5):

| Product category | Product | Technical emptiability (%) | Practical emptiability (%) |
|---------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Dairy product | Buttermilk | 3.36 - 3.97 | - |
| | Cream | 0.66 - 4.18 | - |
| | Curd cheese | 0.25 - 0.67 | - |
| | Fresh cheese | 0.40 - 0.48 | - |
| | Liquid yogurt | 1.43 - 5.79 | - |
| | Low-fat cream alternative | 1.10 - 3.85 | - |
| | Sour milk | 0.43 - 0.45 | - |
| | Yogurt | 0.68 - 1.72 | - |
| | Café Latté | 0.53 - 1.25 | - |
| | Chocolate milk | 0.80 - 1.26 | - |
| | Milk | 0.31 - 0.45 | - |
| Condiment | Tomato ketchup | 3.37 - 7.08 | 3.85 - 28.80 |

Table 5: Summary of emptiability indices (arithmetic average) of examined products

It is apparent that emptiability of tomato ketchup is substantially worse than that of dairy products. In summary, emptiability should be tested for (i) products with high viscosity and/or which are resource-intensive and (ii) packaging that is not accessible.

(iii) Are environmental impacts of PFLW relevant in comparative LCA studies of packaging?

Papers II and III highlight the importance of including PFLW, or emptiability to be more precise, in comparative LCA studies of packaging. Concerning climate change, emptiability of cream in a beverage carton leads to greenhouse gas emissions 2.64 greater than those of its primary packaging. PFLW is also highly relevant for buttermilk and liquid yogurt in beverage cartons, as well as for tomato ketchup in PP bottles. In other impact categories, particularly acidification and terrestrial eutrophication, emptiability can exceed 10 orders of magnitude compared to the impacts of packaging.

(iv) What are the economic implications of PFLW?

In Paper III, poor emptiability of ketchup results in financial losses of 0.4 to $12.2 \notin \text{per year}$ for a consumer, depending on the type of product. However, the economic implications were calculated and considered from a system's perspective, showing that PFLW generates profits for all other actors along the food supply chain. Overall, poor emptiability leads to a greater contribution to the economy. This highlights the research need for environmental LCC methods depicting actual economic sustainability such as business diversity or long-term investments⁸⁷.

(v) Does the consideration of PFLW influence the ranking of packaging in sustainability assessments?

Paper II and III highlighted that emptiability can have a substantial contribution to LCA and LCC results. In Paper III, the inclusion of emptiability altered the ranking of the products in both LCA, LCC and the final TOPSIS results, further supporting the claim of this thesis that PFLW can be highly relevant in comparative studies of packaging.

5.2 Scientific contribution and outlook

This thesis showed that the quantification of PFLW is feasible by testing products on their emptiability. In some cases, emptiability-related FLW can even lead to greater environmental impacts than the production and waste management of the associated packaging. This is particularly true for resourceintensive food products (e.g. dairy products with high milk content such as cream) and resource-extensive packaging (such as beverage cartons). However, this approach is not without limitations, since the emptying procedure simulated in a laboratory setting could differ greatly from that in practice.

The present thesis contributes to the scientific discussion by operationalizing emptiability testing, as well as by comparing different packaging types combining life cycle assessments and life cycle costing with multi-criteria decision analysis. It highlights the importance of considering the entire foodpackaging system, compared to only packaging itself. In the future, further research should focus on developing methods for collecting or estimating PFLW data at other supply chain stages, more particular while products are transported or stored between the manufacturer and the retail sector. Moreover, future comparative assessments considering PFLW could further include social aspects of sustainability, e.g. by using social life cycle assessments.

6 References

- Wohner B, Pauer E, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste: An Overview of Drivers and Issues. *Sustainability* 2019; 11(1).
- Wohner B, Schwarzinger N, Gürlich U, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria. *PeerJ* 2019; 7(12): e7578.
- Wohner B, Gabriel VH, Krenn B, Krauter V, Tacker M. Environmental and economic assessment of food-packaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup. *Science of The Total Environment* 2020; **738**: 139846.
- Poore J, Nemecek T. Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 2018; **360**(6392): 987–92.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture: Managing systems at risk, 1st ed. Earthscan: Milton Park Abingdon, New York NY, 2011.
- UN, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World Population Prospects. The 2017 Revision: Key Findings and Advance Tables. Working Paper No. EDA/P/WP/248: New York, United States of America, 2017.
- Chaboud G, Daviron B. Food losses and waste: Navigating the inconsistencies. *Global Food Security* 2017; 12: 1–7.
- 8. FAO. The State of Food and Agriculture 2019: Moving forward on food loss and waste reduction: Rome, 2019.
- FAO. Appropriate food packaging solutions for developing countries: Study conducted for the International Congress Save Food! at Interpack2011 Düsseldorf, Germany. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, 2014.
- Gustavsson J, Cederberg C, Sonesson U. Global food losses and food waste: Extent, causes and prevention; study conducted for the International Congress Save Food! at Interpack 2011, [16 - 17 May], Düsseldorf, Germany. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, 2011.

- 11. FAO. Food wastage footprint: Impacts on natural resources summary report. FAO: Rome, 2013.
- 12. Pauer E, Wohner B, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Assessing the Environmental Sustainability of Food Packaging: An Extended Life Cycle Assessment including Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste and Circularity Assessment. Sustainability 2019; 11(3): 925.
- ISO. Packaging Vocabulary Part 1: General terms: 21067-1:2016, 2016th ed.(21067). ISO, 2016.
- 14. Singh P, Wani AA, Langowski H-C (eds.). Food packaging materials: Testing & quality assurance. CRC Press Tayöpr & Francis Group: Boca Raton, London, New York, 2017.
- Lindh H, Williams H, Olsson A, Wikström F. Elucidating the Indirect Contributions of Packaging to Sustainable Development: A Terminology of Packaging Functions and Features. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2016; 29(4-5): 225–46.
- 16. eurostat. Packaging waste statistics Statistics Explained. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php/Packaging_waste_statistics#Recycling_and_recover y_targets [accessed August 27, 2020].
- Bundesministerium für Klimaschutz, Umwelt, Energie, Mobilität, Innovation und Technologie. Die Bestandsaufnahme der Abfallwirtschaft in Österreich: Statusbericht 2020 (Referenzjahr 2018). https://www.bmlrt.gv.at/dam/jcr:1bb2560d-908b-48ae-8bce-5f1aa6d77ac3/BAWP_Statusbericht_2020.pdf [accessed September 09, 2020].
- Kaza S, Yao L, Bhada-Tata P, van Woerden F. What a Waste 2.0: A Global Snapshot of Solid Waste Management to 2050. The World Bank, 2018.
- Herbes C, Beuthner C, Ramme I. How green is your packaging—A comparative international study of cues consumers use to recognize environmentally friendly packaging. *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 2020; 44(3): 258–71.
- Boesen S, Bey N, Niero M. Environmental sustainability of liquid food packaging: Is there a gap between Danish consumers' perception and learnings from life cycle assessment? *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2019; 210: 1193–206.

- Sonnemann G, Valdivia S. Medellin Declaration on Marine Litter in Life Cycle Assessment and Management. Int J Life Cycle Assess 2017; 22(10): 1637–9.
- 22. Jambeck JR, Geyer R, Wilcox C, Siegler TR, Perryman M, Andrady A et al. Marine pollution. Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. Science (New York, N.Y.) 2015; 347(6223): 768–71.
- 23. Ellen MacArthur Foundation. The New Plastics Economy: Rethinking the future of plastics & catalysing action, 2016.
- Licciardello F. Packaging, blessing in disguise. Review on its diverse contribution to food sustainability. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 2017; 65: 32–9.
- 25. Silvenius F, Grönman K, Katajajuuri J-M, Soukka R, Koivupuro H-K, Virtanen Y. The Role of Household Food Waste in Comparing Environmental Impacts of Packaging Alternatives. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2014; **27**(4): 277–92.
- 26. Kim D, Thoma G, Nutter D, Milani F, Ulrich R, Norris G. Life cycle assessment of cheese and whey production in the USA. Int J Life Cycle Assess 2013; 18(5): 1019–35.
- 27. Zhang H, Hortal M, Dobon A, Bermudez JM, Lara-Lledo M. The Effect of Active Packaging on Minimizing Food Losses: Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Essential Oil Component-enabled Packaging for Fresh Beef. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2015; 28(9): 761–74.
- Gazulla C, Raugei M, Fullana-I-Palmer P. Taking a life cycle look at crianza wine production in Spain: where are the bottlenecks? Int J Life Cycle Assess 2010; 15(4): 330–7.
- Koroneos C, Roumbas G, Gabari Z, Papagiannidou E, Moussiopoulos N. Life cycle assessment of beer production in Greece. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2005; **13**(4): 433–9.
- ISO. Environmental management Life cycle assessment Requirements and guidelines: 14040:2006(en), 2006th ed.(14040). ISO, 2006.
- Hunt R, Franklin W. LCA how it came about: Personal Reflections on the Origin and LCA in the USA. Int. J. LCA 1996; 1(3): 147–50.
- 32. Bjørn A, Owsianiak M, Molin C, Hauschild MZ. LCA History. In *Life Cycle Assessment*, Hauschild MZ, Rosenbaum RK, Olsen SI (eds.). Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2018: 17–30.

- 33. ISO. Environmental Management Life Cycle Assessment Requirements and Guidelines: 14044:2006, 2006th ed; 13.020.10(14044). ISO, 2006.
- 34. Wikström F, Williams H, Venkatesh G. The influence of packaging attributes on recycling and food waste behaviour – An environmental comparison of two packaging alternatives. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; **137**: 895–902.
- 35. Guinée JB, Heijungs R, Huppes G, Zamagni A, Masoni P, Buonamici R et al. Life cycle assessment: past, present, and future. Environmental science & technology 2011; 45(1): 90–6.
- 36. European Commission. PEFCR Guidance document: Guidance for the development of Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PEFCRSs), version 6.3. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eussd/smgp/pdf/PEFCR_guidance_v6.3 .pdf [accessed April 17, 2019].
- 37. Pant R, Zampori L. Suggestions for updating the organisation environmental footprint (OEF) method. Publications Office of the European Union: Luxembourg, 2019.
- 38. European Commission. A new Circular Economy Action Plan. For a cleaner and more competitive Europe: Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Socal Committee and the Committee of the Regions. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1583933814386&uri=COM:2020:98:FIN [accessed September 09, 2020].
- Hunkeler D, Lichtenvort K, Rebitzer G. Environmental Life Cycle Costing. CRC Press: Hoboken, 2008.
- 40. Heijungs R, Settanni E, Guinée J. Toward a computational structure for life cycle sustainability analysis: unifying LCA and LCC. Int J Life Cycle Assess 2013; 18(9): 1722–33.
- Moreau V, Weidema BP. The computational structure of environmental life cycle costing. Int J Life Cycle Assess 2015; 20(10): 1359–63.
- 42. Bare JC, Hofstetter P, Pennington DW, Haes HAU de. Midpoints versus endpoints: The sacrifices and benefits. *Int. J. LCA* 2000; 5(6).
- 43. Zanghelini GM, Cherubini E, Soares SR. How Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) is aiding Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) in results interpretation. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2018; **172**: 609–22.

- Wątróbski J, Jankowski J, Ziemba P, Karczmarczyk A, Zioło M. Generalised framework for multi-criteria method selection. Omega 2019; 86: 107–24.
- Hwang C-L, Lai Y-J, Liu T-Y. A new approach for multiple objective decision making. *Computers & Operations Research* 1993; 20(8): 889–99.
- 46. Wątróbski J, Jankowski J, Ziemba P, Karczmarczyk A, Zioło M. MCDA Method Selection Tool: An innovative tool for selecting MCDA method tailored to the decision problem. http://mcda.it/ [accessed October 24, 2019].
- 47. Kao C. Weight determination for consistently ranking alternatives in multiple criteria decision analysis. *Applied Mathematical Modelling* 2010; 34(7): 1779–87.
- Diakoulaki D, Mavrotas G, Papayannakis L. Determining objective weights in multiple criteria problems: The critic method. *Computers & Operations Research* 1995; **22**(7): 763–70.
- Li X, Wang K, Liu L, Xin J, Yang H, Gao C. Application of the Entropy Weight and TOPSIS Method in Safety Evaluation of Coal Mines. *Proceedia Engineering* 2011; 26: 2085–91.
- Elsevier B.V. ScienceDirect.com / Science, health and medical journals, full text articles and books. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ [accessed September 14, 2020].
- 51. Paltrinieri G. Handling of fresh fruits, vegetables and root crops: A training manual for Grenada, 2014.
- 52. Schuur CCM. Packaging for fruits, vegetables and root crops: Bridgetown, Barbados, 1988.
- Monier V, Mudgal S, Escalon V, O'Connor C, Gibon T, Anderson G et al. Preparatory study on food waste across EU 27: Technical Report: Paris, 2010.
- 54. Priefer C, Jörissen J, Bräutigam K-R. Technology options for feeding 10 billion people: Options for Cutting Food Waste: Brussels, 2013.
- 55. Simões M, Martins RF, Marmé M. Failure analysis of a filling valve from a Brewery's beer filler. *Engineering Failure Analysis* 2018; **93**: 87–99.
- 56. Mena C, Adenso-Diaz B, Yurt O. The causes of food waste in the supplierretailer interface: Evidences from the UK and Spain. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 2011; 55(6): 648–58.
- 57. HLPE. Food losses and waste in the context of sustainable food systems: A report by The High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security: Rome, 2014.

- 58. Hellström D, Olsson A. Managing packaging design for sustainable development: A compass for strategic directions. John Wiley & Sons: Chichester, UK, 2017.
- 59. Priefer C, Jörissen J, Bräutigam K-R. Food waste prevention in Europe A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 2016; **109**: 155–65.
- 60. Whitehead P, Palmer M, Mena C, Williams A, Walsh C. Resource Maps for Fresh Meat across Retail and Wholesale Supply Chains: Mapping out resource use in the retail and wholesale supply chain of fresh meat: Barbury, 2011.
- Naturvårdsverket. Food waste volumes in Sweden. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency: Stockholm, 2014.
- 62. Williams H, Wikström F, Otterbring T, Löfgren M, Gustafsson A. Reasons for household food waste with special attention to packaging. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2012.
- Duizer LM, Robertson T, Han J. Requirements for packaging from an ageing consumer's perspective. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2009; 22(4): 187–97.
- Rowson J, Yoxall A. Hold, grasp, clutch or grab: consumer grip choices during food container opening. *Applied ergonomics* 2011; 42(5): 627–33.
- 65. Meurer IR, Lange CC, Hungaro HM, Valenzuela Bell MJ, Carvalho dos Anjos V de, Antonio de Sá Silva C *et al.* Quantification of whole ultra high temperature UHT milk waste as a function of packages type and design. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2017; **153**: 483–90.
- 66. Jörissen J, Priefer C, Bräutigam K-R. Food Waste Generation at Household Level: Results of a Survey among Employees of Two European Research Centers in Italy and Germany. *Sustainability* 2015; 7(3): 2695– 715.
- Porpino G, Parente J, Wansink B. Food waste paradox: antecedents of food disposal in low income households. *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 2015; **39**(6): 619–29.
- Lanfranchi M, Calabrò G, Pascale A de, Fazio A, Giannetto C. Household food waste and eating behavior: Empirical survey. *British Food Journal* 2016; **118**(12): 3059–72.
- Chayer J-A, Kicak K. Life Cycle Assessment of coffee consumption: comparison of single-serve coffee and bulk coffee brewing: Final Report: Montreal, Canada, 2015.

- 70. Molina-Besch K, Wikström F, Williams H. The environmental impact of packaging in food supply chains—does life cycle assessment of food provide the full picture? Int J Life Cycle Assess 2018; 21(Part 3): 492.
- 71. denkstatt. Vermeidung von Lebensmittelabfällen durch Verpackung: Kooperationsprojekt mit Partnern aus den Bereichen Rohstoffherstellung, Verpackungsproduktion, Handel, Verpackungsverwertung und Forschung: Vienna, 2014.
- 72. Yokokawa N, Kikuchi-Uehara E, Sugiyama H, Hirao M. Framework for analyzing the effects of packaging on food loss reduction by considering consumer behavior. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2018; **174**: 26–34.
- Bacenetti J, Cavaliere A, Falcone G, Giovenzana V, Banterle A, Guidetti R. Shelf life extension as solution for environmental impact mitigation: A case study for bakery products. *The Science of the total environment* 2018; 627: 997–1007.
- 74. Flysjö A. Potential for improving the carbon footprint of butter and blend products. Journal of dairy science 2011; 94(12): 5833–41.
- 75. Aggarwal A, Schmid M, Patel MK, Langowski H-C. Function-driven Investigation of Non-renewable Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Material Selection in Food Packaging Applications: Case Study of Yoghurt Packaging. *Proceedia CIRP* 2018; 69: 728–33.
- Clune S, Crossin E, Verghese K. Systematic review of greenhouse gas emissions for different fresh food categories. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2017; 140: 766–83.
- 77. Statistik Austria. Versorgungsbilanz für Rohmilch und Milchprodukte 2012 bis 2017. http://www.statistik.at/wcm/idc/idcplg?IdcService=GET_PDF_FILE&R evisionSelectionMethod=LatestReleased&dDocName=022382 [accessed December 13, 2018].
- Statista GmbH. Ketchup Österreich / Statista Marktprognose. https://de.statista.com/outlook/40070100/128/ketchup/oesterreich [accessed October 24, 2019].
- 79. He X, Qiao Y, Liu Y, Dendler L, Yin C, Martin F. Environmental impact assessment of organic and conventional tomato production in urban greenhouses of Beijing city, China. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; 134: 251–8.
- 80. Stanhill G. The comparative productivity of organic agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 1990; **30**(1-2): 1−26.

- 82. Vermeulen PCM, van der Lans CJM. COMBINED HEAT AND POWER (CHP) AS A POSSIBLE METHOD FOR REDUCTION OF THE CO2 FOOTPRINT OF ORGANIC GREENHOUSE HORTICULTURE. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Organic Greenhouse Horticulture ; Bleiswijk, The Netherlands, October 11-14, 2010, Dorais M, Bishop SD, Meijer RJM (eds.). Secretariat of ISHS Int. Soc. for Horticultural Science: Leuven, 2011: 61–68.
- Shennan C, Krupnik TJ, Baird G, Cohen H, Forbush K, Lovell RJ et al. Organic and Conventional Agriculture: A Useful Framing? Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2017; 42(1): 317–46.
- Andersson K, Ohlsson T, Olsson P. Screening life cycle assessment (LCA) of tomato ketchup: a case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 1998; 6(3-4): 277–88.
- 85. Boesveld E. The recycling of Heinz PET packaging in Europe. Bachelor thesis: Enschede, Netherlands, 2011. https://essay.utwente.nl/62202/4/Verslag Els Boesveld.pdf.
- Kumbár V, Ondrušíková S, Nedomová Š. Rheological properties of tomato ketchup. Potr. S. J. F. Sci. 2019; 13(1): 730–4.
- 87. Neugebauer S, Forin S, Finkbeiner M. From Life Cycle Costing to Economic Life Cycle Assessment—Introducing an Economic Impact Pathway. Sustainability 2016; 8(5): 428.

7 Full text: Paper I

Wohner B, Pauer E, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste: An Overview of Drivers and Issues. *Sustainability* 2019; **11**(1).





Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste: An Overview of Drivers and Issues

Bernhard Wohner *D, Erik Pauer, Victoria Heinrich and Manfred Tacker

Section of Packaging and Resource Management, FH Campus Wien (University of Applied Sciences), 1030 Vienna, Austria; erik.pauer@fh-campuswien.ac.at (E.P.); victoria.heinrich@fh-campuswien.ac.at (V.H.); manfred.tacker@fh-campuswien.ac.at (M.T.)

* Correspondence: bernhard.wohner@fh-campuswien.ac.at; Tel.: +43-1-606-6877-3572

Received: 4 December 2018; Accepted: 31 December 2018; Published: 7 January 2019



Abstract: Packaging is often criticized as a symbol of today's throwaway society, as it is mostly made of plastic, which is in itself quite controversial, and is usually used only once. However, as packaging's main function is to protect its content and 30% of all food produced worldwide is lost or wasted along the supply chain, optimized packaging may be one of the solutions to reduce this staggering amount. Developing countries struggle with losses in the supply chain before food reaches the consumer. Here, appropriate packaging may help to protect food and prolong its shelf life so that it safely reaches these households. In developed countries, food tends to be wasted rather at the household's level due to wasteful behavior. There, packaging may be one of the drivers due to inappropriate packaging, its protective function is often neglected and only revolves around the type and amount of material used for production. In this review, drivers, issues, and implications of packaging-related food losses and waste (FLW) are discussed, as well as the implication for the implementation in life cycle assessments (LCA).

Keywords: Packaging; food waste; food loss; sustainability; LCA

1. Introduction

Food production is associated with a significant consumption of resources. Today, approximately 30% of the earth's land and 70% of all extracted freshwater is used for growing crops. Additionally, the production and usage of pesticides and fertilizers can pollute air, water, and soil, and hence, poses a risk for human health and ecosystems as a whole [1]. Even worse is if this resource consumption is in vain when food misses its ultimate goal of human consumption and is lost or wasted instead.

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), around 1.3 billion metric tons or approximately one-third of all food produced for humans is wasted worldwide each year [2]. In total, around 3.3 billion metric tons of CO_2 equivalent, 250 km³ of blue water, and 1.4 billion hectares, which represents approximately one third of the world's agricultural area, is associated with not-consumed and, therefore, wasted food [3]. Further, other estimates point out that the amount of the world's food waste could be as high as 44% of the dry mass of agricultural crops [4]. In addition to environmental impacts, food waste also includes a social or ethical dimension, since 795 million or around 11% of the world's population suffer from hunger [5]. With the world's population projected to reach 10 billion people in 2050 [6], there is already a great deal of pressure on food availability and thus the urgency to reduce food waste.

At the international level, concern about food waste has been addressed by passing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). Goal 12.3 reads as follows: 'By 2030, halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains,

including post-harvest losses' [7]. With the amendment to the European Union (EU) Waste Directive adopted in 2018, which adopts the wording of SDG 12.3, this will indeed be legally binding for EU member states [8].

When referring to food waste, one has to highlight that there is currently no standardized definition of this term [9]. Frequently, a distinction is made between food waste and food loss, as well as between waste, which is edible or inedible, avoidable or (partially) unavoidable. For example, Parfitt et al. (2010) refer to 'food loss' as a 'decrease in edible food mass throughout the part of the supply chain that specifically leads to edible food for human consumption' and that it occurs at the stages before reaching the customer [10]. Here, and in FAO reports [2,3], losses at the end of the food chain are called 'food waste' and rather relate to human behavior, while in the reports of the British 'Waste Resources and Action Programme' (WRAP) [11] and in the *EU Food Use for Socian Innovation by Optimising Waste Prevention Strategies* (FUSIONS) project [12], there is no distinction made between 'food waste' and 'food loss'. Some authors do not declare food that was initially intended for human consumption, but then was fed to animals as waste [13]. However, some losses at the primary production, as well as at the post-harvest and handling stages, can also be seen as wasteful [14]. Furthermore, losses at one stage of the food supply chain could be caused in different stages [15,16]. Against this background, the present study uses the expression food loss and waste (FLW) to avoid confusion due to differing definitions.

A comparison of different regions shows that the stages of FLW hotspots along the supply chain vary strongly [2]. Apparently, in industrialized regions, such as Europe and North America, the amount of wasted food at the consumption stage is significantly higher than in developing regions, such as sub-Saharan Africa, South and Southeast Asia, and Latin America, where food is more likely to be lost or wasted at the stages between primary production and retail [2]. The FAO states that 'losses at almost every stage of the food chain may be reduced by using appropriate packaging' and that the higher losses at pre- and post-harvest stages in developing countries are 'underscoring the need to focus on packaging solutions' [17].

The present paper addresses the question about the direct and indirect effects of packaging in terms of the contribution to FLW across the supply chain. There has been relatively little research on whether more, less, or different types of packaging cause FLW in relation to the available literature on FLW. Furthermore, new approaches to the integration of these effects into life cycle assessments (LCA) are discussed. For this review, literature searches were performed in the online database, ScienceDirect. The keywords for the search were 'food waste' as well as the two keywords, 'food waste' and 'packaging', combined with the inclusion of the search operator, 'AND'. The search for literature about the integration of FLW into the LCA of packaging was performed with the additional keyword, 'LCA'. For the literature selection, peer-reviewed research articles were preferred. However, reports of highly renowned organizations (e.g., FAO, WRAP) were also included. In total, 88 references were identified as suitable for this review and 17 additional references, which were necessary for laying the framework of this review.

2. Functions and Sustainability Aspects of Packaging

The main functions of packaging are to contain, to protect, to facilitate handling, and to communicate information (Figure 1) [18,19]. The protective function includes FLW-related features, such as mechanical protection, barrier (e.g., against oxygen or water vapor), and thermal and sealing properties. The 'facilitate handling' function includes features, such as unitization, apportionment, resealability, and emptying. FLW-related features of the communication function consist mostly of product and packaging information and instructions, as in how to properly store, open, and dispose of the package [18]. Additionally, packaging can contain instructions on how to prolong the shelf life of the packaged food by encouraging consumers to freeze leftovers [20]. Furthermore, the communication function is responsible for the fulfillment of legal obligations, such as the provision of nutritional information, best before/use by dates, and ingredients [21].



Figure 1. Packaging functions, based on [18,19].

However, while optimizing the protective function of a package, it is very important to pay particular attention to the needs and attitudes of consumers. As a survey in Norway shows, consumers with high amounts of food waste tend to be less environmentally aware with regard to packaging solutions (i.e., recyclability, material perceived as eco-friendly) than 'no-wasters', but show a higher willingness to pay more for packaging that helps to keep food fresh than no-wasters. One possible reason may be that high-wasting consumers buy bread more frequently, as well as more bread per shopping trip [22].

In a report by the American Institute for Packaging and the Environment (AMERIPEN), the authors emphasize the protective function and refer to packaging as an 'under-utilized solution that could significantly reduce food waste' [23]. One of the arguments is derived from a negative correlation between the proportion of packaged goods and the observed FLW. However, there is a growing public discourse about the environmental impact of using increased amounts of packaging and its actual contribution to sustainability. Globally, 348 million metric tons of plastic are produced each year [24], which gives rise to about 400 million tons of CO₂, including waste management [25]. In Europe, 39.7% of the plastic is used for packaging. However, only 40.8% of this plastic packaging is also recycled [24]. Every year, 4.8–12.7 metric tons of plastic waste enters the ocean, including plastic packaging [26]. In a business-as-usual scenario, by 2050, there could be more plastic than fish in the sea [25]. Another criticism of plastic packaging concerns impacts on human health. Particularly, some additives, such as bisphenol A or phthalates, are recognized as having endocrine effects [27,28].

Several environmental non-governmental organizations (NGOs) take an opposing position to the packaging industry in their report, 'Unwrapped' [29], which states that since 2005, the amount of food waste in European households has increased along with the amount of plastic packaging used. From this correlation, the authors of the study deduce that 'while some packaging has a role to play in protecting food and extending shelf life, many packaging practices increase wastefulness of both food and packaging'. Although the conclusions of both the AMERIPEN and the Unwrapped report are based on correlations and not on actual or implicit causalities, they hint at the importance of having a deeper look at the interrelation between food waste and packaging.

However, consumers identify a food product's sustainability more with minimal or the complete absence of packaging rather than with packaging that keeps food fresh longer [30,31]. Furthermore, in a report by WRAP [32], half of the surveyed consumers stated that packaging is harmful to the environment and only a quarter agreed that packaging extends the shelf life of a product. Further, consumers identify the key benefits of packaging as 'keeps products safe and hygienic', 'provides important information on labels', and 'protects the food from the factory to the shop and on the way home', while only 13% think that packaging also protects the food at home. When asked whether packaging or food waste would be more environmentally harmful, opinion is divided. This is more or less in agreement with an Italian survey [33], where 60% of the consumers were convinced that packaging has a greater environmental impact than food waste. However, contrary to the conception of consumers, the contribution of FLW to the carbon footprint in a food packaging system is, in most cases, higher than that of the production and waste management of the packaging [34]. In general, the more resource-intensive the food production is, the more worthwhile is a more elaborate packaging [35]. In most cases, packaging accounts for only 1%–12% (typically around 5%) of greenhouse gas emissions in a life cycle assessment of a food packaging system [36]. Following this line of argument, prevention of FLW may arguably be seen as one, if not the most, important strategy for packaging optimization for most types of food [37,38]. Nevertheless, as long as consumers are not aware of the importance of FLW reduction by appropriate packaging, this represents a conflict of objectives and, hence, the main challenge for all stakeholders in the packaging design process.

3. Causes of Food Losses and Food Waste Related to Packaging

A first approach to determine packaging-related food loss or waste is to identify the stages in a food supply chain in which food is in a package. Once a product is packed—whether for transport or product packaging—this packaging can or may lead to a loss of contents. An estimate based on a survey of Swedish households' waste behavior showed that packaging-related FLW (PFLW) contributes to 20% to 25% of a household's total amount of food waste [39], but otherwise such data are scarcely available [40].

If FLW occurs, it does not necessarily mean that the food was originally inedible. Edible food may also be discarded only because the expiration date is exceeded. Hence, packaging-related FLW can refer to edible or inedible food. What is meant by a so-called expiration date are actually two dates, the 'best before' and the 'use by' date. The 'best before' date is a date of the minimum shelf life and signals the date until the food retains its quality, such as flavor and texture. Retailers are permitted to sell food after the best before date has passed. For food that is 'highly perishable' and, after a short period, is likely to 'constitute an immediate danger to human health', the best before date is to be replaced by a 'use by' date [21]. After the 'use by' date, food is deemed to be unsafe, in contrast to the exceedance of the 'best before'. Interestingly, 64% of consumers in the EU misinterpret the meaning of the best before date [41]. While consumers often confuse best before and use by dates, they state that they need more information about the shelf life of food once a package has been opened [42].

Looking at the food supply chain, there are many different stages and reasons why food may be wasted. As packaging is generally first introduced right after harvest, the identified stages of the food supply chain where PFLW can occur start with the post-harvest stage and end with the serving of food (see Table 1). Mechanical damage to food and/or its packaging and therefore the discarding of the product can occur during any stage of transportation while in transport packaging [17].

| Stage | | Type of Packaging-Related Food Losses and Waste | References |
|--|--------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|
| | Primary production | - | - |
| Food in the supply chain Distribut | Post-harvest handling and storage | Damage of products due to contaminants, sharp edges or splinters of field containers, over-packing of field crates | [43,44] |
| | Processing and packaging | Problems in the filling process Packaging failures while sealing Packaging changes due to marketing reasons | [45–48] [49] [16] |
| | Distribution and retail | Packaging does not provide enough mechanical protection (inappropriate packaging material, poor stackability, no packaging at all) Damage to barcodes on packaging | [45,50,51] |
| Food i | n households | Difficult to open packaging Difficult to empty packaging Inappropriate packaging size | [52,53] [39,54] [55–60] |

Table 1. Packaging-related food loss and waste along the food supply chain.

Source: Own elaboration, references for the different food supply stages: [10,61,62].

3.1. PFLW in the Supply Chain

As there is no packaging involved in the primary production of food, packaging-related FLW may start during the post-harvest handling and storage stage of food. If produce is harvested and packed in field containers, these should be properly cleaned beforehand to not introduce any contaminants into the food [43], as well as be free of any sharp edges or splinters that could damage the food [44].

At the processing stage, the main causes of FLW are overproduction, misshaped food, and packaging damage [63,64]. Technical malfunctions are mainly comprised of filling problems. During a manual filling process, food can be lost through bad handling due to poor work conditions [45]. In an automatic filling process, losses can occur when packaging and filling machines are not well matched or if there is a malfunction of the machinery, e.g., resulting in bottle overfilling [46]. As there are strict requirements for food companies on the filling level, companies tend to overfill rather than underfill their containers [48]. Furthermore, losses can occur due to the batch process itself and corrections that are needed before the filling machine can run correctly [47]. After filling, packaging may leak due to a failure in the closure (e.g., the heat seal) [49]. Another issue at the packaging stage, for which the retail sector is actually a key driver, is ongoing changes to the packaging of food products for marketing reasons [16]. As packaging is often bought in large amounts, this may lead to packaging waste, but could also contribute to FLW if already packed food is discarded.

While in distribution, food losses may occur due to damage of the packaging, the exceedance of expiration dates, or poor stock management [65]. Products may be packed poorly, e.g., without sufficient protection, or loaded without any packaging at all. Roads in bad condition increase the risk of damaging the food during transport [45]. An important packaging function to consider concerning PFLW while storing and distributing food is stackability. If crates cannot be well stacked, damages can lead to a collapse of the lower levels due to the pressure from high loads. This led to a loss of around 30% in the case of an investigated supply chain of citrus fruits [50]. Inappropriate stacking of trays was also one of the main causes of FLW reported in the case of strawberries in the UK [66]. In a comparative assessment of two different product and transport packages (corrugated cardboard and plastic crates) for eggs, an average breakage rate of 1.1% was observed while the results of the four different packaging scenarios varied between 0.56% and 2.38%. These damages were attributed to poorly stacked crates, as well as the inadequate quality of the corrugated board used and mismatched primary, secondary, and tertiary packaging [51].

After distribution, food is stored in the retail sector, a sector which is responsible for around 5% of FLW in Europe [67]. As reported by the retail chains, expired shelf life is the main reason for the generation of FLW [37,68]. This may be due to delays at the pre-distribution stages, while premature

spoilage may occur due to improper packaging and storage temperatures or rough handling [37]. Packaging damage is rather rare and may just mean that the imprinted barcodes are unreadable [45].

Since it is time-consuming to remove food from a package, some supermarkets may forgo this procedure [49,69]. If a package contains only partly spoiled food, this may lead to the disposal of otherwise saleable goods [70]. Food and packaging are then disposed of as a whole as residual waste instead of as separated organic waste for food, and plastic or municipal waste for the packaging. The separation does not necessarily occur in the downstream waste treatment either and even if it does, food-contaminated packaging reduces the possibility of a potential mechanical recycling of the packaging, further contributing to a higher environmental impact [71].

3.2. Packaging-Related FLW at the Consumer

3.2.1. Effects of Packaging Design

Besides the primary function of protecting its content, a package has also to be able to facilitate handling. Therefore, the packaging manufacturer has to enable the easiness of unpacking, openability, and emptying of a package with the design [18]. Poor openability can lead to FLW as consumers may spill food or beverages if the opening of a package proves difficult. This is particularly true for elderly people or for those with disabilities [52,53].

When talking about the ability to empty the packaging entirely a distinction can be made between the terms, 'easy-to-empty' and 'easy-to-access', according to Plastics Recyclers Europe. In their online recyclability assessment tool for plastic packaging, *RecyClass* [72], the easy-to-empty index is intended for 'packaging where the content is not accessible for emptying (i.e., bottles, tubes)' and the easy-to-access index for packaging 'where the content is accessible for emptying (i.e., pots)'. 'Easy to empty' means that a package can be emptied without force (i.e., flipping and holding the open package vertically for a period of time) and 'easy to access' simulates a regular use by a consumer (i.e., using a spoon to empty a yogurt cup). Plastics recyclers are concerned about food residues, as these may interfere with the recycling process of the packaging [73].

Food residues in packaging were addressed in an exploratory study with Swedish households [39]. In this study, yogurt and sour milk in liquid packaging board contributed 75%, liquid margarine, jam, porridge, mayonnaise, and soups in plastic, glass, fiber-based, or metal packaging 25% to the 'difficult-to-empty' waste. The viscosity of the food is likely to play an important role, as products with high viscosity were more inclined to stick to the inside of the packaging. In total, waste due to the poor emptiability of packaging led to approximately 4% of the total amount of FLW generated by the surveyed households. The process of emptying a package is not only influenced by the packaging design, but also the person responsible for opening it, particularly in the case of the 'easy to access' function. As the authors state, the waste associated with emptying a yogurt package was very different between the two surveyed groups, one with education about environmental issues and one without [39]. This was further substantiated with a test of the emptying behavior of 1000 mL milk packages, where residues of 4.7–14.7 mL were found. The authors point out that the simulation of a final stirring process by the consumer significantly influenced the resulting waste. Further important factors that influenced the emptying behavior could be attributed to the presence of a fold at the bottom of the package and corrugations in its internal wall, as well as the shape of the package itself [54].

3.2.2. Effects of Packaging Size

At the household level, spoiled food may be seen as a symptom of many different problems and not as a reason for waste per se. Hence, one has to look at the root causes of what leads to a household not eating purchased food in time [68]. Of course, this may be due to unexpected events, however, there is evidence to suggest that inadequate packaging sizes are a key factor in the generation of FLW. Packaging size is a growing concern for consumers as well as retailers, but for the latter, more in the context of packaging waste instead of FLW [16].

The potential amount of FLW may be dependent on the packaging function 'apportionment', i.e., when a product is divided from the large-scale production units into the desired amount and size. If a product is offered in two packs of 75 g that can be separately opened instead of one 150 g pack, there is a greater amount of packaging used per packed food. This may result in a higher environmental impact of packaging, as consumers have to buy multiple packages in a single visit [55], but also may result in a higher chance of consuming food in time [18]. An optimized apportionment not only helps households in reducing FLW, but also the retail sector by enabling a better management of stock [50]. Only 17% of surveyed consumers in Italy state that portions 'generally reflect their needs' [60]. At the same time, consumers who buy larger packages also waste more food. As the household size has a strong influence on the total amount of generated food waste, it is clear that packaging size has too. Single households generate the most food waste per capita and by comparison, people in four-person households waste less than half than a person in a single household [56].

When asked about which activities or interventions would help to reduce food waste in their homes, most households state meal planning, the change of preferences and food habits, and of the need for different packaging options at retail [58]. Interestingly, households that state that purchasing too large packages is 'at least sometimes a reason for wasting food' have greater amounts of food waste than others. This is even more significant in households that say it is the reason 'most of the time' or 'always'. Households that believe they may be able to reduce food waste by buying smaller packages waste more food than others [59]. All in all, a third of the households claim that they would generate less food waste if the packaging size of food products would be more suited to their needs [60].

Furthermore, consumers in Germany and Italy point out that the packaging sizes of many types of fresh produce, as well as dairy products, baking ingredients, meat products, and pasta, are too big, while complaining about the higher price of smaller packages in comparison to larger ones [56]. Buying large packages contributes significantly to excessive purchasing, which is true in particular for low-income households, where this leads to over-preparing and thus to the generation of FLW [57]. The simple solution would be to just shrink packages then, but understanding the impact of packaging size on FLW is anything but trivial [74].

That is to say, it is hard to estimate how much consumers waste due to packaging size or apportionment [75], as long as there is a lack of empirical studies.

3.2.3. Effects of Packaging Technology

Currently, both packaging and future developments in material technology have a huge potential to minimize FLW [15,17] and to contribute to food safety and security [45]. In the context of technology, packaging potentially prolongs shelf life. As material technology is always making advances, more and more polymer-based multilayer packaging is used, which extends the shelf life of food while reducing packaging weight [76]. Due to good barrier properties, multilayer materials are suitable for modified atmosphere packaging (MAP). Such packages contain a modified gas composition, mainly nitrogen, carbon dioxide, or oxygen, which aims to reduce microbial growth and chemical deterioration of the packaged food and therefore increases its shelf life [77]. The downside of multilayer packaging is that it is usually landfilled or incinerated due to poor recyclability [78].

Another promising technology is active and intelligent packaging, which is set to become more prevalent in the future. Active packaging contains 'deliberately incorporated components intended to release or absorb substances into or from the packaged food or from the environment surrounding the food' [79] and has, therefore, the purpose to extend the shelf life of food [80,81]. Intelligent packaging is comprised of 'materials and articles that monitor the condition of packaged food or the environment surrounding the food' [79] and may be able to reduce FLW by abandoning the system of a fixed best before data by providing dynamic information about the actual condition of the food [82].

4. Integration of FLW in LCA of Packaging

As elaborated upon, it is important to emphasize the aspect of packaging-related FLW when talking about the environmental performance of packaging. A well-known and commonly used method to investigate environmental impacts of food across the supply chain is LCA [83]. However, in relation to available food LCAs, only a few studies integrate packaging-related FLW [84]. The studies investigated for this review include the calculation of the environmental impacts of (i) food loss probabilities dependent on the shelf life, (ii) break-even rates of FLW compared to packaging, (iii) scenarios of FLW amounts based on expert opinion, and (iv) a (e.g., protection) function-based approach in ex-ante LCA.

Most LCA studies of food use 1 kg produced or packaged food as a functional unit, a quantified performance in a system for use as a reference unit [85]. In contrast, a functional unit of 1 kg consumed food allows an accounting for the impact of packaging-related FLW [86–90]. This enables a comparison between packaging that wastes more and packaging that wastes less food. As a result, in some cases, the total carbon footprint of the respective food-packaging system may be lower with resource-intensive compared to resource-efficient packaging (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Carbon footprint of two packaging options for cheese, per 150 g cheese, adapted from [35].

Unfortunately, in most cases, there is no actual FLW data available for a specific food-packaging system [90]. To that end, methods have to be developed for estimating packaging-related FLW. A novel approach is the calculation of food loss probabilities of packages due to different best before dates [91,92]. For instance, by extending the shelf life of specific products, such as yogurt and cream, a considerable reduction of FLW can be reached [93]. There is, however, no direct relationship between a longer shelf life and FLW generation [94], meaning that an extended shelf life does not automatically translate to less FLW for every food product. The best before date can have a significant impact on the purchase decision [95] and depends not only on the product category, but also on the size of the retailer. Medium and larger supermarkets can benefit from faster turnovers, while for smaller supermarkets, it is better to place fewer orders and have products with a longer shelf life [96]. The issue of quantifying FLW reduction in relation to its shelf life is therefore challenging. If a packaging is already on the

market, research suggests that the integration of the emptying behavior of a package in its LCA is feasible as well as advisable [54].

The calculation of break-even rates could be one way to deal with uncertainties about packaging-related FLW amounts. This means that packaging designers or LCA analysts could calculate when an increase in packaging would pay off in return for less FLW [97,98]. In addition, an LCA analyst may calculate scenarios with different packaging-related FLW rates based on expert opinion [99]. Another example is a function-based approach, to be used when altering or redesigning food packaging. An ex-ante LCA of food packaging may compare two different packaging design decisions by looking at parameters, such as stackability and oxygen or water vapor transmission rates, and calculate the LCA by adjusting the required amounts accordingly [100].

5. Discussion

Thirty percent of all food produced becomes waste. The use of appropriate packaging may be one way to reduce this percentage. Particularly in developing countries, a lack of packaging is stated as one of the main drivers of food losses or waste by the FAO [17].

In industrialized countries, the contribution of packaging to FLW is less clear-cut. Packaging plays an essential part in food protection and thus can reduce FLW. Examples include non-adequate packaging (too large packaging sizes, inappropriate material, contaminated packaging, technical failures in the packaging process) [43–45,48,50,51,55–60] or packaging that is too difficult to open [52,53] or to empty [39,54] so that its contents spill or are left in the package. Packaging saves food by mechanical protection or prolong its shelf life by a material with good barrier properties [76], through the use of modified atmosphere packaging [77] and, in the future, by intelligent or active packaging through the dynamic display of its microbiological status [82]. As increasingly more food is consumed outside the home [101], the food service sector contributes a significant share to the amount of FLW [12]. Here, an easy way to reduce FLW may be the use of a so-called 'doggy-bag', which can be used to take leftovers to be eaten at a later date [45].

Packaging designers should focus on the influence of the packaging design choices on FLW prevention. In order to reduce packaging-related FLW, packaging has to be designed with the interrelations between primary, secondary, and tertiary packaging in mind [51]. Although a systematic analysis and quantification of packaging design aspects has not yet been performed, optimal product protection and optimization of the shelf life can be considered essential. In addition, packaging may offer design features, such as compartments, that can be opened individually or packaging, which is easily reclosable. A design for easy portioning and small package sizes are further important assets [20,102]. Furthermore, packaging can contain instructions about how best to store the food and to encourage people to freeze leftovers [20], as well as how to serve food to avoid residues in the package [54].

Although FLW and packaging are getting attention in the scientific literature, packaging-related FLW (PFLW) is largely unexplored. As this review shows, there is no reliable data on quantities of PFLW. Furthermore, the quantification of PFLW proves to be difficult, whether with household surveys or waste analysis. Household surveys can lead to wrong quantifications of FLW because answers are often biased by social desirability, a lack of motivation for documenting waste, or simply due to forgetfulness [39]. Waste composition analyses have limitations on information about specific waste quantities by food category and do not include alternative disposal routes of households, such as a separate bio-waste collection, home composting, or the use as pet food [103], but above all, there is no generation of information about the causes of the FLW. These causes are rather complex and are often the result of multiple interacting activities [104] so it is challenging to identify FLW as (at least partially) packaging-related, even when interviewing consumers directly about whether their FLW is connected in any way with packaging [39]. Future research is needed to develop new methods for determining PFLW.

This review has identified further research needs in the implementation of PFLW into the LCA of packaging. Resource-intensive packaging can have an overall lower carbon footprint compared to FLW if its PFLW is lower than a resource-efficient packaging (Figure 2). As a result, the assessment of the contribution of packaging to a sustainable food system can be turned upside down. Therefore, the quantification and implementation of PFLW into the LCA of packaging is of great importance. However, there is a lack of LCA studies on packaging considering PFLW [84]. However, in the reviewed research articles, there is agreement on the importance of PFLW and a number of authors already support the call for further research on this topic [39,40,84,87,92,97].

6. Conclusions

Future packaging developments should focus on further advancements in packaging technology, but should not neglect the importance of indirect effects of packaging. Stakeholders in the packaging design should understand the demands of the packaging across the whole supply chain to optimize their product in reducing food losses and waste. This should be done by undertaking studies on consumer behavior as well as the provision of education and the collaboration between producers, manufacturers, and retailers [105]. More research is required to quantify packaging-related food loss and waste so that life cycle assessments can incorporate the direct as well as the indirect environmental effects of packaging to help facilitate the environmentally preferable choice.

Author Contributions: The manuscript of this paper was mainly prepared by B.W., while E.P., V.H. and M.T. were consulted for reviewing, providing comments and editing the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: Mary Grace Wallis was consulted for language-related feedback.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. FAO. FAO Statistical Yearbook 2013—World Food and Agriculture; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2012.
- Gustavsson, J.; Cederberg, C.; Sonesson, U. Global Food Losses and Food Waste: Extent, Causes and Prevention; Study Conducted for the International Congress Save Food! at Interpack 2011, [16–17 May], Düsseldorf, Germany; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2011.
- 3. FAO. Food Wastage Footprint: Impacts on Natural Resources Summary Report; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2013.
- 4. Alexander, P.; Brown, C.; Arneth, A.; Finnigan, J.; Moran, D.; Rounsevell, M.D.A. Losses, inefficiencies and waste in the global food system. *Agric. Syst.* **2017**, *153*, 190–200. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. FAO; IFAD; WFP. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2015: Meeting the 2015 International Hunger Targets: Taking Stock of Uneven Progress; FAO: Rome, Italy, 2015.
- UN, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World Population Prospects. The 2017 Revision: Key Findings and Advance Tables; Working Paper No. EDA/P/WP/248; United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2017.
- 7. UN. General Assembly. Work of the Statistical Commission Pertaining to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Resolution Adopted by the General Assembly on 6 July 2017: A/RES/71/313; United Nations: New York, NY, USA, 2017.
- Directive (EU) 2018/851 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 2008/98/EC on Waste: 2008/98/EC; 2018. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32018L0851&rid=5 (accessed on 23 December 2018).
- Chaboud, G.; Daviron, B. Food losses and waste: Navigating the inconsistencies. *Glob. Food Secur.* 2017, 12, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 10. Parfitt, J.; Barthel, M.; Macnaughton, S. Food waste within food supply chains: Quantification and potential for change to 2050. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* **2010**, *365*, 3065–3081. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 11. Quested, T.; Johnson, H. Household Food and Drink Waste in the UK: Final Report; WRAP: Barbury, UK, 2009.

- Östergren, K.; Gustavsson, J.; Bos-Brouwers, H.; Timmermans, T.; Hansen, O.-J.; Moller, H.; Anderson, G.; O'Connor, C.; Soethoudt, H.; Quested, T.; et al. *FUSIONS Definitional Framework for Food Waste: Full Report*; SIK—The Swedish Institute for Food and Biotechnology: Boras, Sweden, 2014.
- 13. Redlingshöfer, B.; Coudurier, B.; Georget, M. Quantifying food loss during primary production and processing in France. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2017**, *164*, 703–714. [CrossRef]
- Xue, L.; Liu, G.; Parfitt, J.; Liu, X.; van Herpen, E.; Stenmarck, Å.; O'Connor, C.; Östergren, K.; Cheng, S. Missing Food, Missing Data? A Critical Review of Global Food Losses and Food Waste Data. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2017, *51*, 6618–6633. [CrossRef]
- 15. Kowalska, A. The issue of food losses and waste and its determinants. Logforum 2017, 13, 7–18. [CrossRef]
- 16. Mena, C.; Adenso-Diaz, B.; Yurt, O. The causes of food waste in the supplier–retailer interface: Evidences from the UK and Spain. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2011**, *55*, 648–658. [CrossRef]
- 17. Manalili, N.M.; Dorado, M.A.; van Otterdijk, R. *Appropriate Food Packaging Solutions for Developing Countries*; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2014.
- Lindh, H.; Williams, H.; Olsson, A.; Wikström, F. Elucidating the Indirect Contributions of Packaging to Sustainable Development: A Terminology of Packaging Functions and Features. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2016, 29, 225–246. [CrossRef]
- 19. Singh, P.; Wani, A.A.; Langowski, H.-C. (Eds.) *Food Packaging Materials: Testing & Quality Assurance;* CRC Press Tayöpr & Francis Group: Boca Raton, FL, USA; London, UK; New York, NY, USA, 2017.
- Wansink, B. Household Food Waste Solutions for Behavioral Economists and Marketers. J. Food Prod. Mark. 2018, 24, 500–521. [CrossRef]
- 21. Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2011 on the Provision of Food Information to Consumers, Amending Regulations (EC) No 1924/2006 and (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and Repealing Commission Directive 87/250/EEC, Council Directive 90/496/EEC, Commission Directive 1999/10/EC, Directive 2000/13/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, Commission Directives 2002/67/EC and 2008/5/EC and Commission Regulation (EC) No 608/2004: 1169/2011. 2011. Available online: https://www.fsai.ie/uploadedFiles/Reg1169_2011.pdf (accessed on 23 December 2018).
- 22. Østergaard, S.; Hanssen, O.J. Wasting of Fresh-Packed Bread by Consumers—Influence of Shopping Behavior, Storing, Handling, and Consumer Preferences. *Sustainability* **2018**, *10*, 2251. [CrossRef]
- 23. AMERIPEN. *Quantifying the Value of Packaging as a Strategy to Prevent Food Waste in America: January 2018;* American Institute for Packaging and the Environment: St. Paul, MN, USA, 2018.
- 24. PlasticsEurope. *Plastics—The Facts 2018: An Analysis of European Plastics Production, Demand and Waste Data;* PlasticsEurope: Brussels, Belgium, 2018.
- 25. World Economic Forum, Ellen MacArthur Foundation and McKinsey & Company. *The New Plastics Economy: Rethinking the Future of Plastics*; Ellen MacArthur Foundation: Cowes, UK, 2016.
- 26. Jambeck, J.R.; Geyer, R.; Wilcox, C.; Siegler, T.R.; Perryman, M.; Andrady, A.; Narayan, R.; Law, K.L. Marine pollution. Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science* **2015**, *347*, 768–771. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Foster, P.M.D. Disruption of reproductive development in male rat offspring following in utero exposure to phthalate esters. *Int. J. Androl.* 2006, *29*, 140–147. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 28. Sonnenschein, C.; Soto, A.M. An updated review of environmental estrogen and androgen mimics and antagonists. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **1998**, *65*, 143–150. [CrossRef]
- 29. Schweitzer, J.-P.; Gionfra, S.; Pantzar, M.; Mottershead, D.; Watkins, E.; Petsinaris, F.; ten Brink, P.; Ptak, E.; Lacey, C.; Janssens, C. *Unwrapped: How Throwaway Plastic Is Failing to Solve Europe's Food Waste Problem (and What We Need to Do Instead)*; Institute for Euroean Environmental Policy AISBL: Brussels, Belgium, 2018.
- 30. Sealed Air Corporation. *Taking Stock: Retail Shrink Solutions: White Paper;* Sealed Air Corporation: Charlotte, NC, USA, 2015.
- 31. Bovensiepen, G.; Fink, H.; Schnück, P.; Rumpff, S.; Raimund, S. *Verpackungen im Fokus: Die Rolle von Circular Economy auf dem Weg zu mehr Nachhaltigkeit*; PriceWaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft: Frankfurt am Main, Germany, 2018.
- 32. Plumb, A.; Downing, P.; Parry, A. Consumer Attitudes to Food Waste and Food Packaging: A Qualitative and Quantitative Investigation into Consumer Attitudes to, and Behaviour Around, Food Waste and Food Packaging, Which Will Inform Action to Help Further Reduce Household Food Waste; WRAP: Barbury, UK, 2013.

- 33. Principato, L.; Secondi, L.; Pratesi, C.A. Reducing food waste: An investigation on the behaviour of Italian youths. *Br. Food J.* **2015**, *117*, 731–748. [CrossRef]
- Silvenius, F.; Katajajuuri, J.-M.; Grönman, K.; Soukka, R.; Koivupuro, H.-K.; Virtanen, Y. Role of Packaging in LCA of Food Products. In *Towards Life Cycle Sustainability Management*; Finkbeiner, M., Ed.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2011; pp. 359–370.
- 35. Denkstatt. Vermeidung von Lebensmittelabfällen durch Verpackung: Kooperationsprojekt mit Partnern aus den Bereichen Rohstoffherstellung, Verpackungsproduktion, Handel, Verpackungsverwertung und Forschung; Denkstatt: Vienna, Austria, 2014.
- Silvenius, F.; Grönman, K.; Katajajuuri, J.-M.; Soukka, R.; Koivupuro, H.-K.; Virtanen, Y. The Role of Household Food Waste in Comparing Environmental Impacts of Packaging Alternatives. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2014, 27, 277–292. [CrossRef]
- Hanssen, O.J.; Møller, H.; Svanes, E.; Schakenda, V. Life Cycle Assessment as a Tool in Food Waste Reduction and Packaging Optimization: Packaging Innovation and Optimization in a Life Cycle Perspective. In *Life Cycle Assessment Handbook: A Guide for Environmentally Sustainable Products*, 1st ed.; Curran, M.A., Ed.; Scrivener Publishing: Beverly, MA, USA, 2012; pp. 345–367.
- 38. Williams, H.; Wikström, F. Environmental impact of packaging and food losses in a life cycle perspective: A comparative analysis of five food items. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2011**, *19*, 43–48. [CrossRef]
- 39. Williams, H.; Wikström, F.; Otterbring, T.; Löfgren, M.; Gustafsson, A. Reasons for household food waste with special attention to packaging. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2012**, *24*, 141–148. [CrossRef]
- Wikström, F.; Verghese, K.; Auras, R.; Olsson, A.; Williams, H.; Wever, R.; Grönman, K.; Kvalvåg Pettersen, M.; Møller, H.; Soukka, R. Packaging Strategies That Save Food: A Research Agenda for 2030. *J. Ind. Ecol.* 2018, 14, 1346. [CrossRef]
- EU Custom Research and Coordination Centre (GfK EU3C). Consumer Market Study on the Functioning of the Meat Market for Consumers in the European Union: Final Report; SANCO/2009/B1/010; GfK EU3C: Brussels, Belgium, 2012.
- Rohm, H.; Oostindjer, M.; Aschemann-Witzel, J.; Symmank, C.; L Almli, V.; de Hooge, I.E.; Normann, A.; Karantininis, K. Consumers in a Sustainable Food Supply Chain (COSUS): Understanding Consumer Behavior to Encourage Food Waste Reduction. *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)* 2017, 6, 104. [CrossRef]
- 43. Schuur, C.C.M. *Packaging for Fruits, Vegetables and Root Crops;* Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Bridgetown, Barbados, 1988.
- 44. Paltrinieri, G. *Handling of Fresh Fruits, Vegetables and Root Crops: A Training Manual for Grenada;* Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2014.
- 45. HLPE. Food Losses and Waste in the Context of Sustainable Food Systems: A Report by The High Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition of the Committee on World Food Security; HLPE: Rome, Italy, 2014.
- Simões, M.; Martins, R.F.; Marmé, M. Failure analysis of a filling valve from a Brewery's beer filler. Eng. Fail. Anal. 2018, 93, 87–99. [CrossRef]
- 47. Williams, H.; Wikström, F.; Lundström, A.; Wickholm, K.; Lorentzon, A. Investigation of consumer attitudes, practices and food waste for three food items, to use as input in new packaging designs that aim to reduce food waste. Proceedings of 28th IAPRI World Symposium on Packaging, Unlocking the Full Potential of Packaging across the Value-Chain, Lausanne, Switzerland, 12 May 2017.
- Ridgway, J.S.; Henthorn, K.S.; Hull, J.B. Controlling of overfilling in food processing. J. Mater. Process. Technol. 1999, 92-93, 360–367. [CrossRef]
- 49. Whitehead, P.; Palmer, M.; Mena, C.; Williams, A.; Walsh, C. *Resource Maps for Fresh Meat across Retail and Wholesale Supply Chains: Mapping out Resource Use in the Retail and Wholesale Supply Chain of Fresh Meat*; WRAP: Barbury, UK, 2011.
- 50. Hellström, D.; Olsson, A. Managing Packaging Design for Sustainable Development: A Compass for Strategic Directions; John Wiley & Sons: Chichester, UK, 2017.
- Lipski, J.; Sadlowsky, B. Ei-Care, Optimierung der klassischen Eierverpackung. 2014. Available online: https://www.easyfairs.com/fileadmin/groups/9/VERPACKUNG_LuS_Nord/2014_Dokumente_und_ Downloads/Vortraege/BFSV_e.G.__Praesentation_Eier-Care_fuer_Easy_Fair_23_01_13.pdf (accessed on 3 September 2018).
- 52. Duizer, L.M.; Robertson, T.; Han, J. Requirements for packaging from an ageing consumer's perspective. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* **2009**, 22, 187–197. [CrossRef]

- 53. Rowson, J.; Yoxall, A. Hold, grasp, clutch or grab: Consumer grip choices during food container opening. *Appl. Ergon.* **2011**, *42*, 627–633. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Meurer, I.R.; Lange, C.C.; Hungaro, H.M.; Bell, M.J.V.; dos Anjos, V.D.C.; de Sá Silva, C.A.; de Oliveira Pinto, M.A. Quantification of whole ultra high temperature UHT milk waste as a function of packages type and design. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2017**, *153*, 483–490. [CrossRef]
- 55. Gustavo, J.U.; Pereira, G.M.; Bond, A.J.; Viegas, C.V.; Borchardt, M. Drivers, opportunities and barriers for a retailer in the pursuit of more sustainable packaging redesign. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2018**, *187*, 18–28. [CrossRef]
- 56. Jörissen, J.; Priefer, C.; Bräutigam, K.-R. Food Waste Generation at Household Level: Results of a Survey among Employees of Two European Research Centers in Italy and Germany. *Sustainability* **2015**, *7*, 2695–2715. [CrossRef]
- 57. Porpino, G.; Parente, J.; Wansink, B. Food waste paradox: Antecedents of food disposal in low income households. *Int. J. Consum. Stud.* **2015**, *39*, 619–629. [CrossRef]
- 58. Parizeau, K.; von Massow, M.; Martin, R. Household-level dynamics of food waste production and related beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours in Guelph, Ontario. *Waste Manag.* **2015**, *35*, 207–217. [CrossRef]
- 59. Koivupuro, H.-K.; Hartikainen, H.; Silvennoinen, K.; Katajajuuri, J.-M.; Heikintalo, N.; Reinikainen, A.; Jalkanen, L. Influence of socio-demographical, behavioural and attitudinal factors on the amount of avoidable food waste generated in Finnish households. *Int. J. Consum. Stud.* **2012**, *36*, 183–191. [CrossRef]
- 60. Lanfranchi, M.; Calabrò, G.; de Pascale, A.; Fazio, A.; Giannetto, C. Household food waste and eating behavior: Empirical survey. *Br. Food J.* **2016**, *118*, 3059–3072. [CrossRef]
- 61. Priefer, C.; Jörissen, J.; Bräutigam, K.-R. Food Waste Generation in Europe: Reasons, Scale, Impacts and Prevention Strategies. *Technikfolgenabschätzung—Theorie Praxis* **2014**, *23*, 21–31.
- 62. Manzocco, L.; Alongi, M.; Sillani, S.; Nicoli, M.C. Technological and Consumer Strategies to Tackle Food Wasting. *Food Eng. Rev.* **2016**, *8*, 457–467. [CrossRef]
- 63. Monier, V.; Mudgal, S.; Escalon, V.; O'Connor, C.; Gibon, T.; Anderson, G.; Montoux, H. *Preparatory Study on Food Waste Across EU 27: Technical Report*; European Communities: Paris, France, 2010.
- 64. Priefer, C.; Jörissen, J.; Bräutigam, K.-R. *Technology Options for Feeding 10 Billion People: Options for Cutting Food Waste*; Science and Technology Options Assessment: Brussels, Belgium, 2013.
- 65. Priefer, C.; Jörissen, J.; Bräutigam, K.-R. Food waste prevention in Europe–A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2016**, *109*, 155–165. [CrossRef]
- 66. Terry, L.; Mena, C.; Williams, A.; Jenney, N.; Whitehead, P. Fruit and Vegetable Resource Maps. Final Report; Mapping Fruit and Vegetable Waste through the Retail and Wholesale Supply Chain; WRAP: Barbury, UK, 2011.
- 67. Stenmarck, Å.; Jensen, C.; Quested, T.; Moates, G. *Estimates of European Food Waste Levels*; IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute: Stockholm, Sweden, 2016.
- 68. Kliaugaite, D.; Kruopiene, J. Food waste generation and prevention measures in retail sector: A comparative study. *EREM* **2018**, 73. [CrossRef]
- 69. Naturvårdsverket. *Food Waste Volumes in Sweden;* Swedish Environmental Protection Agency: Stockholm, Sweden, 2014.
- 70. Göbel, C.; Teitscheid, P.; Ritter, G.; Blumenthal, A.; Friedrich, S.; Frick, T.; Grotstollen, L.; Möllenbeck, C.; Rottstegge, L.; Pfeiffer, C. Verringerung von Lebensmittelabfällen—Identifikation von Ursachen und Handlungsoptionen in Nordrhein-Westfalen: Kurzfassung Studie für den Runden Tisch "Neue Wertschätzung von Lebensmitteln" des Ministeriums für Klimaschutz, Umwelt, Landwirtchaft, Natur- und Verbraucherschutz des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen; Fachhochschule Münster, Institut für Nachhaltige Ernährung und Ernährungswirtschaft—iSuN: Münster, Germany, 2012.
- Brancoli, P.; Rousta, K.; Bolton, K. Life cycle assessment of supermarket food waste. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* 2017, 118, 39–46. [CrossRef]
- 72. Plastics Recyclers Europe. RecyClass—The Recyclability Tool for Plastic Package; 2018. Available online: http://www.recyclass.eu/en/home (accessed on 4 September 2018).
- 73. Maris, J.; Bourdon, S.; Brossard, J.-M.; Cauret, L.; Fontaine, L.; Montembault, V. Mechanical recycling: Compatibilization of mixed thermoplastic wastes. *Polym. Degrad. Stab.* **2018**, *147*, 245–266. [CrossRef]
- 74. Wilson, N.L.W.; Rickard, B.J.; Saputo, R.; Ho, S.-T. Food waste: The role of date labels, package size, and product category. *Food Qual. Preference* **2017**, *55*, 35–44. [CrossRef]

- 75. Chayer, J.-A.; Kicak, K. Life Cycle Assessment of Coffee Consumption: Comparison of Single-Serve Coffee and Bulk Coffee Brewing: Final Report; Quantis Canada: Montreal, QC, Canada, 2015.
- Oki, Y.; Sasaki, H. Social and environmental impacts of packaging (LCA and assessment of packaging functions). *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2000, 13, 45–53. [CrossRef]
- 77. Kirtil, E.; Kilercioglu, M.; Oztop, M.H. Modified Atmosphere Packaging of Foods. In *Reference Module in Food Science*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2016.
- 78. Kaiser, K.; Schmid, M.; Schlummer, M. Recycling of Polymer-Based Multilayer Packaging: A Review. *Recycling* **2018**, *3*, 1. [CrossRef]
- Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 October 2004 on Materials and Articles Intended to Come into Contact with Food and Repealing Directives 80/590/EEC and 89/109/EEC: 1935/2004. 2004. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=OJ:L:2004:338:0004:0017:en:PDF (accessed on 23 December 2018).
- Dainelli, D.; Gontard, N.; Spyropoulos, D.; Zondervan-van den Beuken, E.; Tobback, P. Active and intelligent food packaging: Legal aspects and safety concerns. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* 2008, 19, S103–S112. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, H.; Hortal, M.; Dobon, A.; Bermudez, J.M.; Lara-Lledo, M. The Effect of Active Packaging on Minimizing Food Losses: Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Essential Oil Component-enabled Packaging for Fresh Beef. *Packag. Technol. Sci.* 2015, 28, 761–774. [CrossRef]
- Poyatos-Racionero, E.; Ros-Lis, J.V.; Vivancos, J.-L.; Martínez-Máñez, R. Recent advances on intelligent packaging as tools to reduce food waste. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 172, 3398–3409. [CrossRef]
- 83. Nemecek, T.; Jungbluth, N.; i Canals, L.M.; Schenck, R. Environmental impacts of food consumption and nutrition: Where are we and what is next? *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess* **2016**, *21*, 607–620. [CrossRef]
- 84. Molina-Besch, K.; Wikström, F.; Williams, H. The environmental impact of packaging in food supply chains—does life cycle assessment of food provide the full picture? *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* **2018**, *21*, 492. [CrossRef]
- 85. ISO. Environmental Management—Life Cycle Assessment—Requirements and Guidelines: 14044:2006(en); International Organization for Standardization. ISO Central Secretariat: Geneva, Switzerland, 2006.
- Grant, T.; Barichello, V.; Fitzpatrick, L. Accounting the Impacts of Waste Product in Package Design. Procedia CIRP 2015, 29, 568–572. [CrossRef]
- 87. Heller, M.C.; Selke, S.E.M.; Keoleian, G.A. Mapping the Influence of Food Waste in Food Packaging Environmental Performance Assessments. *J. Ind. Ecol.* **2018**, *5*, 134. [CrossRef]
- Gruber, L.M.; Brandstetter, C.P.; Bos, U.; Lindner, J.P.; Albrecht, S. LCA study of unconsumed food and the influence of consumer behavior. *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* 2016, *21*, 773–784. [CrossRef]
- Wikström, F.; Williams, H.; Venkatesh, G. The influence of packaging attributes on recycling and food waste behaviour–An environmental comparison of two packaging alternatives. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2016, 137, 895–902. [CrossRef]
- 90. Manfredi, M.; Fantin, V.; Vignali, G.; Gavara, R. Environmental assessment of antimicrobial coatings for packaged fresh milk. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2015**, *95*, 291–300. [CrossRef]
- 91. Gutierrez, M.M.; Meleddu, M.; Piga, A. Food losses, shelf life extension and environmental impact of a packaged cheesecake: A life cycle assessment. *Food Res. Int. (Ottawa, Ont.)* **2017**, *91*, 124–132. [CrossRef]
- Conte, A.; Cappelletti, G.M.; Nicoletti, G.M.; Russo, C.; Del Nobile, M.A. Environmental implications of food loss probability in packaging design. *Food Res. Int. (Ottawa, Ont.)* 2015, 78, 11–17. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Spada, A.; Conte, A.; Del Nobile, M.A. The influence of shelf life on food waste: A model-based approach by empirical market evidence. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 172, 3410–3414. [CrossRef]
- Dilkes-Hoffman, L.S.; Lane, J.L.; Grant, T.; Pratt, S.; Lant, P.A.; Laycock, B. Environmental impact of biodegradable food packaging when considering food waste. J. Clean. Prod. 2018, 180, 325–334. [CrossRef]
- Toma, L.; Costa Font, M.; Thompson, B. Impact of consumers' understanding of date labelling on food waste behaviour. Oper. Res. Int. J. 2017, 22, 453. [CrossRef]
- 96. Broekmeulen, R.A.C.M.; van Donselaar, K.H. Quantifying the potential to improve on food waste, freshness and sales for perishables in supermarkets. *Int. J. Prod. Econ.* **2017**. [CrossRef]
- 97. Yokokawa, N.; Kikuchi-Uehara, E.; Sugiyama, H.; Hirao, M. Framework for analyzing the effects of packaging on food loss reduction by considering consumer behavior. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2018**, *174*, 26–34. [CrossRef]

- Bacenetti, J.; Cavaliere, A.; Falcone, G.; Giovenzana, V.; Banterle, A.; Guidetti, R. Shelf life extension as solution for environmental impact mitigation: A case study for bakery products. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2018, 627, 997–1007. [CrossRef]
- 99. Flysjö, A. Potential for improving the carbon footprint of butter and blend products. *J. Dairy Sci.* 2011, *94*, 5833–5841. [CrossRef]
- 100. Aggarwal, A.; Schmid, M.; Patel, M.K.; Langowski, H.-C. Function-driven Investigation of Non-renewable Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Material Selection in Food Packaging Applications: Case Study of Yoghurt Packaging. *Procedia CIRP* 2018, 69, 728–733. [CrossRef]
- 101. GfK Consumers Panels und Bundesvereinigung der Deutschen Ernährungsindustrie e.V. Consumers' Choice '15: Die Auflösung der Ernährungsriten—Folgen für das Ess- und Kochverhalten, 6th ed.; GfK SE: Nürnberg, Germany, 2015.
- 102. Quested, T.E.; Parry, A.D.; Easteal, S.; Swannell, R. Food and drink waste from households in the UK. *Nutr. Bull.* **2011**, *36*, 460–467. [CrossRef]
- 103. Lebersorger, S.; Schneider, F. Food loss rates at the food retail, influencing factors and reasons as a basis for waste prevention measures. *Waste Manag.* **2014**, *34*, 1911–1919. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 104. Quested, T.E.; Marsh, E.; Stunell, D.; Parry, A.D. Spaghetti soup: The complex world of food waste behaviours. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* 2013, 79, 43–51. [CrossRef]
- 105. Verghese, K.; Lewis, H.; Lockrey, S.; Williams, H. *The Role of Packaging in Minimising Food Waste in the Supply Chain of the Future: Final Report*, 3rd ed.; RMIT University: Melbourne, Australia, 2013.



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

8 Full text: Paper II

Wohner B, Schwarzinger N, Gürlich U, Heinrich V, Tacker M. Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria. PeerJ 2019; 7(12): e7578.

The following supplementary material is available online:

Details of emptiability results: <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7578/supp-1</u>

Descriptions of dairy products, packaging and LCA datasets: https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7578/supp-2

Streamlined LCA results: <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7578/supp-3</u>

Life cycle inventory of Austrian fat-protein corrected milk (FPCM): https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7578/supp-4

PeerJ

Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria

Bernhard Wohner, Nicole Schwarzinger, Ulla Gürlich, Victoria Heinrich and Manfred Tacker

Section Packaging and Resource Management, FH Campus Wien, Vienna, Austria

ABSTRACT

Background: Food waste is a major ecological concern around the globe. While the main function of packaging is to contain and protect food, it may also lead to food waste if residues remain in a package after emptying. Such residues could be attributed to wasteful behavior of consumers, but also to properties of packaging (e.g., geometry, surface tension) and food (e.g., surface tension, viscosity). **Methods:** In this study, the technical emptiability (ability of packaging to be emptied entirely) of 36 dairy products is analyzed. Firstly, the amount of food residues in packaging after emptying at room and refrigerator temperature was weighed and set in relation to the original filling quantity. Secondly, streamlined life cycle assessments (LCAs) based on the Product Environmental Footprint guidance with a functional unit of "one kg of consumed dairy product at room or refrigerator temperature in the home of the consumer" are conducted. Finally, technical emptiability was included in the streamlined LCA and attributed to the primary packaging in order to evaluate its environmental impact.

Results: Technical emptiability for both temperatures combined was found to be between 0.25% (± 0.11) and 5.79% (± 0.43) for the analyzed dairy products. While there were differences in emptiability results of the same product and different temperatures, no significant trend (p = 0.94) between emptiability and temperature could be observed. Liquid yogurt, cream, and buttermilk in beverage cartons and plastic bottles yielded the highest amounts, while milk in beverage cartons and glass bottles yielded the lowest amounts regarding food residues. Looking at global warming potential, poor technical emptiability of cream in a beverage carton leads to even higher environmental impacts than the production and waste management of its packaging. Discussion: The streamlined LCA results show that food residues can contribute substantially to the footprint of packaging and can have similar or even higher environmental impacts than packaging production and waste management. Yet, emptiability is remarkably under-researched to this day. Future studies should further develop the methods presented in this paper, while LCA analysts should include technical emptiability when assessing the sustainability of packaging, particularly for those containing resource-intensive goods.

Subjects Natural Resource Management, Environmental Impacts, Food, Water and Energy Nexus **Keywords** Food residues, Food waste, Food loss, Emptiability, Sustainability, Circular economy, Milk, Product environmental footprint, Emptying, Streamlined LCA

How to cite this article Wohner B, Schwarzinger N, Gürlich U, Heinrich V, Tacker M. 2019. Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria. PeerJ 7:e7578 DOI 10.7717/peerJ.7578

Submitted 10 May 2019 Accepted 29 July 2019 Published 10 September 2019

Ecorresponding author Bernhard Wohner, bernhard.wohner@

Academic editor

Additional Information and Declarations can be found on

CDOI 10.7717/peerj.7578

Copyright 2019 Wohner et al.

> Distributed under Dreative Commons CC-BY 4.0

OPEN ACCESS

INTRODUCTION

Worldwide, 1.3 billion metric tons or approximately one-third of the food produced is lost or wasted every year (*Gustavsson, Cederberg & Sonesson, 2011*). Food losses and waste (FLW) account to the emission of 3.3 billion tons of CO₂ equivalents and, when compared to countries, is ranked as the third top emitter after USA and China (*Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2013*).

In theory, optimized packaging can reduce both food and packaging waste across the supply chain (*Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2014*; *Verghese et al., 2015*), for example, by providing mechanical protection (*Oki & Sasaki, 2000*) or by using modified atmosphere packaging and thus prolonging the shelf life of its contents (*Kirtil & Oztop, 2016*). In low and middle-income countries, missing or inappropriate packaging is stated as one of the major contributors to FLW (*Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2014*). In contrast, in Europe or North America more food is wasted at the consumption stage (*Gustavsson, Cederberg & Sonesson, 2011*). Here, packaging can be directly responsible for FLW due to various reasons (*Wohner et al., 2019*), for example:

- Inappropriate packaging size, that is, too large packages
- Packaging that is difficult to open
- Packaging that is not reclosable
- Packaging that is difficult to empty

However, how exactly and to what extent packaging functions influence FLW is still largely unexplored (*Wikström et al., 2019*). In total, packaging may be responsible for up to 25% of FLW in households (*Williams et al., 2012*). According to this study, packaging that is "difficult to empty" is identified as a major driver of FLW. Further, "emptiability" (ability of emptying a package completely) is stated as particularly important for reducing FLW of yogurt (*Wikström et al., 2019*).

Several consumer protection agencies and companies are already concerned with emptiability (*Markert, 2016; Austrian Association for Consumer Information (VKI), 2017; LiquiGlide Inc, 2018*). Still, existing scientific literature on this subject is scarce. For instance, *Meurer et al. (2017)* detail their approach of emptying UHT milk, while in other literature the emptiability of yogurt (*Williams et al., 2012*) and minced meat in trays or tubes (*Wikström, Williams & Venkatesh, 2016*) are stated, yet without the description of a reproducible methodology for quantification. Despite the aforementioned studies, emptiability can be considered under-researched, even though it may lead to relevant environmental impacts. More specifically, by food residues interfering with the recycling of packaging (*Packaging SA, 2017; Maris et al., 2018*), as well as by the unnecessary resource consumption and emissions related to the production of food (*Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 2013*). As a rule, food production has considerably higher environmental impacts than its packaging (*Silvenius et al., 2011; Licciardello, 2017*). Therefore, a resource-intensive packaging can actually have a lower environmental impact than a resource-extensive one if it leads to less FLW

Iohner et al. (2019), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.7578

(*Denkstatt*, 2014). Yet, many life cycle assessment (LCA) studies of packaging exclude packaging-related FLW, while the awareness of its importance is fortunately increasing (*Molina-Besch, Wikström & Williams, 2018*).

To fill the identified literature gap, this paper addresses the question on how to quantify emptiability, or more precisely, technical emptiability. In this context, technical emptiability is considered as the sole product of the respective food packaging combination while excluding any wasteful behavior a consumer might practice. Furthermore, the study discusses if the attribution of food residues leads to the conclusion that technical emptiability testing should be carried out and included in the LCA of packaging. For this purpose, streamlined LCAs of all products are performed, that is, refraining from the collection of primary data.

The present research is restricted to dairy products since these are particularly resourceintensive (*Clune, Crossin & Verghese, 2017*) and are consumed in large quantities in Austria (*Statistik Austria, 2018*).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Testing of technical emptiability

A total of 36 dairy products were purchased from various brands in several Austrian supermarkets.

In addition to the packaging geometry, emptiability is mainly influenced by the surface tension of food and packaging, along with the viscosity of food (*Schmidt*, 2011). Moreover, viscosity changes with temperature (*Gonçalves et al.*, 2017) and dairy products are usually consumed both directly after removal from the refrigerator, as well as on the go after they have gained room temperature. Therefore, tests were performed at room $(22 \pm 1 \ ^{\circ}C)$ and refrigerator temperature $(7 \pm 1 \ ^{\circ}C)$.

While the testing for milk was based on *Meurer et al. (2017)*, due to the lack of scientific literature a new methodology for emptying dairy products other than milk had to be adapted or rather newly developed. A pre-test was carried out to observe how long the content actually flows and then drips out, similar to *Meurer et al. (2017)*. After this preliminary test, a total emptying time of 2 min including a shake of the package was chosen, since after that no more dripping of milk occurred. While emptying, the "perfect consumer" was simulated, that is, emptying with meticulous precision, so that the derived emptiability could actually be attributed to the packaging and not to a potentially wasteful consumer behavior. As a result, the emptying of packaging was carried out until it became apparent that no more food could be removed from the packaging without damaging it.

The principal steps of testing were (i) weighing of the package (food and packaging), (ii) emptying the contents, (iii) weighing the emptied package, (iv) washing and air drying of the packaging for 48 h at room temperature $(22 \pm 1 \text{ °C})$ and (v) weighing of the cleaned packaging.

The mass of food residues in a package (FR_i) was then calculated as:

 $FR_i = Emptied package_i - Cleaned packaging_i$

Due to time and resource restraints resulting from the analysis of 36 products, a number of three tests per temperature and package was chosen. The emptiability index (EMPT) of the respective temperature was the arithmetic mean of all three emptiability tests per package and temperature, expressed as the ratio of FR_i to the mass of the food in a package (F_i):

$$\text{EMPT}_{\text{Temp}}(\%) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{3} \text{FR}_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{3} \text{F}_{i}} \times 100$$

Since it is not known at which temperature the dairy products are consumed in practice, the discussion focuses more on the mean of both temperatures. As a result from the formula, a lower emptiability index means a better emptiability of packaging. Subsequently, statistical reliability of the derived emptiability results were analyzed by power tests (*Cohen, 1988*) in order to calculate variability. First, a desired statistical power of 0.80 with a confidence interval of 95% was defined. This resulted in effect sizes (Cohen's d) of 3.26 for three samples and of 1.44 for six samples. Finally, variability regarding emptiability indices was defined as these values multiplied with the respective standard deviation (Data S1).

Emptiability testing of different types of milk, buttermilk, and chocolate milk For the emptying of milk (whole milk, low-fat milk, lactose-free skimmed milk), buttermilk and chocolate milk, the packaging was held upside down and kept in this position for 1 min. The packaging was then brought to the starting position, panned five times and held for 10 s. Finally, it was tilted again and held for 1 min upside down. For chocolate milk in a beverage carton, the emptying was carried with the provided straw by pressing the package.

Emptiability testing of café latte

For café latte, the cup was shaken five times and then opened, whereby the intended drinking lid was put on for emptying. Further emptying followed the same procedure as for milk.

Emptiability testing of cream and low-fat cream alternative

Cream and low-fat cream alternative in bottles were emptied similar to milk variations. The multilayer polymer pouch for low-fat cream alternative was cut open at the designated area and its contents were squeezed out.

Emptiability testing of liquid yogurt

In addition to the emptying method of milk, the packages of liquid yoghurt were shaken five times before being opened.

Emptiability testing of yogurt, sour milk, fresh, and curd cheese

For all yogurt, sour milk, and cheese products, both the packaging was spooned out and the lid scraped off with a spoon. For the emptying process always the same spoon was used, which was washed and dried between each measurement.

/ohner et al. (2019), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.7578

4/22



Streamlined life cycle assessment Goal and scope definition

The goal of the streamlined LCA is to understand the relative impact of including emptiability in LCA of primary packaging. In contrast to full LCAs, streamlined LCA omit the collection of primary data.

As the dairy products are sold, consumed and disposed of in Austria and generally contain Austrian dairy, the geographical area chosen is also Austria.

The methodology for carrying out LCA is based on the current guidance (version 6.3) for the product environmental footprint (PEF) (*European Commission, 2017*) and the product environmental footprint category rules (PEFCR) for dairy products (*Bengoa, Dubois & Humbert, 2018*) in particular. The calculations are performed with OpenLCA 1.7.4 and the Ecoinvent 3.5 database. All used datasets are listed in the Data S2.

Functional unit and reference flow

The functional unit chosen is "one kg of consumed dairy product at room or refrigerator temperature in the home of the consumer." The reference flow is the amount of product needed to fulfil the functional unit. As an example, this results in a reference flow of 1,010 g for a product with a filling quantity of 1,000 g and an emptiability-related loss of 10 g.

System boundaries

The system boundaries of the streamlined LCA include the raw materials, manufacturing and transport of packaging with all its components, the agricultural production and processing of milk and other ingredients, as well as the disposal of the packaging including the food residues inside (Fig. 1).

The included transports are those of the packaging and the ingredients to the filling plant, as well as those of the product from the dairy plant to the distribution center, then to the supermarket and finally to the consumer. Transport distances are taken from the PEFCR and are listed in the Data S2.

Not included in the streamlined LCA are the final assembly of the packaging (e.g., application process of an aluminum lid to a plastic cup) and the use phase (e.g., energy consumption of the refrigerator), as well as FLW at other food supply chain stages.
The refrigeration process in the household has not been considered since the packaging design does not affect the energy consumption of the refrigerator. Therefore, according to the PEF guidance, this is to be classified as a product-independent use stage process and shall thus be excluded from the system boundary.

Life cycle stages

Life cycle stages are calculated and listed separately (Data S3) for

- Primary packaging (PRP): raw materials, production, transport, and waste management
- Food production (F): production of dairy products
- Waste management of food residues (FW): waste management (incineration) of food residues in packaging after emptying
- Secondary/tertiary packaging (STP): raw materials, production, transport, and waste management
- Transport to home: transportation of packages from the supermarket to the home of the consumer

The attribution of food residues to the LCA of the respective primary packaging follows a similar approach detailed in *Wikström*, *Williams & Venkatesh (2016)*. Subsequently, a newly derived result of each impact category for the respective primary packaging after including food residues (PRP_{FRi}) is calculated. For this, the environmental impacts regarding the production and waste management of (i) STP, (ii) the production of food, (iii) the transport of the products to the home of the consumer (TH_i) (iv) and that of the waste management of food residues (FW_i) was attributed to the production and waste management of primary packaging (PRP_i).

$$PRP_{FR_i} = PRP_i + \frac{PRP_i + STP_i + TH_i + F_i}{1 - EMPT_i} \times EMPT + FW_i$$

For EMPT, the mean of all six emptiability tests was used, since the temperature at which the products are consumed was not known. Finally, PRP_{FR} was compared to the LCA results based purely on production and waste management of the primary packaging (PRP_i) .

Selection of impact categories

All 16 impact categories of the PEF (ILCD 2.0 2018 impact categories set) were calculated and listed for all investigated life cycle stages in Data S3. For the interpretation, however, only the most relevant impact categories were used. For this purpose, first the results of all impact categories are normalized and weighted (Data S3). Next, the absolute values of all but the toxicity categories are added to obtain the PEF single score. Toxicity categories were excluded since they are not yet robust enough (*Bengoa, Dubois & Humbert, 2018; Sala, Cerutti & Pant, 2018*). Finally, the most relevant impact categories were those which contribute at least 80% to the PEF single score. For this study, this results in a list of the following six categories, ranked by their contribution:



Figure 2 Emptied beverage cartons. (A) Cartons with flat tops. (B) Cartons with gable tops. (C) Cartonswith bottle-shaped tops.Full-size DOI: 10.7717/peerj.7578/fig-2

- Freshwater and terrestrial acidification (Accumulated Exceedance, in mol H⁺_{eq})
- Respiratory effects, inorganics (Impact on human health, in disease incidence)
- Climate change (Global Warming Potential over 100 years, in kg CO_{2eq})
- Terrestrial eutrophication (Accumulated Exceedance, in mol N_{eq})
- Freshwater eutrophication (EUTREND model, in kg P_{eq})
- Resource use, fossils (Abiotic Resource Depletion, in MJ_{eq})

Life cycle inventory of packaging

First, each packaging was disassembled after the emptying process. Then, the packaging components were weighed and, finally, their material determined. Whenever the polymer type of plastic packaging was not recognizable by the label, its identification was carried out with Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy.

Tested packaging consisted of:

- Aseptic and non-aseptic beverage cartons: with bottle-shaped, gable and flat tops (Fig. 2)
- Plastic bottles: high-density polyethylene (HDPE) and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) (Fig. 3)
- Plastic cups: polypropylene (PP), polystyrene (PS); single and twin-chamber cups (Fig. 4)
- Plastic tubs: PP and PS (Fig. 5)
- Pouch: multilayer polymer pouch (PP, PE, calcium carbonate, and ethylene vinyl alcohol (EVOH) (Fig. 6)
- Glass bottle: white packaging glass (Fig. 7)

Detailed packaging descriptions are listed in the Data S2. The composition of non-aseptic beverage cartons was assumed to be 80% cardboard and 20% low density polyethylene (LDPE), that of aseptic beverage cartons to be 75% cardboard, 21% LDPE and 4% aluminum (*Fachverband Kartonverpackungen für flüssigkeits Nahrungsmittel eV* (*FKN*), 2007). Zero recycled content was assumed for all materials, except for packaging glass, where 60% of recycled content was chosen (*Austria Glas Recycling GmbH*, 2018). The composition of the multilayer polymer pouch was taken from its environmental product







declaration (*Ecolean*, 2018). Transport distances for glass and non-glass packaging to the filling plant were taken from *Bengoa*, *Dubois & Humbert (2018)* (Data S2), as well as default data for secondary and tertiary packaging (25.6 g corrugated board, 1.5 g LDPE film, and 6.0 g wooden pallet per kg dairy product).

Life cycle inventory of milk and dairy products

For the LCA of Austrian milk, methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions, as well as feed rations, were taken from the GLEAM tool provided by the *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2018)*. The Austrian Air Pollution Inventory was used for information on ammonia (NH₃) emissions from dairy cows (*Anderl et al.*, *2018*). A distance of 60 km was used for the transport of raw milk between dairy farms and processing units (*Bengoa, Dubois & Humbert, 2018*). Finally, a life cycle inventory for one kg of fat-protein corrected milk (FPCM) for Austria was modeled (Table S1). One kg of FPCM consists of 4.00% fat, 3.30% protein content and 4.85% lactose content (*International Dairy Federation (IDF), 2015*), which sums up to 12.15% milk solids.

The milk quantity required for each dairy product was then calculated according to the milk solids allocation (*International Dairy Federation (IDF), 2015; Bengoa, Dubois & Humbert, 2018*). Thus, the required amount of milk for the respective dairy product was calculated as the sum of its fat, protein and lactose content divided by 0.1215.

Recipes of processed products had to be estimated (Data S2) as the information on the package did not indicate exact quantities in most cases. Estimates were based on the imprinted list of ingredients and the nutrition labeling of the packed food. Information on energy and resource consumption for the processing of (i) milk, (ii) fermented products, and (iii) cheese was taken from *Bengoa*, *Dubois & Humbert (2018)*. For café latte, the Ecoinvent dataset for green coffee beans was supplemented with data on grinding and roasting of coffee (*Phrommarat, 2019*).

End-of-life assumptions of analyzed products

The assumption that packaging is recycled can only be made if it is recyclable by design and if the packaging is actually collected, sorted and recycled in the respective country. Only then, a country-specific recycling rate for a type of packaging may be used. For these assessments, recyclability guidelines were used to determine the expected recycling rate of the specific products. As an illustration, while the recycling rate for PET bottles in Austria is 45% (*Van Eygen, Laner & Fellner, 2018*), the end-of-life assumption for white PET bottles is incineration, since such opaque bottles are not recyclable (*Plastics Recyclers Europe, 2018*). All examined PET bottles have opaque colors and are, therefore, not recycled in Austria. The HDPE bottle for cream (36% fat) has a full-body sleeve made of oriented PS and is therefore also not recyclable (*Institute cyclos-HTP, 2017*).

For plastic cups and tubs, it can be assumed that these are not recycled in Austria, as are small foils or pouches due to their size (*Van Eygen, Laner & Fellner, 2018*). Plastic cups that are wrapped with cardboard are seen as a multilayer packaging and hence, not recyclable, since the separation of the cardboard from the cup cannot be expected from the consumer (*Tschachtli et al., 2018*). Besides the packaging design, food residues of more than 1% by volume also affect the recycling of plastic bottles, cups, and foils (*Packaging SA, 2017*).

Thus, all analyzed plastic primary packaging is assumed to be incinerated. The only primary packaging that can be classified as both recyclable and recycled in practice are beverage cartons and glass bottles, with recycling rates of 30% (*Getränkekarton*

Austria, 2019) and 86% (Altstoff Recycling Austria, 2018) respectively. Further, recycling rates of aluminum lids and closures are assumed to be 38% (Warrings & Fellner, 2018).

For the secondary and tertiary packaging, a recycling rate of 85% is assumed for cardboard (*Altstoff Recycling Austria*, 2018) and 39% for large LDPE films (*Van Eygen*, *Laner & Fellner*, 2018).

As there is a landfill ban on untreated waste in Austria (*Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management (BMLFUW), 2008*), it was assumed that no packaging, with the exception of glass and metal packaging, would be landfilled if it is not recycled.

Allocation rules

Allocation procedures follow the rules of the Circular Footprint Formula presented in the PEF guidance. Credits are awarded for the thermal and electrical energy gained from the incineration of the products, as well as for the recyclate resulting from recycling. Allocation and quality factors used in the PEF Circular Footprint Formula to calculate end-of-life burdens and credits are taken from the PEF default data (*European Commission, 2019*) and are also listed in the Data S2.

Robustness of the streamlined LCA results

For including technical emptiability in the streamlined LCA, the mean of all six EMPT tests was used. Subsequently, sensitivity analysis was carried out to evaluate potential implications resulting from emptiability indices that vary from the derived means. As a consequence, the calculations were repeated with the upper and lower limits of the determined variability of emptiability indices.

RESULTS

Technical emptiability results

The determined emptiability results (7 and 22 °C combined) of all analyzed products amount to values between 0.25% (\pm 0.11) and 5.79% (\pm 0.43). Liquid yogurt in beverage cartons and PET bottles, as well as cream and buttermilk in beverage cartons have the poorest emptiability results (Table 1), while whole milk (Table 2) and crumbly curd cheese have better results in comparison. Emptiability indices (EMPT) for the various types of milk are found to be similar to the results of *Meurer et al. (2017)*, with 0.31–0.45%. The derived variability of emptiability ranges between 0.03 (whole milk in a glass bottle) and 0.55% points (low-fat cream alternative in a polymer pouch), with a mean of 0.21. In percent, these values are between 2% (low-fat cream alternative in a PET bottle) and 70% (sour milk in a PP cup), with a mean of 20% (Data S1).

From comparing different food products and types of packaging it is obvious that the range of technical emptiability of the same packaging with different filling goods (Fig. 8), as well as of the same food in different packaging (Fig. 9) has a wide range of margin. This indicates that technical emptiability is a result of a food-packaging combination rather than of food or packaging properties solely. However, from Fig. 8 it is apparent that

| Dairy product | EMPT - (%) | $EMPT_{-\infty}$ (%) | FMPT. |
|--|--|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Puttermille Percenter bettle ter meint a | EVIT I 22 °C (70) 2 77 \pm 0.77 | 110 ± 0.62 | $EWIF I_{22} \circ C, 7$ |
| Buttermilk Beverage carton, bottle top, variant a | 3.77 ± 0.77 | 4.18 ± 0.63 | 3.97 ± 0.42 |
| Buttermink Beverage carton, bottle top, variant b | 3.74 ± 0.44 | 4.13 ± 0.66 | 3.93 ± 0.38 |
| Suttermink Beverage carton, gable top | 3.32 ± 0.29 | 3.41 ± 0.17 | 3.36 ± 0.12 |
| Cream, 23% fat Beverage carton, flat top | 4.10 ± 0.05 | 4.27 ± 1.00 | 4.18 ± 0.31 |
| Cream, 36% fat HDPE bottle | 0.86 ± 0.13 | 0.80 ± 0.12 | 0.83 ± 0.07 |
| Cream, 36% fat PS cup | 0.72 ± 0.12 | 0.60 ± 0.20 | 0.66 ± 0.11 |
| Curd cheese, creamy PS tub | 0.79 ± 0.28 | 0.56 ± 0.20 | 0.67 ± 0.21 |
| Curd cheese, crumbly PS tub | 0.27 ± 0.35 | 0.23 ± 0.17 | 0.25 ± 0.11 |
| Fresh cheese, herbs PP tub | 0.53 ± 0.39 | 0.39 ± 0.19 | 0.46 ± 0.16 |
| Fresh cheese, radish PP tub, variant a | 0.47 ± 0.32 | 0.48 ± 0.32 | 0.47 ± 0.13 |
| Fresh cheese, radish PP tub, variant b | 0.49 ± 0.11 | 0.44 ± 0.20 | 0.46 ± 0.07 |
| Fresh cheese, sweet pepper PP tub | 0.41 ± 0.10 | 0.40 ± 0.29 | 0.40 ± 0.09 |
| Fresh cheese, sweetened PS cup | 0.44 ± 0.18 | 0.52 ± 0.20 | 0.48 ± 0.10 |
| Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, bottle top | 4.40 ± 0.33 | 4.35 ± 0.62 | 4.38 ± 0.20 |
| Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, gable top | 4.18 ± 1.13 | 4.18 ± 0.62 | 4.18 ± 0.36 |
| Liquid yogurt, blueberries PET bottle | 5.95 ± 0.68 | 5.63 ± 1.06 | 5.79 ± 0.43 |
| Liquid yogurt, strawberry PET bottle | 1.50 ± 0.26 | 1.36 ± 0.57 | 1.43 ± 0.21 |
| Liquid yogurt, vanilla PET bottle | 1.66 ± 0.32 | 2.24 ± 0.25 | 1.95 ± 0.47 |
| Low-fat cream alternative PET bottle | 3.86 ± 0.08 | 3.85 ± 0.28 | 3.85 ± 0.08 |
| Low-fat cream alternative Polymer pouch | 1.44 ± 0.46 | 0.77 ± 0.32 | 1.10 ± 0.55 |
| Sour milk PP cup | 0.35 ± 0.28 | 0.52 ± 0.03 | 0.43 ± 0.36 |
| Sour milk PS cup | 0.40 ± 0.21 | 0.51 ± 0.26 | 0.45 ± 0.14 |
| Yogurt, cereals PS cup | 0.67 ± 0.07 | 0.68 ± 0.16 | 0.68 ± 0.05 |
| Yogurt, chocolate PS cup | 1.31 ± 0.93 | 1.04 ± 0.20 | 1.18 ± 0.34 |
| Yogurt, fruits Twin-PP cup | 1.71 ± 0.89 | 1.72 ± 0.63 | 1.72 ± 0.30 |
| Yogurt, vanilla PS cup | 0.94 ± 0.19 | 1.20 ± 0.53 | 1.07 ± 0.26 |
| Table 2 Technical emptiability results for milk and m | ilk-based drinks. | | |
| Dairy product | EMPT _{22 °C} (%) | EMPT _{7 °C} (%) | EMPT _{22 °C} 7 |
| Cafe Latté PET hottle | 0.48 ± 0.08 | 0.57 ± 0.10 | 0.53 ± 0.08 |
| Cafe Latté PD cup | 0.96 ± 0.81 | 1.54 ± 0.64 | 1.25 ± 0.56 |
| Chocolate milk Beverage carton flat ton | 0.90 ± 0.01 | 1.04 ± 0.04 | 1.25 ± 0.34 |
| Chocolate milk DET bottle variant a | 1.15 ± 0.19 | 0.74 ± 0.36 | 1.20 ± 0.25 |
| Chocolate milk PET bottle, variant a | 0.00 ± 0.17 | 1.06 ± 0.22 | 0.80 ± 0.13 |
| L free clrimmed milk Petersee certen, geble top | 0.32 ± 0.02 | 1.00 ± 0.22 | 0.35 ± 0.04 |
| L-nee skinning mink Beverage carton, gable top | 0.35 ± 0.08 | 0.53 ± 0.12 | 0.33 ± 0.04 |
| Low-fat milk Beverage carton, hat top | 0.35 ± 0.04 | 0.52 ± 0.16 | 0.43 ± 0.14 |
| Low-fat milk Beverage carton, gable top | 0.40 ± 0.10 | 0.51 ± 0.09 | 0.45 ± 0.09 |
| Whole milk Beverage carton, gable top | 0.28 ± 0.11 | 0.34 ± 0.07 | 0.31 ± 0.06 |
| Whole milk Glass bottle | 0.31 ± 0.05 | 0.33 ± 0.05 | 0.32 ± 0.03 |
| Results are given in percent, variability of results in percentage | points. | | |
| /ohner et al. (2019), <i>PeerJ</i> , DOI 10.7717/peerj.7578 | | - | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

| Table 2 Technical emptiability results for milk and milk-based drinks. | | | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Dairy product | EMPT ₂₂ ∘ _C (%) | EMPT ₇ ∘ _C (%) | EMPT _{22 °C, 7 °C} (%) | | | | | |
| Cafe Latté PET bottle | 0.48 ± 0.08 | 0.57 ± 0.10 | 0.53 ± 0.08 | | | | | |
| Cafe Latté PP cup | 0.96 ± 0.81 | 1.54 ± 0.64 | 1.25 ± 0.54 | | | | | |
| Chocolate milk Beverage carton, flat top | 1.13 ± 0.19 | 1.40 ± 0.46 | 1.26 ± 0.25 | | | | | |
| Chocolate milk PET bottle, variant a | 0.86 ± 0.17 | 0.74 ± 0.36 | 0.80 ± 0.15 | | | | | |
| Chocolate milk PET bottle, variant b | 0.92 ± 0.11 | 1.06 ± 0.22 | 0.99 ± 0.13 | | | | | |
| L-free skimmed milk Beverage carton, gable top | 0.35 ± 0.08 | 0.35 ± 0.12 | 0.35 ± 0.04 | | | | | |
| Low-fat milk Beverage carton, flat top | 0.35 ± 0.04 | 0.52 ± 0.16 | 0.43 ± 0.14 | | | | | |
| Low-fat milk Beverage carton, gable top | 0.40 ± 0.10 | 0.51 ± 0.09 | 0.45 ± 0.09 | | | | | |
| Whole milk Beverage carton, gable top | 0.28 ± 0.11 | 0.34 ± 0.07 | 0.31 ± 0.06 | | | | | |
| Whole milk Glass bottle | 0.31 ± 0.05 | 0.33 ± 0.05 | 0.32 ± 0.03 | | | | | |





Full-size DOI: 10.7717/peerj.7578/fig-8





technical emptiability of dairy products in packaging that was emptied is better than in packaging that was accessed (i.e., spooned out).

In the case of low-fat cream alternative, the exact same food product is available in two different types of packaging (bottle and pouch). Here, the emptiability of the pouch is distinctly better due to its ability to be squeezed after pouring out the contents. Furthermore, buttermilk in beverage cartons with gable tops seems to have slightly better emptiability than in those with bottle-shaped tops.

For the most part, there are differences in emptiability results for 22 and 7 °C, particularly for café latte in a cup and low-fat cream alternative in a pouch. Nevertheless, no clear positive or negative trend between temperature and emptiability can be observed (Mann–Whitney-U test: U = 641; p = 0.94).

Streamlined LCA results

Food comprises the largest percentage of each package examined, whereas primary packaging generally has a small contribution to the overall results, ranging from 1.6% to

| | Acidification | Respiratory effects, inorganics | Climate change | Eutrophication, terrestrial | Eutrophication, freshwater | Resource use, fossils |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Cafe Latté PET bottle | 22 ± 3 | 18 ± 3 | 3 ± 0 | 50 ± 7 | 3 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 |
| Cafe Latté PP cup | 78 ± 34 | 45 ± 19 | 10 ± 4 | 164 ± 72 | 13 ± 6 | 4 ± 2 |
| Chocolate milk Beverage carton, flat top | 103 ± 21 | 44 ± 9 | 28 ± 6 | 181 ± 37 | 24 ± 5 | 8 ± 2 |
| Chocolate milk PET bottle, variant a | 41 ± 7 | 37 ± 7 | 6 ± 1 | 89 ± 16 | 5 ± 1 | 2 ± 0 |
| Chocolate milk PET bottle, variant b | 45 ± 6 | 37 ± 5 | 7 ± 1 | 100 ± 13 | 6 ± 1 | 3 ± 0 |
| -free skimmed milk Beverage carton, gable top | 43 ± 5 | 18 ± 2 | 9 ± 1 | 77 ± 9 | 9 ± 1 | 3 ± 0 |
| ow-fat milk Beverage carton, flat top | 38 ± 13 | 18 ± 6 | 8 ± 2 | 74 ± 24 | 7 ± 2 | 3 ± 1 |
| ow-fat milk Beverage carton, gable top | 33 ± 7 | 15 ± 3 | 7 ± 1 | 63 ± 13 | 6 ± 1 | 2 ± 1 |
| Vhole milk Beverage carton, gable top | 46 ± 9 | 20 ± 4 | 9 ± 2 | 83 ± 16 | 10 ± 2 | 3 ± 1 |
| Vhole milk Glass bottle | 5 ± 0 | 3 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 | 11 ± 1 | 1 ± 0 | 1 ± 0 |
| LCA resu change v of milk p For al increase (±0) for t cream in For cl liquid yc impact o for curd milk, par skimmed emptiabi chocolat Acidif function (1,045% relative i Differ | ults of prima values of 5.0 packaging (1 l six impact after includ the fossil use in a beverage imate chang ogurt (87% \pm on climate cl cheese, fres rticularly for d milk in be dity is of high e milk in a b fication was al unit. In th \pm 81) are ag increase in i pent from the due to emption by land use a | ary packaging a % (<i>Silvenius et</i> <i>Licciardello</i> , 20 categories ide ing technical e e of fresh cheese carton. ge, the highest ± 8) and butter hange, the incl h cheese, and y r whole milk in verage cartons her importance beverage cartons identified as the is category, bevain the packag mpacts. e six relevant i tiability were co and human tox | the in line w the al., 2011), 17). Intified as r comptiability increase can complete to $\pm 1,827^{\circ}$ increase can complete to $\pm 1,827^{\circ}$ in a glass bo (7% ± 1 to e for café lai n (28% ± 6 the most relevant complete to ± 6 ing for while ing for while ing for while alculated. The cicity (non- | with other studie or between 7.0° elevant, the imp (Tables 3 and 4% (±141) for the m be found for (± 6) in beverage mptiability is of ± 1 to 8% ± 2) of $(\pm 1 \times 8\% \pm 2)$ of $(\pm 1 \times 8\% \pm 1)$ of $(\pm 1 \times 8\% \pm 1)$ of $(\pm 1 \times 8\% \pm 1)$ of $(\pm 1 \times 1)$ | s that report aver % and 13.9% in pacts of primary 4). These range terrestrial eutro cream 23% fat (2 ge cartons. Regar less relative imp . This also appli s well as to low- nilk and milk-ba 10% \pm 4) and par etegory for the d nilk, liquid yogur ptiability leads to actions of enviro fects) (Data S3). | rage climate the case packaging from +1% phication of 264% ± 20), rding the portance es to fat and ased drinks, rticularly for efined rt and cream o the highest onmental one layer The |
| depletion (imputed awarded or bioma | d) decreases by the incin ass. The dec | in ozone layer neration of pac rease in huma | depletion ckaging and n toxicity i | and land use re l thus the substi s due to the hea | sult mainly from itution of fossil t vy metal uptake | n the credit fuels e of crops |

Table 3 Percentage increase in streamlined LCA results of primary packaging for milk and milk-based drinks due to technical emptiability.

Table 4 Percentage increase in streamlined LCA results of primary packaging for dairy products other than milk due to technical emptiability.

| | Dairy product | Acidification | Respiratory effects | Climate change | Eutrophication, terrestrial | Eutrophication, freshwater | Resource use, fossils |
|-----------------------|---|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| | Buttermilk Beverage carton, bottle top, variant a | 279 ± 31 | 125 ± 14 | 51 ± 6 | 512 ± 56 | 66 ± 7 | 19 ± 2 |
| | Buttermilk Beverage carton, bottle top, variant b | 272 ± 27 | 121 ± 12 | 50 ± 5 | 498 ± 50 | 65 ± 6 | 19 ± 2 |
| | Buttermilk Beverage carton, gable top | 243 ± 9 | 106 ± 4 | 49 ± 2 | 437 ± 16 | 55 ± 2 | 17 ± 1 |
| | Cream, 23% fat Beverage carton, flat top | $1,045 \pm 81$ | 426 ± 33 | 264 ± 20 | $1,827 \pm 141$ | 208 ± 16 | 72 ± 6 |
| | Cream, 36% fat HDPE bottle | 99 ± 8 | 68 ± 5 | 8 ± 1 | 245 ± 20 | 34 ± 3 | 3 ± 0 |
| | Cream, 36% fat PS cup | 165 ± 28 | 123 ± 21 | 15 ± 2 | 431 ± 73 | 60 ± 10 | 7 ± 1 |
| | Curd cheese, creamy PS tub | 65 ± 20 | 47 ± 15 | 8 ± 2 | 166 ± 52 | 25 ± 8 | 4 ± 1 |
| bar | Curd cheese, crumbly PS tub | 25 ± 11 | 18 ± 8 | 3 ± 1 | 63 ± 28 | 10 ± 4 | 2 ± 1 |
| füg | Fresh cheese, herbs PP tub | 62 ± 22 | 44 ± 15 | 6 ± 2 | 152 ± 53 | 19 ± 7 | 3 ± 1 |
| Vel | È Fresh cheese, radish PP tub, variant a | 41 ± 11 | 30 ± 8 | 5 ± 1 | 95 ± 25 | 10 ± 3 | 2 ± 1 |
| hek | Fresh cheese, radish PP tub, variant b | 44 ± 7 | 32 ± 5 | 5 ± 1 | 104 ± 16 | 17 ± 3 | 3 ± 0 |
| liot | Fresh cheese, sweet pepper PP tub | 44 ± 9 | 31 ± 7 | 5 ± 1 | 108 ± 23 | 14 ± 3 | 2 ± 0 |
| Bib | Fresh cheese, sweetened PS cup | 36 ± 7 | 28 ± 6 | 4 ± 1 | 93 ± 18 | 37 ± 7 | 2 ± 0 |
| 'ien | Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, bottle top | 390 ± 19 | 170 ± 8 | 87 ± 4 | 700 ± 33 | 121 ± 6 | 35 ± 2 |
| $\leq \frac{1}{F}$ | Liquid yogurt Beverage carton, gable top | 318 ± 28 | 134 ± 12 | 87 ± 8 | 555 ± 50 | 99 ± 9 | 34 ± 3 |
| Ľ ţ | ِةِ Liquid yogurt, blueberries PET bottle | 86 ± 7 | 73 ± 6 | 18 ± 1 | 184 ± 15 | 21 ± 2 | 13 ± 1 |
| de | Liquid yogurt, strawberry PET bottle | 37 ± 5 | 29 ± 4 | 6 ± 1 | 82 ± 12 | 8 ± 1 | 4 ± 1 |
| tan | E Liquid yogurt, vanilla PET bottle | 76 ± 19 | 61 ± 15 | 12 ± 3 | 172 ± 42 | 14 ± 3 | 6 ± 1 |
| n is | Low-fat cream alternative PET bottle | 29 ± 1 | 25 ± 1 | 7 ± 0 | 61 ± 1 | 7 ± 0 | 5 ± 0 |
| atio | Low-fat cream alternative Polymer pouch | 62 ± 31 | 51 ± 25 | 6 ± 33 | 146 ± 73 | 24 ± 12 | 3 ± 2 |
| sert | Sour milk PP cup | 28 ± 20 | 14 ± 10 | 5 ± 1 | 57 ± 40 | 7 ± 5 | 3 ± 2 |
| Diss in is | Sour milk PS cup | 36 ± 7 | 27 ± 5 | 4 ± 1 | 91 ± 17 | 22 ± 4 | 3 ± 1 |
| er l | Yogurt, cereals PS cup | 39 ± 3 | 31 ± 2 | 4 ± 0 | 103 ± 7 | 52 ± 4 | 2 ± 0 |
| dies | g Yogurt, chocolate PS cup | 36 ± 10 | 26 ± 8 | 5 ± 2 | 88 ± 26 | 12 ± 3 | 3 ± 1 |
| on o | Yogurt, fruits Twin-PP cup | 49 ± 9 | 36 ± 6 | 7 ± 1 | 111 ± 20 | 11 ± 2 | 4 ± 1 |
| ersi | Yogurt, vanilla PS cup | 63 ± 15 | 47 ± 11 | 8 ± 2 | 162 ± 39 | 32 ± 8 | 5 ± 1 |
| rte gedruckte Origina | Results are given in percent, variability of results in pe emission indicato commu | rcentage points. ns or waste. A ors since they nicated or add | part from thi are currently led to the PE | s, too muc not very r F single sc | h emphasis shou obust and therefe core (<i>Sala, Cerutt</i> | ld not be placed o ore excluded from <i>i & Pant, 2018</i>). | on toxicity n being |
| robier | DISC | USSION | | | | | |
| app | | ations of te | echnical er | nptiabili | ty | | |
| ibliothek | For the docume less that does no Additio | evaluation of ents may be us n 1% to the to t recommend nally, the PEF | the relevance sed. ISO 1404 tal system reg any kind of CR for dairy | e of technic 4 allows fo arding ma cut-off in a products a | cal emptiability, e or a cut-off of inp ss or energy (<i>ISO</i> advance (<i>Europed</i> re encouraging th | existing LCA guid outs in LCA that 14044, 2006) whi an Commission, 2 ne inclusion of pr | dance contribute ile the PEF 2017). imary data |
| m | g ohner et al. (2019), <i>PeerJ</i> , DOI 10.7717/peer | rj.7578 | | | | | 15/22 |

DISCUSSION

Implications of technical emptiability

on FLW in LCA whenever available (*Bengoa, Dubois & Humbert, 2018*). According to ISO 14044 and its mass-related cut-off, food residues in the analyzed packages should be included except for milk, cream, cheese, sour milk, yogurt with cereals, and café latte in a PET bottle. However, following this approach would mean that the GWP¹⁰⁰ of, for example, a beverage carton for cream would be understated by the factor 2.6. Defining relevance as a percentage increase of under 5% after including food residues, then only the technical emptiability of four out of 36 analyzed products could be seen as insignificant for climate change results of primary packaging. However, after including more impact categories besides climate change, technical emptiability is relevant for every analyzed packaging and thus should definitely be considered in future studies.

The results show clearly that food residues are particularly important for resourceintensive foods and for packaging, which is resource-friendly, such as the beverage carton. Thus, for whole milk in a glass bottle, the relative contribution of food residues to the overall environmental impact of packaging is of less importance.

Additionally, it should be stated that while the increase of environmental impacts is certainly relevant when looking at packaging alone, the picture is different for the whole life cycle of the products, that is, after the food production is included. Here, the difference in environmental impacts between "one kg distributed food" and "one kg consumed food" only ranges from 0% to +2% for all products (Data S3). This shows once again that the production of food leads to much greater environmental impacts than that of packaging.

Limitations regarding emptiability testing

In this study, a method to operationalize technical emptiability was proposed, a packaging attribute that clearly distinguishes itself from the potentially wasteful behavior of a consumer. Yet, while the results for products which are to be emptied (e.g., bottles) do not depend on the meticulousness of the person performing the tests, this may be different for spooned out products.

The temperature at which dairy products are consumed could be either room temperature, refrigerator temperature or somewhere in between. Therefore, the mean of both $\text{EMPT}_{22 \ ^{\circ}\text{C}}$ and $\text{EMPT}_{7 \ ^{\circ}\text{C}}$ was used, thus disregarding differences between temperatures. In future studies of products that are consumed only at a specific temperature, emptiability testing should also focus on this temperature.

The aim of this explorative study was to cover a broad range of products. With n = 3, this already resulted in 216 tests for the 36 products analyzed at both temperatures. As a result, the variability of technical emptiability for some products was quite large.

In future emptiability studies, the sample size should be increased if results with lower variability are required.

Limitations regarding the evaluation of environmental impacts

No primary data was used for the calculations of the streamlined LCA of packaging and dairy products. Therefore, the actual environmental impacts of the investigated products may actually be lower or higher, depending on the energy and resource efficiency of the respective companies. Furthermore, the exact composition of dairy products was not known. Particularly, the amount of milk required for the production of these was estimated by dry mass allocation. Due to the fact that milk is the most environmentally substantial input in dairy products (*Famiglietti et al., 2019*), an over- or underestimation could have a major impact on the results.

For the assessment of EVOH used in the multi-layer polymer pouch, the dataset of ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA) was used as a proxy, hence not considering an otherwise additionally necessary production process. However, EVOH accounts for only 3% of its mass. Furthermore, a previous LCA study reports using EVA as a proxy as acceptable (*Humbert et al., 2009*).

Another limitation of this study is that only a generic dataset for the incineration of food was used, thus neglecting differences of food properties (i.e., lower heating values). Still, this life cycle stage only contributes a maximum of 0.24% to the overall climate change results and even less to other impact categories.

CONCLUSIONS

The present results show that in the food-packaging system of dairy products in Austria, the food contents always account for the highest percentage in LCA results. Surprising is that for some products, food residues are responsible for even higher environmental impacts than their primary packaging. It should be noted that the goal of this study was to represent the "ideal consumer." Thus, the results for "practical emptiability" are probably even higher than for the derived technical emptiability, since it can be assumed that consumers are not emptying packages as meticulously as did the authors of this paper. Future research should be concerned with not only extending the method on testing technical emptiability in this paper, but also on finding approaches on how to measure practical emptiability.

Furthermore, it was not the focus of the study to investigate the relationship between packaging design and technical emptiability, which should also be addressed in future research. Nevertheless, the results of this study indicate that food products are at greater risk of causing higher amounts of food residues if there are contained in packaging where the contents are not easy to access (i.e., bottles and beverage cartons).

Presumably, food residues in packaging cause severe economic and ecological implications as food lost due to poor emptiability may add up to vast quantities for whole markets. Furthermore, European countries are obliged to introduce plastic packaging which is 100% recyclable to the market and to drastically increase the recycling rate of plastic packaging by 2030 (*European Commission, 2018; European Parliament, 2018*). Hence, packaging designers should develop packaging with good emptiability in addition to good recyclability due to the interference of food residues with the recycling process (*Meurer et al., 2017; Maris et al., 2018*). Measuring technical emptiability is only possible with already existing packaging, hence making a priori evaluation difficult. However, some packaging features can already be considered by

designers, such as the use of wide necks or designing packaging that can be stood upside down (*Packaging SA*, 2017).

Several LCA analysts (*Flysjö*, 2011; *Williams & Wikström*, 2011; *Grant, Barichello & Fitzpatrick*, 2015; *Manfredi et al.*, 2015; *Verghese et al.*, 2015; *Gruber et al.*, 2016; *Heller, Selke & Keoleian*, 2018) already incorporate FLW into their work on packaging. Food residues can have substantial environmental impacts, and in some cases even greater than that of the respective packaging. Thus, it is crucial that future comparative studies of packaging also include emptiability, since this could change the identification of the most environmentally friendly option.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mary Wallis provided comments on the manuscript. Biliana Yontcheva assisted with the statistical analysis.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND DECLARATIONS

Funding

The authors received no funding for this work.

Competing Interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author Contributions

- Bernhard Wohner conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed the data, contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools, prepared figures and/or tables, authored or reviewed drafts of the paper, approved the final draft.
- Nicole Schwarzinger conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed the data, approved the final draft.
- Ulla Gürlich conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed the data, approved the final draft.
- Victoria Heinrich conceived and designed the experiments, approved the final draft.
- Manfred Tacker conceived and designed the experiments, contributed reagents/ materials/analysis tools, approved the final draft.

Data Availability

The following information was supplied regarding data availability:

Tables with descriptions of all dairy products regarding food (nutritional values, list of ingredients) and packaging (material and mass of individual packaging components) are available in the Supplemental Files.

Supplemental Information

Supplemental information for this article can be found online at http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.7578#supplemental-information.

REFERENCES

- Altstoff Recycling Austria AG. 2018. Transparenzbericht 2018: Die Zukunft der Kreislaufwirtschaft. Available at https://www.ara.at/fileadmin/user_upload/ARA_ Transparenzbericht_2018.pdf (accessed 10 December 2018).
- Anderl M, Gangl M, Haider S, Kampel E, Köther T, Lampert C, Matthews B, Pfaff G, Pinterits M, Poupa S, Purzner M, Schieder W, Schmid C, Schmidt G, Schodl B, Schwaiger E, Schwarzl B, Stranner G, Titz M, Weiss P, Zechmeister A. 2018. Austria's National Inventory Report 2018: submission under the United Nations framework convention on climate change and under the Kyoto Protocol. Umweltbundesamt GmbH ed. Available at http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/REP0640.pdf (accessed 10 December 2018).
- Austria Glas Recycling GmbH. 2018. Glasrecyclingdaten: Altglassammlung und Glasrecycling in Österreich. Austria Glas Recycling GmbH. *Available at https://www.agr.at/glasrecycling/ glasrecyclingdaten* (accessed 23 April 2019).
- Austrian Association for Consumer Information (VKI). 2017. Pumpspender: Restmengen: Pure Verschwendung. Verein f
 ür Konsumenteninformation. Available at https://www.konsument.at/ pumpspender122017 (accessed 19 June 2019).
- Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management (BMLFUW). 2008. Bundesrecht konsolidiert: Gesamte Rechtsvorschrift für Deponieverordnung 2008, Fassung vom 17.04.2019: Deponieverordnung 2008—DVO 2008. Vienna: Austria Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management.
- Bengoa X, Dubois C, Humbert S. 2018. Product environmental footprint category rules (PEFCR) for dairy products. Available at http://eda.euromilk.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Public_ Documents/EDA/PEFCR-DairyProducts_2018-04-25_V1.pdf (accessed 11 January 2019).
- Clune S, Crossin E, Verghese K. 2017. Systematic review of greenhouse gas emissions for different fresh food categories. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 140:766–783 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.04.082.
- **Cohen J. 1988.** *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences.* New York: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- **Denkstatt. 2014.** Vermeidung von Lebensmittelabfällen durch Verpackung: Kooperationsprojekt mit Partnern aus den Bereichen Rohstoffherstellung, Verpackungsproduktion, Handel, Verpackungsverwertung und Forschung. Vienna: Denkstatt.
- Ecolean AB. 2018. Ecolean[®] air aseptic packages for ambient distribution: environmental product declaration. Available at https://gryphon4.environdec.com/system/data/files/6/13094/epd1054en_ Ecolean%20Air%20Aseptic%20packages%20for%20ambient%20distribution_2018.pdf (accessed 11 December 2018).
- European Commission. 2017. PEFCR guidance document: guidance for the development of product environmental footprint category rules (PEFCRSs). Version 6.3. Available at http://ec.europa.eu/ environment/eussd/smgp/pdf/PEFCR_guidance_v6.3.pdf (accessed 17 April 2019).
- **European Commission. 2018.** A European strategy for plastics in a circular economy: communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the council, the European Economic and Social Committee of the Regions. *Available at http://ec.europa.eu/environment/circular-economy/pdf/plastics-strategy.pdf* (accessed 11 January 2019).
- **European Commission. 2019.** Product Environmental Footprint Category 2 Rules Guidance. *Available at http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eussd/smgp/PEFCR_OEFSR_en.htm#secondary_data* (accessed 17 April 2019).

- European Parliament. 2018. Directive (EU) 2018/852 of the European Parliament and of the council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 94/62/EC on packaging and packaging waste: 2018/852. Available at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:OJ.L_.2018.150. 01.0141.01.ENG&toc=OJ:L:2018:150:TOC.
- Fachverband Kartonverpackungen für flüssigkeits Nahrungsmittel eV (FKN). 2007. Der Getränkekarton im Kreislauf der Natur. Berlin: Fachverband Kartonverpackungen für flüssiges Lebensmittel eV. Available at https://www.getraenkekarton.de/media/file/2.kreislaufverpackung. pdf (accessed 11 January 2019).
- Famiglietti J, Guerci M, Proserpio C, Ravaglia P, Motta M. 2019. Development and testing of the product environmental footprint milk tool: a comprehensive LCA tool for dairy products. *Science of the Total Environment* 648:1614–1626 DOI 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.142.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2013. Food wastage footprint: impacts on natural resources summary report. Rome: FAO.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2014. Appropriate food packaging solutions for developing countries: study conducted for the International Congress save food! at Interpack2011 Düsseldorf, Germany. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). 2018. Global livestock environmental assessment model (GLEAM). *Available at http://www.fao.org/gleam/resources/en/* (accessed 10 October 2018).
- Flysjö A. 2011. Potential for improving the carbon footprint of butter and blend products. *Journal of Dairy Science* 94(12):5833–5841 DOI 10.3168/jds.2011-4545.
- Getränkekarton Austria. 2019. Getränkekarton-recycling in Österreich. Available at http://www. getraenkekarton.at/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/190417_Infoblatt-GKA.pdf (accessed 11 June 2019).
- Gonçalves BJ, Pereira CG, Lago AMT, Gonçalves CS, Giarola TMO, Abreu LR, Resende JV. 2017. Thermal conductivity as influenced by the temperature and apparent viscosity of dairy products. *Journal of Dairy Science* 100(5):3513–3525 DOI 10.3168/jds.2016-12051.
- Grant T, Barichello V, Fitzpatrick L. 2015. Accounting the impacts of waste product in package design. *Procedia CIRP* 29:568–572 DOI 10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.062.
- Gruber LM, Brandstetter CP, Bos U, Lindner JP, Albrecht S. 2016. LCA study of unconsumed food and the influence of consumer behavior. *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 21(5):773–784 DOI 10.1007/s11367-015-0933-4.
- **Gustavsson J, Cederberg C, Sonesson U. 2011.** Global food losses and food waste: extent, causes and prevention; study conducted for the International Congress save food! at Interpack 2011, [16–17 May], Düsseldorf, Germany. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Heller MC, Selke SEM, Keoleian GA. 2018. Mapping the influence of food waste in food packaging environmental performance assessments. *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 23(2):480–495 DOI 10.1111/jiec.12743.
- Humbert S, Rossi V, Margni M, Jolliet O, Loerincik Y. 2009. Life cycle assessment of two baby food packaging alternatives: glass jars vs. plastic pots. *International Journal of Life Cycle* Assessment 14(2):95–106 DOI 10.1007/s11367-008-0052-6.
- International Dairy Federation (IDF). 2015. Bulletin of the IDF N° 479/ 2015: A common carbon footprint approach for the dairy sector The IDF guide to standard life cycle assessment methodology. Available at https://store.fil-idf.org/product/a-common-carbon-footprint-approach-for-the-dairy-sector-the-idf-guide-to-standard-life-cycle-assessment-methodology/.

ohner et al. (2019), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.7578

20/22

Peer J

- Institute cyclos-HTP. 2017. Prüfung und Testierung der Recyclingfähigkeit: Anforderung und Bewertungskatalog des Institutes cyclos-HTP zur EU-weiten Zertifizierung. Available at http:// cyclos-htp.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Anforderungs-_und_Bewertungskatalog_Version_3.5_ Stand_03.08.2017.pdf (accessed 7 November 2018).
- ISO 14044. 2006. Environmental management—Life cycle assessment—Requirements and guidelines: 14044:2006(en). Available at https://www.iso.org/standard/38498.html.
- Kirtil E, Oztop MH. 2016. Controlled and modified atmospherepackaging. In: Smithers G, ed. *Reference Module in Food Science*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1–2.
- Licciardello F. 2017. Packaging, blessing in disguise. Review on its diverse contribution to food sustainability. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 65:32-39 DOI 10.1016/j.tifs.2017.05.003.
- LiquiGlide Inc. 2018. LiquiGlide is revolutionizing the way liquids move. Available at https://liquiglide.com/ (accessed 17 April 2019).
- Manfredi M, Fantin V, Vignali G, Gavara R. 2015. Environmental assessment of antimicrobial coatings for packaged fresh milk. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 95:291–300 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.02.048.
- Maris J, Bourdon S, Brossard J-M, Cauret L, Fontaine L, Montembault V. 2018. Mechanical recycling: compatibilization of mixed thermoplastic wastes. *Polymer Degradation and Stability* 147:245–266 DOI 10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2017.11.001.
- Markert S. 2016. Kosmetikprodukte leeren: Der Rest, der in der Tube bleib. In: Nachrichten Stuttgarter, ed. Available at https://www.stuttgarter-nachrichten.de/inhalt. kosmetikprodukte-leeren-der-rest-der-in-der-tube-bleibt.80aa6560-1c7a-4291-ae64-36fdadf8e9ec.html (accessed 17 April 2019).
- Meurer IR, Lange CC, Hungaro HM, Valenzuela Bell MJ, De Carvalho dos Anjos V, Antonio de Sá Silva C, Aparecida de Oliveira Pinto M. 2017. Quantification of whole ultra high temperature UHT milk waste as a function of packages type and design. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 153:483–490 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.172.
- Molina-Besch K, Wikström F, Williams H. 2018. The environmental impact of packaging in food supply chains—does life cycle assessment of food provide the full picture? *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 24:37–50 DOI 10.1007/s11367-018-1500-6.
- Oki Y, Sasaki H. 2000. Social and environmental impacts of packaging (LCA and assessment of packaging functions). *Packaging Technology and Science* 13(2):45–53.
- Packaging SA. 2017. Design for recycling for packaging and paper in South Africa. Available at http://www.packagingsa.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Packaging_SA_Recyclability_by_ Design_-_2017.pdf (accessed 11 January 2019).
- Phrommarat B. 2019. Life cycle assessment of ground coffee and comparison of different Brewing methods: a case study of organic Arabica coffee in Northern Thailand. *Environment and Natural Resources Journal* 17(2):96–108 DOI 10.32526/ennrj.17.2.2019.16.
- **Plastics Recyclers Europe. 2018.** Coloured PET bottles guidelines. *Available at https:// plasticsrecyclers.eu/sites/default/files/2018-05/Coloured%20PET%20bottles%20guidelines%2023-02-2018.pdf* (accessed 12 December 2018).
- Sala S, Cerutti AK, Pant R. 2018. Development of a weighting approach for the Environmental Footprint. Brussels: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eussd/smgp/documents/2018_JRC_Weighting_EF.pdf (accessed 11 January 2019).
- Schmidt M. 2011. Untersuchung und Verbesserung des Entleerungsverhaltens von Füllgut-Verpackungssystemen. Doctoral thesis. Universität Stuttgart.

- Silvenius F, Katajajuuri J-M, Grönman K, Soukka R, Koivupuro H-K, Virtanen Y. 2011. Role of packaging in LCA of food products. In: Finkbeiner M, ed. *Towards Life Cycle Sustainability Management*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 359–370.
- Statistik Austria. 2018. Versorgungsbilanz für Rohmilch und Milchprodukte 2012 bis 2017. Statistik Austria. Available at http://www.statistik.at/wcm/idc/idcplg?IdcService=GET_PDF_ FILE&RevisionSelectionMethod=LatestReleased&dDocName=022382 (accessed 13 December 2018).
- Tschachtli S, Pitschke T, Kreibe S, Martin A, Schlummer M, Kaiser S. 2018. Recyclingfähigkeit von Verpackungen: Bewertungskatalog. In: bifa Umweltinstitut, ed. Available at https://www. interseroh.de/leistungen/beratung/verpackungsoptimierung/ (accessed 25 April 2019).
- Van Eygen E, Laner D, Fellner J. 2018. Circular economy of plastic packaging: current practice and perspectives in Austria. Waste Management 72:55–64 DOI 10.1016/j.wasman.2017.11.040.
- Verghese K, Lewis H, Lockrey S, Williams H. 2015. Packaging's role in minimizing food loss and waste across the supply chain. *Packaging Technology and Science* 28(7):603–620 DOI 10.1002/pts.2127.
- Warrings R, Fellner J. 2018. Current status of circularity for aluminum from household waste in Austria. *Waste Management* 76:217–224 DOI 10.1016/j.wasman.2018.02.034.
- Wikström F, Williams H, Trischler J, Rowe Z. 2019. The importance of packaging functions for food waste of different products in households. *Sustainability* 11(9):2641 DOI 10.3390/su11092641.
- Wikström F, Williams H, Venkatesh G. 2016. The influence of packaging attributes on recycling and food waste behaviour—an environmental comparison of two packaging alternatives. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 137:895–902 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.097.
- Williams H, Wikström F. 2011. Environmental impact of packaging and food losses in a life cycle perspective: a comparative analysis of five food items. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 19(1):43–48 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.08.008.
- Williams H, Wikström F, Otterbring T, Löfgren M, Gustafsson A. 2012. Reasons for household food waste with special attention to packaging. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 24:141–148 DOI 10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.11.044.
- Wohner B, Pauer E, Heinrich V, Tacker M. 2019. Packaging-related food losses and waste: an overview of drivers and issues. *Sustainability* 11(1):264 DOI 10.3390/su11010264.

9 Full text: Paper III

Wohner B, Gabriel VH, Krenn B, Krauter V, Tacker M. Environmental and economic assessment of food-packaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup. *Science of The Total Environment* 2020; **738**: 139846.

The following supplementary material is available online:

Methods and results: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-</u> S0048969720333660-mmc1.xlsx

Science of the Total Environment 738 (2020) 139846



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Environmental and economic assessment of food-packaging systems with a focus on food waste. Case study on tomato ketchup





Bernhard Wohner^{a,*}, Viktoria Helene Gabriel^{a,b}, Barbara Krenn^a, Victoria Krauter^a, Manfred Tacker^a

^a Section Packaging and Resource Management, University of Applied Sciences Campus Vienna, Helmut-Qualtinger-Gasse 2/2/3, Vienna 1030, Austria ^b Circular Analytics TK GmbH, Otto-Bauer-Gasse 3/13, Vienna 1060, Austria

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Ketchup waste due to poor emptiability ranged from 3.85% (±0.41) to 28.80% (±3.30).
- Emptiability of ketchup in glass packaging is better than in polypropylene bottles.
- Glass packaging has greater environmental impacts than polypropylene bottles.
- Including packaging-related FLW can alter the ranking of products.
- Poor emptiability increases costs to the consumer but also economic value added.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 January 2020 Received in revised form 25 May 2020 Accepted 29 May 2020 Available online 01 June 2020

Editor: Deyi Hou

Keywords: Life cycle assessment Multi-criteria decision analysis Circular economy Food packaging Value added Food waste



ABSTRACT

In this paper, a sustainability evaluation method for food-packaging systems is proposed. First, food waste due to poor emptiability was determined. Then, these quantities were included in life cycle assessments (LCA) and life cycle costing (value added, VA) of the products. Finally, LCA and VA results were combined using multi-criteria decision analysis, Technique for Order by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS), in order to identify the most sustainable food packaging system.

As a case study, four different ketchup products were examined. For ketchup in polypropylene bottles, FLW resulting from poor emptiability ranged from 13.12% (\pm 2.05) to 28.80% (\pm 3.30) respectively, while this was only 3.85% (\pm 0.41) for ketchup packaged in glass. After integrating the emptiability results into life cycle assessments, this resulted in greenhouse gas emissions of 5.66 to 9.16 kg CO_{2eq} per 3.80 kg consumed ketchup, the average consumption per capita in Austria. Importantly, poor emptiability of the examined products led to greater environmental impacts than the associated packaging. While greater product loss also pushes up the costs for consumers, it contributes to more value added to the economic system, which is in stark contrast to the goal of decoupling the economy from resource consumption.

© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Abbreviations: AC, acidification; CC, climate change; CNV, conventional agriculture; CRITIC, Criteria Importance through Intercriteria Correlation; EMPT, emptiability; FEU, eutrophication, freshwater; FLW, food losses and waste; FRD, resource use, fossils; FU, functional unit; GL, glass; LCA, life cycle assessment; MCDA, multi-criteria decision analysis; PP, poly-propylene; ORG, organic agriculture; PEF, product environmental footprint; PM, particulate matter; TOPSIS, technique for order by similarity to ideal solution; VA, value added; WU, water use.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: bernhard.wohner@fh-campuswien.ac.at (B. Wohner).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139846

0048-9697/© 2020 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



1. Introduction

Today, the world's economy is mainly based on a linear model. Recent studies suggest that globally, only 9% of all raw materials are reused, recycled or composted after their use (de Wit et al., 2018). Concerning the European Union (EU), only 67% of packaging and 46% of municipal waste is currently recycled (eurostat, 2019a). As a result, initiating a transformation towards a circular economy by adopting the 'Circular Economy Package' has become one of the top priorities of the EU (European Commission, 2019b).

This package includes goals such as requiring full recyclability or reusability of packaging (European Commission [DG ENV - Directorate C], 2018), increased recycling quotas of packaging as well as halving food waste by 2050 or 2030 respectively (The European Parliament and the Council, 2018). In Austria, only 25% of plastic packaging is currently recycled (Altstoff Recycling Austria AG, 2018), meaning that this must be approximately doubled by 2030 to fulfill the mandatory quota of 55%.

As a possible solution, in addition to increasing the recyclability of plastic packaging, a general reduction of plastic is highly discussed. Such a reduction has further gained fresh prominence due to increasing public disdain concerning plastic. This has been addressed by several Austrian food retailers, who declared the reduction of plastic packaging in their mission statements (HOFER, 2018; REWE Group, 2018; SPAR, 2019). Furthermore, the reduction of plastic packaging by 20% to 25% Swas officially declared a goal of the Austrian government in 2018 Bundeskanzleramt, Bundesministerium Öffentlicher Dienst und Sport, Bundesministerium Nachhaltigkeit und Tourimus, 2018). However, environmental benefits of reducing the quantity of plastic packaging could even lead to greater environmental impacts when it is substituted by To ther materials such as paper, glass or metal (Pilz et al., 2010). Furthermore, a reduction or substitution of plastic packaging could increase the generation of food loss and waste (FLW) (Pauer et al., 2019; Wohner et al., 2019a). While much research has been carried out on the evaluaation of direct environmental impacts of packaging by conducting life xycle assessments (LCA), there is still very little scientific understanding of indirect effects (Molina-Besch et al., 2018; Wohner et al., 2019a). Since protecting food is in fact the main function of packaging (Lindh et al., 2016; Pauer et al., 2019), sustainability evaluations of packaging should not be carried out without considering its impact on the filling good and thus of holistic evaluations of food together with its associated packaging (food-packaging systems) (Pauer et al., 2019). With 14% of food being lost between post-harvest and retail level (FAO, 2019) together with older estimates of 30% being lost across the whole supply chain (Gustavsson et al., 2011), it is clear however that FLW and therefore indirect effects of packaging are a pressing concern. Several authors already focus on assessing FLW by using LCA (Beretta and Hellweg, 2019; Scherhaufer et al., 2018), with an increasing number of authors integrating FLW into the LCA of packaging (Molina-Besch et al., 2018). Among other aspects, this includes (i) FLW related to packaging being difficult to empty (Meurer et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2012; Williams and Wikström, 2011; Wohner et al., 2019b), (ii) calculation of breakeven rates between the volume of packaging material and FLW (Bacenetti et al., 2018; Yokokawa et al., 2018) or (iii) modelling the quantity of FLW based on shelf life (Conte et al., 2015).

According to Pauer et al. (2019), evaluations of food-packaging systems should include direct and indirect environmental effects, in addition to circularity assessments, yet without proposing a combined evaluation method. Niero and Kalbar (2019) already combined direct environmental effects (LCA results) of packaging and circularity metrics using multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA). In context of this research, however, we argue that circularity parameters such as recycled content or recycling quotas may affect LCA results, thus violating the rules of using only independent attributes in MCDA (Belton and Stewart, 2003).

In summary, the aim of the present paper is to analyze packagingrelated FLW of food-packaging systems in order to integrate it into environmental and economic assessments. Against this background, a case study on tomato ketchup is conducted. Emptiability is quantified, which is then integrated into LCA and life cycle costing (LCC) of the products. Finally, the most sustainable product is identified by using multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA).



g, **1**. Ketchup products chosen as illustrative examples. a) Conventional ketchup, produced in Austria, 450 g indicated filling quantity, 29.99 g colored polypropylene (PP) bottle with 1.81 g colored PP cap, 0.28 g multilayer seal (assuming a composition of 52% polyethylene, 25% polyethylene terephthalate, 17% adhesive and 6% aluminum) and 0.97 g PP labels. 2 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: $1.99 \in (PP-450-CONV)$. b) Organic ketchup, produced in Austria, 380 g indicated filling quantity, 22.30 g clear transparent PP bottle with 4.36 g colored PP cap, 0.29 g multilayer seal and 0.63 g PP labels. Sales price: $2.99 \in (PP-380-ORG)$. c) Organic ketchup, produced in the Czech Republic, 550 g indicated filling quantity, 0.29 g colored PP cap, 0.29 g multilayer seal and 0.37 g PP labels. Sales price: 2.99 $\in (PP-380-ORG)$. c) Organic ketchup, produced in the Czech Republic, 550 g indicated filling quantity, 0.29 g colored PP cap, 0.29 g multilayer seal and 0.37 g PP labels. 210 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: 1.99 $\in (PP-550-ORG)$. d) Organic hyperbody of g clear transparent PP bottle with 9.79 g colored PP cap, 0.32 g multilayer seal and 1.27 g paper labels. 210 g tomatoes per 100 g ketchup. Sales price: 1.99 $\in (PP-550-ORG)$. d) Organic tert. 1.59 $\in (GL-480-ORG)$.

2. Materials and methods

In this section, we first present the case study. Based on this, selected criteria and their quantification is discussed. Finally, the selection and calculation of a suitable method for the sustainability evaluation is presented.

2.1. Case study: tomato ketchup

Tomato ketchup was chosen as a case study. Ketchup is made from fresh tomatoes or tomato puree, sugar and/or sweetener, spices and seasoning, salt and vinegar. The final product must have a minimum of 28% dry mass (Bundesministerium für Arbeit, Soziales, Gesundheit und Konsumentenschutz, 2015). In Austria, 3.8 kg of ketchup is consumed per capita and year (Statista GmbH, 2019).

The following products of different brands were purchased at various supermarket chains (Fig. 1):

2.2. Life cycle assessment

Life cycle assessment is a well-known method to assess environmental impacts across the life cycle of a product, frequently used in food and food packaging studies (Fraval et al., 2019). LCA for this article was based on ISO 14040 (ISO, 2006a) with additional guidance from the Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) (European Commission, 2017), which is being currently developed by the European Commission. In contrast to ISO 14040, the PEF guidance includes stricter recommendations. For this study, the PEF guidance was used for:

- Selection of life cycle impact categories
- Identification of the most relevant life cycle impact categories
- Default transport distances
- · Allocation regarding input and output of secondary materials

Calculations were performed using OpenLCA and the Ecoinvent 3.5 database. LCA for the case study was limited to secondary data only. This type of LCA method can be considered as 'streamlined LCA', which has the benefit of reducing the expenditure of time and resources (Speck et al., 2015).

2.2.1. Functional unit, reference flow and system boundaries

The functional unit (FU) was defined as 'consumption of 3.8 kg ketchup'. This led to different reference flows for the examined products, determined by the loss of ketchup due to poor emptiability. As an example, if 50% of food loss and waste (FLW) occurs at the consumer, all environmental impacts up to the point of loss are doubled (Wikström et al., 2014). System boundaries and the resulting presented life cycle stages include:

- Packaging: Raw materials, manufacturing of glass and plastic bottles, transport of empty bottles to the ketchup production site, disposal of packaging
- Ketchup processing: Cultivation of tomatoes and sugar, thermal and electrical energy used in the production of ketchup
- Transport of the final product to an Austrian supermarket
- Transport of the final product from the supermarket to the home of the consumer
- Food loss and waste: Calculated as the difference between provisioned and consumed ketchup

2.2.2. Life cycle inventory of packaging manufacturing

Ketchup bottles were first emptied (see Section 2.2.8) before the packaging was disassembled and weighed. Packaging manufacturing was then modelled using Ecoinvent datasets, taking the respective datasets for the raw materials and their manufacturing processes. No recycled content was assumed for plastic packaging and 40% for flint glass bottles (European Commission, 2019a). Transport distances between the packaging manufacturers to the ketchup production site were assumed to be (i) 230 km by truck, (ii) 280 km by train and (iii) 87 km by ship for plastic bottles. For glass bottles a transport of (i) 350 km by truck, (ii) 39 km by train and (iii) 87 km by ship was chosen (European Commission, 2017).

2.2.3. Life cycle inventory of agricultural production

For the life cycle inventory of ketchup, the quantity of tomatoes used in processing was taken from the label. From this, the quantity of added sugar was calculated after subtracting the stated sugar content from the sugar contained in the tomatoes, assuming a sugar content of 2.6% and a water content of 95% of the average fruit (USDA, 2019). Among the examined products were ones of organic and conventional agriculture. Organic farming is often associated with reduced farm inputs and higher soil carbon sequestration, therefore reducing environmental impacts compared to conventional agriculture. However, there is an ongoing debate concerning the actual sustainability of organic agriculture, since this agricultural practice often leads to lower yields, which increases greenhouse gas emissions in some cases (Smith et al., 2019). Regarding tomatoes, organic agriculture may have lower (He et al., 2016; Ronga et al., 2019) or higher yields (Stanhill, 1990), which in turn leads to lower (He et al., 2016) or higher (Ronga et al., 2019; Vermeulen and CJM, 2011) environmental impacts compared to conventional tomatoes. Moreover, comparative LCA studies of organic and conventional agriculture are not always able to capture the differences (Meier et al., 2015). For this paper, it was assumed that organic agriculture is a beneficial concerning sustainability due to it having multiple ecological and social benefits, such as greater biodiversity and fewer potential negative effects on human health (Shennan et al., 2017). Nonetheless, there is no Ecoinvent dataset available for organic tomatoes. Since the impact of organic agriculture could not be considered in the LCA, it was included as an additional criterion. Quantification of organic agriculture was carried out by assigning a value of '1' for products of organic, and a value of '0' for products of conventional agriculture. Other ingredients of tomato ketchup such as vinegar and spices were excluded from the analysis due to their small and unknown quantities.

2.2.4. Life cycle inventory of ketchup processing

In the manufacturing process of ketchup, tomatoes are heated with steam to up to 99 °C (Amón et al., 2015). Thermal energy consumption of this process was calculated as the product of the latent heat of vaporization of water at 100 °C (2.26 MJ/kg) and the volume of water needed to be evaporated to achieve the final water content of the respective ketchup. This water content was estimated as the difference between 100% and the sum of carbohydrates, fat, protein and assumed average ash content of 3% (Sharoba et al., 2005). It was assumed that waste heat is not recovered (Amón et al., 2015). The electricity consumption of ketchup manufacturing was taken from existing literature (Andersson et al., 1998). Country-specific electricity mixes and transport distances to Austria were considered, with a modal split of 75% lorry and 25% freight train (eurostat, 2019b) (eurostat, 2019b) for international transports. The following distances for the transport of the final products between productions sites and Austrian retail were estimated:

- Ketchup produced in Austria: 200 km
- Ketchup produced in the Czech Republic: 375 km
- Ketchup produced in Italy: 950 km

2.2.5. Transports of final products

The transport of the final products between the supermarket and the home of the consumer was assumed to be 5 km, of which 62% were allocated to a passenger car with a trunk of load of 200 l, 5% to a van and 33% were not allocated (Castellani et al., 2018; European Commission,

2019a). As a result, the distribution of 1 l ketchup is associated with 0.0155 km driven by passenger car.

A summary of data concerning the modelled foreground system is presented in Table 1.

2.2.6. Selection of impact categories

Initially, all 16 impact categories recommended by PEF (Castellani et al., 2018) were calculated. Then, the PEF guidance was followed for the selection of the most relevant impact categories.

First, all impact categories were normalized, meaning that their magnitude of relative to a reference information (ISO, 2006b) (in the context of PEF the impacts of an average world citizen per year) were calculated. Next, the normalized values were weighted using the values provided by the PEF guidance. Accordingly, the three toxicity impact categories shall not be used for benchmarking with assigned weights of 0%, since their methodology is not yet considered as robust enough. Finally, the most relevant impact categories were identified based on the ones that contribute at least 80% to the total sum (European Commission, 2017). Relevant impact categories were the same for all products. This is also true for their order of contribution except for GL-480-GORG, where the ranks of particulate matter and acidification are wapped (Table 2).

Consequently, results of the most relevant impact categories per functional unit are used as criteria in the MCDA. Normalized and weighted results were only used for the procedure of selecting the most relevant impact categories. Results of all impact categories, their respective contribution to the total, as well as normalization and weighting factors are listed in the supplementary material.

2.2.7. End-of-life and allocations

The use of recycled content and the disposal of the packaging was nodelled according to the Circular Footprint Formula listed in the PEF guidance (European Commission, 2017). Energy savings of 2.5% per 10% recycled content are assumed for the production of glass bottles Stettler et al., 2016). Life cycle inventory data of plastic recycling processes in Austria was taken from literature (van Eygen et al., 2018b), with quality factors of recyclate of 1.00 for glass and metal (European Commission, 2019a), as well as 0.67 for polypropylene (calculated as the average ratio of market prices between September 2018 and 2019 plasticker et al., 2019)).

For this article, it was assumed that PP bottles contaminated with extechup can be recycled. However, this might not be true since ketchup residues may affect the sorting and/or recycling process as has been shown for PET bottles (Boesveld, 2011). It was assumed that all PP botrelates consist of 5% by weight of ethylene vinyl alcohol (Hedenqvist, 2018), which still allows the bottle to be recycled (FH Campus Wien, 2019). Consequently, the only non-recyclable packaging components were multilayer seals and paper labels.

Recycling rates in Austria are 14% for polypropylene bottles (van Eygen et al., 2018a), 84% for glass and 86% for metal packaging eurostat, 2019c). Polypropylene caps are currently not recycled in Austria (van Eygen et al., 2018a). Due to landfill restrictions in Austria Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft, 2008), only non-recycled quantities of metal and glass packaging were assumed to be landfilled, while non-recycled plastic packaging was assumed to be incinerated.

2.8. Indirect environmental effects due to FLW

Quantifying packaging-related FLW is challenging (Wohner et al., 019a) and therefore often omitted in studies of food-packaging systems (Molina-Besch et al., 2018). In a previous study we proposed a nethod for testing dairy products on their 'technical emptiability' and s integration in LCA studies (Wohner et al., 2019b) as a possibility to neasure packaging-related FLW. For the present case study, not only ichnical but also practical emptiability was tested. Finally, the results

of practical emptiability were taken to calculate the respective reference flows of the investigated products associated with the functional unit.

Practical emptiability simulates an average emptying behavior by the consumer. For plastic bottles, first the bottles were shaken three times and squeezed until air was released. Next, the bottles were swiveled and then squeezed again until air was released. This step was repeated three times. Glass bottles were shaken three times and then held upside down for 2 min. Subsequently, the bottles were shaken three times and then held upside for 1 min.

Technical emptiability represents the best possible emptying procedure without damaging the packaging. For this, both glass and plastic bottles including their caps were scraped with a dedicated ketchup spoon (length of 24.5 cm) after practical emptiability tests.

Finally, the emptiability index was expressed as the ratio of ketchup left in the bottle to the original filling quantity. Testing was performed at room temperature ($22 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C} \pm 1$). Based on previous studies, a sample size of 6 was taken to assure significant results (Meurer et al., 2017; Wohner et al., 2019b).

2.3. Economic assessment

Life cycle costing is an approach often used for the economic evaluation of a product. 'Conventional' LCC represents the historic practice of economic assessments, which includes costs associated with a product and which are generally presented only from one, the producer's or consumer's, perspective (Hunkeler et al., 2008). Further, conventional LCC is often performed not all along the entire supply chain, often excluding End-of-Life operations. In contrast, 'environmental LCC' is performed alongside LCA, using the same system boundaries and models and thus covering the whole life cycle of a product. Moreover, by including the full life cycle, environmental LCC enables the economic evaluation of a product from a system's perspective. Therefore, according to Hunkeler et al. (2008), environmental LCC should be the approach of choice for sustainability assessments. Hence, the economic evaluation in this paper is conducted taking the 'value added' approach (VA). Generally, the revenues (R) for selling a product are higher than its production costs (C) (Heijungs et al., 2013), resulting in a margin which is referred to as "added value", given in a monetary unit, in this study Euro (€).

$$VA = R - C$$

Consequently, the total life cycle cost is the "sum of all value added over the life cycle" (Moreau and Weidema, 2015). Since environmental impacts are already covered by the LCA, their associated costs are not included in VA, as this would be considered as double-counting.

In this paper, VA is calculated following the same principles as for the LCA. Therefore, the final VA result is the sum of value added by the production and disposal of ketchup, its packaging and all related transport, with additional consideration of the final sales price. This can be expressed as follows:

$$VA_{Total} = VA_{IN} - C_{IN} + VA_{EN} - C_{EN} + VA_{PA} - C_{PA} + VA_{TR} - C_{TR} + R_{PU} - C_{PU} + VA_{EoL}$$

where:

- VA_{Total}: Total VA of the respective product
- VA_{IN}: VA of agricultural production of ingredients (tomatoes and sugar) (calculated as the total of the difference between costs for producing and revenues of selling tomatoes or sugar, and the VA for all upstream processes)
- C_{IN}: Costs to the ketchup producer for purchasing ingredients
- VA_{EN}: VA of thermal and electrical energy production (calculated as the total of the difference between costs for producing and revenues of selling energy, and the VA for all upstream processes)
- C_{EN}: Costs to the ketchup producer for purchasing energy

Table 1

Summary of data for modelling the foreground system. Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450, 480 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture. Data are given per kg produced and distributed ketchup. Remaining abbreviations represent: PP, polypropylene; vkm, vehicle-kilometer; tkm, ton-kilometer.

| | | Unit | PP-450-CNV | PP-380-ORG | PP-550-ORG | GL-480-ORG |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------------|------|------------|------------|------------|------------|
| Ingredients | Tomatoes | kg | 1.72 | 2.85 | 2.10 | 2.25 |
| | Added sugar | kg | 0.14 | 0.15 | 0.09 | 0.16 |
| Energy consumption for processing | Electricity | MJ | 0.38 | 0.38 | 0.38 | 0.38 |
| | Thermal energy (steam) | MJ | 2.34 | 4.82 | 2.97 | 3.62 |
| Packaging | PP bottle (blow moulded) | g | 66.50 | 59.17 | 55.60 | 0 |
| | Glass bottle | g | 458.84 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | PP cap (injection moulded) | g | 23.97 | 11.57 | 17.58 | 0 |
| | Tinplate cap | g | 0 | 0 | 0 | 9.46 |
| | Multilayer seal | g | 0.62 | 0.77 | 0.57 | 0 |
| | PP label | g | 2.15 | 1.67 | 0 | 0 |
| | Paper label | g | 0 | 0 | 2.28 | 2.50 |
| Transport from manufacturer to retail | Lorry | tkm | 0.22 | 0.21 | 0.30 | 1.03 |
| | Freight train | tkm | 0 | 0 | 0.10 | 0.37 |
| Transport from retail to consumer | Passenger car | vkm | 0.014 | 0.019 | 0.014 | 0.014 |
| | Van | tkm | 0.0001 | 0.0001 | 0.0001 | 0.0002 |

- VA_{PA}: VA of packaging production (calculated as the total of the difference between costs for producing and revenues for selling packaging, and the VA for all underlying processes)
- C_{PA}: Costs to the ketchup producer for purchasing packaging
- VA_{TR}: VA of transports (calculated as the total of difference between costs and revenues for providing transport, and the VA for all upstream processes)
- CTR: Costs to the ketchup producer for the transport of products
- R_{PU} : Revenue to the ketchup producer for selling ketchup to the consumer
- C_{PU}: Costs to the consumer for purchasing ketchup from the producer
- VA_{EOL}: VA of disposal of ketchup and packaging (calculated as the total of the difference between costs and revenues of recycling or incineration of ketchup or packaging, and the VA for all upstream processes)

For the calculation, default values available in the Ecoinvent 3.5 database version of OpenLCA were taken (Ciroth, 2016a). In OpenLCA, prices already contained but hidden in several Ecoinvent datasets were made visible by the software publisher, with information on costs added to further datasets (Ciroth, 2016b). Similar to the conducted LCA, a major limitation is that possible differences between organic and conventional tomatoes could not be considered due to a lack of data in Ecoinvent.

2.4. Multi-criteria decision analysis

2.4.1. Selection and calculation

The examined products show different results between LCA impact categories, as well as between LCA and VA results in general. Hence, the need for a method to decision making tool arises, able to solve multi-dimensional issues. In this context, multi-criteria decision analysis methods are increasingly used to identify the best possible solution out of several alternatives (Wątróbski et al., 2019a). Based on the listed criteria, a suitable MCDA method was defined as being able to (i) take different weights into account, (ii) compare criteria on a quantitative scale and (iii) generate a ranking. Using the MCDA tool (Wątróbski et al., 2019b), TOPSIS (Hwang et al., 1993) was identified as a method meeting these requirements. The following terms are defined for better readability and are frequently used in MCDA:

- Alternative: Several predetermined, limited and independent alternatives. For this study, these are the four examined products (Alinezhad and Khalili 2019).
- Criterion: A particular perspective according to which alternatives may be compared (Belton and Stewart, 2003). In the context of this study, these are comprised of the six chosen LCA impact categories and the VA.
- Attribute: a "quantitative or qualitative measure of performance associated with a particular criterion" (Belton and Stewart, 2003), which can be either beneficial (with the goal of maximization) or nonbeneficial (with the goal of minimization). In this study, the attributes are the results of VA and the chosen LCA impact categories, with the former considered as being beneficial, and the latter as being nonbeneficial.
- Normalization: Converting attributes into non-dimensional form to allow their aggregation into a final score (Jahan and Edwards, 2015; Vafaei et al., 2016)

The general calculation steps of TOPSIS can be summarized as follows (ÇELEN, 2014; Hwang et al., 1993; Kumar et al., 2017):

Most relevant life cycle impact categories, in descending order of their relevance.

| Impact category | Indicator | Unit | Life cycle impact assessment method |
|--|--|--|---|
| Climate change (CC) Resource use, fossils (FRD) Water use (WU) | Radiative forcing as Global Warming Potential (GWP100) Abiotic resource depletion – fossil fuels (ADP-fossil) User deprivation potential (deprivation-weighted water consumption) | kg CO _{2eq} MJ m ³ world _{eq} | IPCC 2013 (IPCC, 2013) CML 2002 (Bruijn et al., 2004) Available Water Remaining (AWARE) (UNEP, 2016) |
| Eutrophication, freshwater (FEU) | Fraction of nutrients reaching freshwater end compartment (P) | kg P _{eq} | EUTREND model (Goedkoop et al., 2013) |
| Acidification (AC) Particulate matter (PM) | Accumulated Exceedance (AE) Impact on human health | mol H + _{eq} Disease incidence | Accumulated Exceedance (Posch et al., 2008) PM method (UNEP, 2016) |

B. Wohner et al. / Science of the Total Environment 738 (2020) 139846

1. Creation of a decision matrix

 $X = (x_{ij})_{mxn}$

consisting of *m* alternatives $(A_1, A_2, ..., A_m)$ and *n* criteria $(C_1, C_2, ..., C_n)$, with the intersection of each alternative and criteria given as x_{ij} .

2. Normalization of the decision matrix:

$$r_{ij} = \frac{x_{ij}}{\sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{m} x_{kj}^2}}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., m and j = 1, 2, ..., n

3. Calculation of the weighted normalized decision matrix by multiplication of the normalized matrix with the attribute's weights (w_i):

$$v_{ij} = w_j * r_{ij},$$

i = 1, 2, ..., m and j = 1, 2, ..., n where $w_j = \frac{W_j}{\sum_{i=1}^n W_i} j = 1, 2, ..., n$ 4. Determination of worst alternative A_w (or negative ideal solution) = 1, 2, ..., m and j = 1, 2, ..., nand best alternation of worst alternative A_b (or p and best alternative A_b (or p $A_w = \{\langle \max(v_{ij}|i = 1, 2, ..., m) | i = 1, 2, ..., m \}$ $\equiv \{v_{wj} \mid j = 1, 2, ..., m\}$ $\equiv \{v_{bj} \mid j = 1, 2, ..., m\} \mid j \in J.$ and best alternative A_b (or positive ideal solution):

$$\begin{split} A_{\rm w} &= \left\{ \left\langle \mbox{ max} (v_{ij} | i = 1, 2, ..., m) | \ j \in J_{-} \right\rangle, \left\langle \mbox{ min} (v_{ij} | \ i = 1, 2, ..., m) | \ j \in J_{+} \right\rangle \right\} \\ &\equiv \left\{ v_{wj} \mid j = 1, 2, ..., n \end{split}$$

$$A_{b} = \{ \langle \min(v_{ij} | i = 1, 2, ..., m) | j \in J_{-} \rangle, \langle \max(v_{ij} | i = 1, 2, ..., m) | j \in J_{+} \rangle \}$$

= $\{ v_{bi} | j = 1, 2, ..., n, \}$

 $_{+} = \{j = 1, 2, ..., n \mid j,$

 $\frac{\omega}{\omega}$ and for non-beneficial attributes:

$$J_{-} = \{j = 1, 2, ..., n \mid j$$

Calculation of the Euclidean distance of each alternative to the worst (d_{iw}) and best solution (d_{ib}) :

$$d_{iw} = \sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{n} (v_{ij} - v_{wj})^2}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\mathbf{v}_{ij} - \mathbf{v}_{bj} \right)^2$$

^{$\bigcirc} where$ *i*= 1, 2, ...,*m*</sup>

Calculation of the relative closeness (CC_i) of each alternative to the ideal solution:

$$CC_i = \frac{d_{iw}}{d_{iw} + d_{ib}}$$

Ranking of the alternatives according to CCi (i = 1, 2, ..., m)

Individual calculation steps of TOPSIS for the case study are listed in e supplementary material.

2.4.2. Determination of weights

Determination of criteria weights is equally crucial and controversial since there is an abundant number of methods regarding this procedure which all produce different results and thus considerably influence the outcome of an MCDA. Such methods can be classified either (i) a priori, where weights are determined before data is collected, or (ii) a posteriori, were the determination of weights occurs after data collection. While a priori weights are generally elicited by expert interviews or questionnaires, a posteriori weights are calculated based on the collected data for each alternative (Kao, 2010).

For this paper, three weighting sets were calculated and used for TOPSIS, namely (i) equal weighting, (ii) Criteria Importance through Intercriteria Correlation (CRITIC) (Diakoulaki et al., 1995) and (iii) entropy (Li et al., 2011), similar to a sustainability assessment of biodiesel (Anwar et al., 2019).

2.4.2.1. Equal weighting. Equal weighting is the simplest type of weighting method, in which each criterion is given the same importance. In this study, 8 criteria were selected, which results in a weight (w_i) of 12.5% per criteria.

$$W_j = \frac{1}{8}$$

2.4.2.2. Weights of criteria using CRITIC. Calculating weights using CRITIC is performed by characterizing each vector by its standard deviation and a subsequent construction of a symmetric matrix with linear correlation coefficients between the vectors (Alinezhad and Khalili 2019).

First, the decision matrix is normalized as follows:

$$x_{ij} = \frac{r_{ij} - r_i}{r_i^+ - r_i^-}$$
$$x_{ij} = \frac{r_{ij} - r_i^+}{r_i^- - r_i^+},$$

where i = 1, ..., m and j = 1, ..., n and x_{ij} representing the normalized value for alternative *i* and attribute *j*, with

$$r_i^+ = \max(r_1, r_2, \dots, r_m)$$

 $r_i^- = \min(r_1, r_2, ..., r_m)$

Then, the correlation coefficient between attributes is calculated as follows:

$$\rho_{jk} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (x_{ij} - \overline{x_j}) (x_{ik} - \overline{x_k})}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (x_{ij} - \overline{x_j})^2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} (x_{ik} - \overline{x_k})^2}}$$

with $\overline{x_i}$ and $\overline{x_k}$ representing the mean of jth and kth attributes, calculated as

$$\overline{x}_j = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^n x_{ij}$$

 $\overline{x}_{k} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{ik}$

$$n \underset{k=1}{\overset{}{\underset{k=1}{\overset{}}}}$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., m.

After that, the standard deviation of each attribute is calculated as

$$\sigma_j = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1}\sum_{j=1}^n (x_{ij} - \overline{x}_j)^2}$$

where *i* = 1, ..., *m*.

Next, the index (C) is calculated as:

$$C_j = \sigma_j \sum_{k=1}^n \left(1 - \rho_{jk} \right)$$

Finally, the weight of attributes is derived by:

$$w_j = \frac{C_j}{\sum_{j=1}^n C_j}$$

2.4.2.3. Weights of criteria using entropy. First, the decision matrix is normalized as follows:

$$\overline{r_{ij}} = \frac{r_{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} r_{ij}}$$

where j = 1, 2, ..., n and $\overline{r_{ij}}$ is the normalized value of the decision matrix. Then, the degree of entropy is determined:

$$E_j = -\frac{1}{\ln m} \sum_{i=1}^m \overline{r}_{ij} \ln \overline{r}_{ij},$$

where j = 1, 2, ..., n and $0 < E_j < 1$. Next, the deviation rate is calculated by:

$$d_j = 1 - E_j,$$

where j = 1, 2, ..., n. Finally, weights of attributes are derived by:

$$w_j = \frac{d_j}{\sum_{j=1}^n d_j}$$

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Emptiability

Practical emptiability of the examined bottles ranges from 3.85% (\pm 0.41) to 28.80% (\pm 3.30), while this can be substantially reduced to between 3.37% (\pm 0.29) and 7.08% (\pm 0.61) when a spoon is used ('technical emptiability') (Fig. 2). Variability was calculated as 95% confidence intervals.

In previous studies, the emptiability index of ketchup was reported as 0.5% to 26% (Andersson et al., 1998) in PP bottles and 30% to 52% (Boesveld, 2011) in PET bottles, which shows that the quantity of ketchup remaining in the package can even be higher.

From the figure above (Fig. 2), it is apparent that the product in a glass bottle (GL-480-ORG) has the best emptiability. In contrast, PP-380-ORG has the poorest. Important to emphasize is that emptiability is a function of both product and packaging, thus not allowing the generalization of glass being better than plastic packaging, since the products in different packages were not identical. Emptiability is mainly influenced by the packaging geometry, the surface tension of food and packaging, and particularly by the viscosity of food (Schmidt, 2011). Besides processing conditions, viscosity of ketchup increases with its tomato content. Since the product with the highest tomato content yielded the worst emptiability, this may result in being one of the major drivers of FLW. One major limitation here is that the portioning behavior of the products could not be considered. With the glass bottle, dosing may be more difficult than with the plastic bottles. This could lead to the consumer emptying more ketchup than required which may ultimately result in disposing of it.

Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA (Fisher's with Tukey post hoc test for samples with equality of variances and Welch's with Games-Howell post hoc test for samples without equality



Fig. 2. Emptiability results of examined ketchup products. Bars represent the mean, while error bars are 95% confidence intervals (n = 6). Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture.

of variances), after testing for normality with Shapiro Wilk tests. All statistical tests were performed with the software 'Jamovi' (version 1.1.7) (The jamovi project, 2019) and can be found in the supplementary material.

3.2. LCA results

Climate change results of all products (Fig. 3a) range from 5.66 to 9.16 kg CO_{2eq} per functional unit (FU) respectively. Packaging is responsible for 24% to 26% of the total for PP-450-CNV, PP-550-ORG and GL-480-ORG, but only 12% for PP-380-ORG due to its high tomato content and poor emptiability (Fig. 3a-f). In other impact categories, plastic packaging contributes 7% to 13% and glass packaging 29% to 31% to the overall result. Obviously, direct environmental impacts of glass packaging are associated with greater environmental impacts than plastic bottles, which is well in line with results of other LCA studies (Boesen et al., 2019; Humbert et al., 2009; Niero and Kalbar, 2019). Nonetheless, this is compensated for by its good emptiability.

Concerning the total LCA results, the most influential factors are FLW, the tomato content and the resulting thermal energy required for water vaporization. Regarding water use, cultivation of tomatoes is almost solely responsible for environmental impacts. Taken together, production and loss of food is substantially more relevant than its associated packaging concerning environmental impacts. By contrast, transport is of relatively low importance. One interesting outcome is that LCA results of PP-550-ORG are better than PP-450-CNV, which would not be the case if FLW would have been excluded. This finding underlines the value of quantifying and integrating packaging-related FLW into life cycle assessments.

Detailed LCA results and results of the remaining calculated impact categories are listed in the supplementary material.

3.3. Value added results

Value added results for the investigated products (Fig. 4) show a similar picture to that of the LCA results with the important difference that here, higher values are considered as beneficial. Therefore, VA results are in fact diametrically opposed to most of the impact categories of the performed LCA. This arises mostly from the effect that a greater material intensity leads to more value added along the supply chain,



Fig. 3. Life cycle assessment results of most relevant impact categories for ketchup. Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) e content of bottles of 380, 450, 480 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture.

hich contradicts the goal of eco-economic decoupling (European pmmission, 2011).

Consequently, since the sales price of a product is higher than its coduction costs, poorer emptiability also leads to a greater VA result. or PP-380-ORG, this is particularly clear, since it has the highest tomato ontent as well as the poorest emptiability. Furthermore, the calculated argin regarding the sales price for this product is substantially greater compared to the others. This is confirmed by other studies indicating that smaller packages generally generate higher revenues than larger ones (Yonezawa and Richards, 2016).

In contrast, GL-480-ORG, is not only the one with the lowest sales price per kg, but also the one with the best emptiability, leading to the worst VA results in comparison. Using conventional LCC and taking the consumer's perspective, the results would be exactly the other



Fig. 4. Value added results. Original quantity is 3.8 kg of ketchup, while the quantity due to food loss and waste (FLW) is generated by the respective emptiability of the products. Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450, 480 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture.

way around. Costs to the consumer for eating 3.8 kg ketchup would be 42.35 \in for PP-380-ORG, but only 11.12 \in for GL-480-ORG. In turn, from the manufacturer's point of view, a higher loss would be preferable as the quantity sold would increase. As Wood and Hertwich (2013) point out, life cycle costing results should generally be maximized from society's perspective to generate economic growth but minimized from an individual's perspective to save costs. Consequently, we agree with Heijungs et al. (2013) who raised the question: "What do we in fact want to learn from life cycle costing"?

We conclude that taking a system's perspective is more relevant in the context of sustainability assessments than taking an individual's perspective. Thus, despite its limitations, we still consider VA as a suitable method for performing environmental LCC together with LCA. Nonetheless, ff this debate is to be moved forward, methods portraying a broader economic scope should be developed. Previous research has already demonstrated how not only economic growth, but also characteristics such as consumer satisfaction, business diversity or long-term investments could be considered in new methods concerning life cycle costing (Neugebauer et al., 2016).

3.4. Sustainability evaluation using TOPSIS

After determining LCA and VA results, the decision matrix for TOPSIS was created (Table 3).

Next, weights were calculated based on the approaches of equal weighting, CRITIC and entropy (Table 4) described in Section 2.4.2.

Using CRITIC, VA and organic agriculture are given more, LCA results less weight compared to equal or entropy weights.

Finally, after following the calculation steps laid out in Section 2.4.1, the final closeness values using TOPSIS were determined, with the most sustainable food-packaging system being the one closest to '1.00' (Fig. 5).

Closeness values of the products differ greatly depending on the chosen weighting set. Nonetheless, PP-550-ORG performs best concerning all three weighting sets, which is followed by GL-480-ORG. The most striking observation is the difference in performance of PP-380-ORG and PP-450-CNV, which is the consequence of the higher importance of LCA results in the entropy and organic agriculture in the CRITIC weighting set. As discussed in Section 3.3, VA increases with material intensity and FLW. If TOPSIS were calculated with life cycle costs from the consumer's perspective, this would have a positive impact on the results of GL-480-ORG and a negative impact on PP-380-ORG.

Since the study was limited to the use of secondary data, generalization of these results is limited. Furthermore, these results are only applicable to Austria, due to recycling rates of packaging and costs of these products are only viable for this country. Depending on the country of marketing, the evaluation could change substantially. Furthermore, the difference of organic and conventional agriculture could not be captured in the calculation of LCA and VA, which however was addressed by considering it as an additional criterion in the MCDA.

4. Conclusions

The main aim of this study was to combine environmental and economic assessments of food-packaging systems, including and putting the focus on indirect effects of food loss. Historically, most LCA studies of packaging did not consider FLW (Molina-Besch et al., 2018), predominantly due its quantification being challenging (Wohner et al., 2019a). In this study, FLW was quantified by testing the emptiability of products, which was then integrated into the LCA and VA calculations of the examined products. As a result, environmental impacts increased, and more surprisingly, also the value added to the economy, which is, however, inherent in the respective method (Wood and Hertwich, 2013).

A further limitation is the exclusion of criteria of taste or quality. A point could be made that PP-380-ORG is the product with the highest tomato content and thus the one with the highest quality. However, this is highly subjective and would have to be the subject of sensory testing which was outwith the scope of this study.

We conclude and agree with authors of similar previous studies that TOPSIS assists in overcoming the limitations inherent in LCA

Table 3

Decision matrix of TOPSIS for case study. Abbreviations for products represent (i) the packaging material as polypropylene (PP) or glass (GL), (ii) the content of bottles of 380, 450, 480 or 550 g and (iii) if the ketchup is a product of conventional (CNV) or organic (ORG) agriculture.

Abbreviations for criteria represent, beneficial (B) or non-beneficial (NB): CC (climate change), FRD (resource use, fossils), WU (water use), FEU (Eutrophication, freshwater), AC (acidification), PM (Particulate matter), and VA (Value Added).

| 2 | 5 | Type of criterion | Unit | PP-450-CNV | PP-380-ORG | PP-550-ORG | GL-480- ORG |
|------------------------|-------|----------------------|--------------------------|------------|------------|------------|----------------|
| | сс | NB | kg CO _{2eq} /FU | 5.97E+00 | 9.16E+00 | 5.66E+00 | 6.54E+00 |
| | FRD | NB | MJ/FU | 9.40E+01 | 1.37E+02 | 8.62E+01 | 9.65E+01 |
| | wu | NB | m³ _{eq} /FU | 1.23E+01 | 2.15E+01 | 1.28E+01 | 1.29E+01 |
| LCA | FEU | NB | kg P _{eq} /FU | 1.40E-03 | 2.11E-03 | 1.26E-03 | 1.58E-03 |
| | AC | NB | mol H⁺ _{eq} /FU | 3.90E-02 | 6.06E-02 | 3.54E-02 | 4.95E-02 |
| | РМ | NB | disease incidence/FU | 3.02E-07 | 4.72E-07 | 2.82E-07 | 4.51E-07 |
| Organic agriculture | | В | yes (1) / no (0) | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Value | added | В | €/FU | 13.02 | 17.83 | 11.67 | 9.85 |

| Category | Criteria | Equal | Critic | Entropy |
|-----------------------|------------|-------|--------|---------|
| Life cycle assessment | СС | 12.5% | 6.8% | 14.4% |
| | FOSSILS | 12.5% | 7.5% | 13.9% |
| | WATER | 12.5% | 8.4% | 17.3% |
| | FW_EUTROPH | 12.5% | 6.8% | 14.3% |
| L | FW_ACID | 12.5% | 8.0% | 14.2% |
| | RESP | 12.5% | 15.2% | 13.3% |
| Organic agriculture | Yes/no | 12.5% | 32.2% | 7.5% |
| Economic assessment | VA | 12.5% | 15.2% | 5.1% |



sustainability assessment of food-packaging systems can solve multi-dimensional issues, particularly of conflicting sustainability goals. TOPSIS provides a single score and therefore an easy to understand indication of the best possible solution. However, it is not without its limitations. TOPSIS does not provide a 'final word' since the selection of criteria and weights strongly influence the results, again shown in this study. Furthermore, sustainability may be considered as a social construct and, arguably, weighting sets should then only be determined subjectively (Mollayosefi et al., 2019). While this may be a benefit due to it being highly adaptable to the preferences of one decision maker, it is then challenging to compare the results of one such study to those of others (Maxim, 2014). A natural progression of this work would be to apply this method to an increasing number of different food-packaging systems. Furthermore, future studies could incorporate social life cycle assessments to depict all three pillars of sustainability. Additionally, the economic assessment could be enhanced by developing environmental LCC methods which cover a more extensive scope of economic sustainability. Finally, while admittedly challenging, a greater focus on quantifying FLW besides emptiability and the integration into such assessments would produce a better and broader insight into the sustainability of food-packaging systems.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Bernhard Wohner: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualization. Viktoria Helene Gabriel:Conceptualization. Writing - review & editing,Barbara Krenn:Conceptualization, Formal analysis.Victoria Krauter: Conceptualization, Validation, Writing - review & editing, Supervision.Manfred Tacker:Conceptualization, Validation, Resources, Writing - review & editing, Supervision.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

Reinhard Zeilinger assisted with the statistical analysis. Vivienne Nieuwenhuizen created figures. Mary Wallis provided comments on the manuscript.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139846.

References

- Alinezhad, A., Khalili, J., 2019. CRITIC method. In: Alinezhad, A., Khalili, J. (Eds.), New Methods and Applications in Multiple Attribute Decision Making (MADM). Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 199–203.
- Altstoff Recycling Austria AG, 2018. Transparenzbericht 2018: Die Zukunft der Kreislaufwirtschaft. Austria, Vienna.
- Amón, R., Maulhardt, M., Wong, T., Kazama, D., Simmons, C.W., 2015. Waste heat and water recovery opportunities in California tomato paste processing. Appl. Therm. Eng. 78, 525–532.
- Andersson, K., Ohlsson, T., Olsson, P., 1998. Screening life cycle assessment (LCA) of tomato ketchup: a case study. J. Clean. Prod. 6 (3–4), 277–288.
- Anwar, M., Rasul, M.G., Ashwath, N., 2019. The efficacy of multiple-criteria design matrix for biodiesel feedstock selection. Energy Convers. Manag. 198, 111790.
- Bacenetti, J., Cavaliere, A., Falcone, G., Giovenzana, V., Banterle, A., Guidetti, R., 2018. Shelf life extension as solution for environmental impact mitigation: a case study for bakery products. Sci. Total Environ. 627, 997–1007.
- Belton, V., Stewart, T.J., 2003. Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: An Integrated Approach. 2nd ed. Kluwer Acad. Publ, Boston, Mass.
- Beretta, C., Hellweg, S., 2019. Potential environmental benefits from food waste prevention in the food service sector. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 147, 169–178. http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921344919301284.
- Boesen, S., Bey, N., Niero, M., 2019. Environmental sustainability of liquid food packaging: is there a gap between Danish consumers' perception and learnings from life cycle assessment? J. Clean. Prod. 210, 1193–1206.
- Boesveld, E., 2011. The Recycling of Heinz PET Packaging in Europe. Bachelor thesis. Enschede, Netherlands. https://essay.utwente.nl/62202/4/Verslag_Els_Boesveld.pdf, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- Bruijn, H., Duin, R., Huijbregts, M.A.J., Guinee, J.B., Gorree, M., Heijungs, R., et al., 2004. Handbook on Life Cycle Assessment: Operational Guide to the ISO Standards. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Bundeskanzleramt, Bundesministerium Öffentlicher Dienst und Sport, Bundesministerium Nachhaltigkeit und Tourimus, 2018. Maßnahmen der österreichischen Bundesregierung zur Reduktion von Plastikabfällen in Österreich. 38/18.
- Bundesministerium für Arbeit, Soziales, Gesundheit und Konsumentenschutz, 2015. Österreichisches Lebensmittelhandbuch. Codexkapitel/B 24/Gemüse und Gemüsedauerwaren.
- Bundesministerium f
 ür Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft, 2008. Bundesrecht konsolidiert: Gesamte Rechtsvorschrift f
 ür Deponieverordnung 2008, Fassung vom 08.11.2019: DVO 2008.
- Castellani, V., Diaconu, E., Fazio, S., Sala, S., Schau, E.M., Secchi, M., et al., 2018. Supporting Information to the Characterisation Factors of Recommended EF Life Cycle Impact Assessment Methods: New Methods and Differences with ILCD. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- ÇELEN, A., 2014. Comparative analysis of normalization procedures in TOPSIS method: with an application to Turkish deposit banking market. Informatica 24 (2), 185–208.
- Ciroth, A., 2016a. Life Cycle Costing and Calculation of Value Added in openLCA. https:// www.openlca.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Life-Cycle-Costing-in-openLCA.pdf, Accessed date: 15 April 2020.
- Ciroth, A., 2016b. Life Cycle Costing in openLCA 1.5 with Ecoinvent 3.2 Extended. https:// www.openlca.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Webinar-Life-Cycle-Costing-inopenLCA-1.5-with-ecoinvent-3.2-extended.pdf, Accessed date: 14 May 2020.
- Conte, A., Cappelletti, G.M., Nicoletti, G.M., Russo, C., Del Nobile, M.A., 2015. Environmental implications of food loss probability in packaging design. Food Research International (Ottawa, Ont.) 78, 11–17.
- Diakoulaki, D., Mavrotas, G., Papayannakis, L., 1995. Determining objective weights in multiple criteria problems: the critic method. Comput. Oper. Res. 22 (7), 763–770.
- European Commission, 2011. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Commitee and the Committee of the Regions: Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe. European Commission, Brussels.
- European Commission, 2017. PEFCR Guidance Document: Guidance for the Development of Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PEFCRSs). version 6.3. http://ec. europa.eu/environment/eussd/smgp/pdf/PEFCR_guidance_v6.3.pdf, Accessed date: 17 April 2019.
- European Commission, 2019a. Product Environmental Footprint Guidance: Annex C List of Default Values for A, R1, R2, R3 and Qs/Qp. https://eplca.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ permalink/Annex_C_Transition_CFF.xlsx, Accessed date: 29 April 2020.
- European Commission, 2019b. Circular Economy: Implementation of the Circular Economy Action Plan. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/circular-economy/index_en. htm, Accessed date: 11 December 2019.

- European Commission (DG ENV Directorate C), 2018. A European Strategy for Plastics in a Circular Economy: Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament. the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee of the Regions, Brussels, Belgium.
- eurostat, 2019a. Circular Economy in the EU: Record Recycling Rates and Use of Recycled Materials in the EU. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/9629294/8-04032019-BP-EN.pdf/295c2302-4ed1-45b9-af86-96d1bbb7acb1, Accessed date: 7 January 2020.
- eurostat, 2019b. Freight Transport Statistics Modal Split Statistics Explained. https://ec. europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Freight_transport_statistics_-_modal_split#Modal_split_in_the_EU, Accessed date: 2 December 2019.
- eurostat, 2019c. Statistics | Eurostat: Recycling Rates for Packaging Waste. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ten00063/default/table?lang=en, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- van Eygen, E., Laner, D., Fellner, J., 2018a. Circular economy of plastic packaging: current practice and perspectives in Austria. Waste Management (New York, N.Y.) 72, 55–64.
- van Eygen, E., Laner, D., Fellner, J., 2018b. Integrating high-resolution material flow data into the environmental assessment of waste management system scenarios: the case of plastic packaging in Austria. Environmental Science & Technology 52 (19), 10934–10945.
- FAO, 2019. The State of Food and Agriculture 2019: Moving Forward on Food Loss and Waste Reduction. Rome. .
- FH Campus Wien, 2019. Circular Packaging Design Guideline: Design Recommendations for Recyclable Packaging. https://www.fh-campuswien.ac.at/fileadmin/redakteure/ Veranstaltungen/Circular_Packaging_Day/FH-Campus-Wien_Circular-Packaging-Design-Guideline_V02.pdf, Accessed date: 8 November 2019.
- Fraval, S., van Middelaar, C.E., Ridoutt, B.G., Opio, C., 2019. Life cycle assessment of food products. Encyclopedia of Food Security and Sustainability. Elsevier, pp. 488–496.
- Goedkoop, M., Heijungs, R., Huijbregts, M., An, D.S., Jaap, S., vZ, Rosalie, 2013. ReCiPE 2008: A Life Cycle Impact Assessment Method which Comprises Harmonised Category Indicators at the Midpoint and the Endpoint Level.
- Gustavsson, J., Cederberg, C., Sonesson, U., 2011. Global Food Losses and Food Waste: Extent, Causes and Prevention; Study Conducted for the International Congress Save Food! At Interpack 2011, [16–17 May], Düsseldorf, Germany. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- He, X., Qiao, Y., Liu, Y., Dendler, L., Yin, C., Martin, F., 2016. Environmental impact assessment of organic and conventional tomato production in urban greenhouses of Beijing city, China. J. Clean. Prod. 134, 251–258.
- city, China. J. Clean. Prod. 134, 251–258. Hedenqvist, M.S., 2018. Barrier packaging materials. In: Hedenqvist, M. (Ed.), Handbook of Environmental Degradation of Materials. Elsevier, pp. 559–581.
- Heijungs, R., Settanni, E., Guinée, J., 2013. Toward a computational structure for life cycle sustainability analysis: unifying LCA and LCC. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 18 (9), 1722–1733.
- HOFER, 2018. Medieninformation: HOFER packt aus: Diskonter startet Offensive zur Reduktion von Verpackungsmüll. https://www.hofer.at/de/unternehmen/presse/ presseaussendungen/projekt-2020/verpackungsmission/, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- Humbert, S., Rossi, V., Margni, M., Jolliet, O., Loerincik, Y., 2009. Life cycle assessment of two baby food packaging alternatives: glass jars vs. plastic pots. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 14 (2), 95–106.
- Hunkeler, D., Lichtenvort, K., Rebitzer, G., 2008. Environmental Life Cycle Costing. CRC Press, Hoboken.
- Hwang, C.-L., Lai, Y.-J., Liu, T.-Y., 1993. A new approach for multiple objective decision making. Comput. Oper. Res. 20 (8), 889–899.
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis: Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- ISO (Ed.), 2006a. Environmental management Life cycle assessment Requirements and guidelines: 14040:2006(en), 2006th ed. ISO.
- ISO (Ed.), 2006b. Environmental Management Life Cycle Assessment Requirements and Guidelines: 14044:2006, 2006th ed. ISO. (13.020.10).
- Jahan, A., Edwards, K.L., 2015. A state-of-the-art survey on the influence of normalization techniques in ranking: improving the materials selection process in engineering design. Materials & Design (1980–2015) 65, 335–342.
- Kao, C., 2010. Weight determination for consistently ranking alternatives in multiple criteria decision analysis. Appl. Math. Model. 34 (7), 1779–1787.
- Kumar, A., Sah, B., Singh, A.R., Deng, Y., He, X., Kumar, P., et al., 2017. A review of multi criteria decision making (MCDM) towards sustainable renewable energy development. Renew. Sust. Energ. Rev. 69, 596–609.
- Levy, M., 2017. Life cycle analysis: strengths and limitations of LCA. Encyclopedia of Sustainable Technologies. Elsevier, pp. 233–236.Li, X., Wang, K., Liu, L., Xin, J., Yang, H., Gao, C., 2011. Application of the entropy weight and
- Li, X., Wang, K., Liu, L., Xin, J., Yang, H., Gao, C., 2011. Application of the entropy weight and TOPSIS method in safety evaluation of coal mines. Procedia Engineering 26, 2085–2091.
- Lindh, H., Williams, H., Olsson, A., Wikström, F., 2016. Elucidating the indirect contributions of packaging to sustainable development: a terminology of packaging functions and features. Packag. Technol. Sci. 29 (4–5), 225–246.
- Maxim, A., 2014. Sustainability assessment of electricity generation technologies using weighted multi-criteria decision analysis. Energy Policy 65, 284–297.
- Meier, M.S., Stoessel, F., Jungbluth, N., Juraske, R., Schader, C., Stolze, M., 2015. Environmental impacts of organic and conventional agricultural products—are the differences captured by life cycle assessment? J. Environ. Manag. 149, 193–208.
- Meurer, I.R., Lange, C.C., Hungaro, H.M., Valenzuela Bell, M.J., de Carvalho dos Anjos, V., Antonio de Sá Silva, C., et al., 2017. Quantification of whole ultra high temperature UHT milk waste as a function of packages type and design. J. Clean. Prod. 153, 483–490.

- Molina-Besch, K., Wikström, F., Williams, H., 2018. The environmental impact of packaging in food supply chains—does life cycle assessment of food provide the full picture? Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 21, 492 Part 3.
- Mollayosefi, M.M., Hayati, B., Pishbahar, E., Nematian, J., 2019. Selecting weighting methodologies for evaluating agricultural sustainability in Iran. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Engineering Sustainability 172 (4), 207–217.
- Moreau, V., Weidema, B.P., 2015. The computational structure of environmental life cycle costing. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 20 (10), 1359–1363.
- Neugebauer, S., Forin, S., Finkbeiner, M., 2016. From life cycle costing to economic life cycle assessment—introducing an economic impact pathway. Sustainability 8 (5), 428.
- Niero, M., Kalbar, P.P., 2019. Coupling material circularity indicators and life cycle based indicators: a proposal to advance the assessment of circular economy strategies at the product level. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 140, 305–312.
- Pauer, E., Wohner, B., Heinrich, V., Tacker, M., 2019. Assessing the environmental sustainability of food packaging: an extended life cycle assessment including packagingrelated food losses and waste and circularity assessment. Sustainability 11 (3), 925.
- Pilz H, Brandt B, Fehringer R. The Impact of Plastics on Life Cycle Energy Consumption and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Europe: Summary Report, 2010. https://www. plasticseurope.org/application/files/9015/1310/4686/september-2010-the-impactof-plastic.pdf (accessed April 15, 2020).
- plasticker, Markt, Preise, 2019. https://plasticker.de/preise/preise_monat_single.php, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- Posch, M., Seppälä, J., Hettelingh, J.-P., Johansson, M., Margni, M., Jolliet, O., 2008. The role of atmospheric dispersion models and ecosystem sensitivity in the determination of characterisation factors for acidifying and eutrophying emissions in LCIA. Int. J. Life
 Cycle Assess. 13 (6), 477–486. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/
 \$11367-008-0025-9.pdf.
- EWE Group, 2018. REWE International AG will "Raus aus Plastik": BILLA, MERKUR, PENNY und ADEG starten großangelegte Initiative für umweltfreundliche Verpackungen. https://www.rewe-group.at/de/newsroom/pressemitteilungen/riag-1817-Raus-aus-Plastik, Accessed date: 7 November 2019).
- Ronga, D., Gallingani, T., Zaccardelli, M., Perrone, D., Francia, E., Milc, J., et al., 2019. Carbon footprint and energetic analysis of tomato production in the organic vs the conventional cropping systems in southern Italy. J. Clean. Prod. 220, 836–845.
- Scherhaufer, S., Moates, G., Hartikainen, H., Waldron, K., Obersteiner, G., 2018. Environtom mental impacts of food waste in Europe. Waste Manag. 77, 98–113.
- Schmidt, M.C., 2011. Untersuchung und Verbesserung des Entleerungsverhaltens von Füllgut-Verpackungssystemen. Dissertation. Universität Stuttgart, Stuttgart.
- Sharoba, A.M., Senge, B., El-Mansy, H.A., Bahlol, H.E., Blochwitz, R., 2005. Chemical, sensory and rheological properties of some commercial German and Egyptian tomato ketchups. Eur. Food Res. Technol. 220 (2), 142–151.
- Chennan, C., Krupnik, T.J., Baird, G., Cohen, H., Forbush, K., Lovell, R.J., et al., 2017. Organic and conventional agriculture: a useful framing? Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 42 (1), 317–346.
- Smith, L.G., Kirk, G.J.D., Jones, P.J., Williams, A.G., 2019. The greenhouse gas impacts of converting food production in England and Wales to organic methods. Nat. Commun.
- BPAR, 2019. Gemeinsam Plastik sparen mit Spar. https://www.spar.at/nachhaltigkeit/ produkte/verpackungen, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- Speck, R., Selke, S., Auras, R., Fitzsimmons, J., 2015. Choice of life cycle assessment software can impact packaging system decisions. Packag. Technol. Sci. 28 (7), 579–588.
 Stanhill, G., 1990. The comparative productivity of organic agriculture. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 30 (1–2). 1–26.
- «Statista GmbH, 2019. Ketchup Österreich | Statista Marktprognose. https://de.statista.

- Stettler, C., Rüttimann, S., Kägi, T., 2016. Ökobilanz Verwertungen von Altglasökologischer Nutzen der Sammlung von Verpackungsglas: Grundlagenbericht für Empfehlungen zum Verteilschlüssel der vorgezogenen Entsorgungsgebühr (VEG). https://carbotech.ch/cms/wp-content/uploads/%C3%96kobilanz_Verwertung_von_ Altglas_de.pdf, Accessed date: 7 November 2019.
- The European Parliament and the Council, 2018. Directive (EU) 2018/851 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive 2008/98/EC on waste: EU 2018/851.
- The jamovi project. jamovi, 2019. https://www.jamovi.org/ (accessed November 15, 2019).
- UNEP, 2016. Global guidance for life cycle impact assessment indicators. https://www.lifecycleinitiative.org/download/5746/, Accessed date: 9 March 2020.
- USDA, 2019. FoodData central: tomatoes, red, ripe, raw, year round average. https://fdc. nal.usda.gov/fdc-app.html#/food-details/170457/nutrients, Accessed date: 29 October 2019.
- Vafaei, N., Ribeiro, R.A., Camarinha-Matos, L.M., 2016. Normalization techniques for multicriteria decision making: analytical hierarchy process case study. In: Camarinha-Matos, L.M., Falcão, A.J., Vafaei, N., Najdi, S. (Eds.), Technological Innovation for Cyber-Physical Systems. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 261–269.
- Vermeulen PCM, van der Lans CJM. Combined heat and power (CHP) as a possible method for reduction of the Co2 Footprint Of Organic Greenhouse Horticulture. In: Dorais M, Bishop SD, Meijer RJM. Proceedings of the First International Conference on Organic Greenhouse Horticulture; Bleiswijk, The Netherlands, October 11–14, 2010: International Society for Horticultural Science; International Conference on Organic Greenhouse Horticulture. Leuven: Secretariat of ISHS Int. Soc. for Horticultural Science; 2011.
- Wątróbski, J., Jankowski, J., Ziemba, P., Karczmarczyk, A., Zioło, M., 2019a. Generalised framework for multi-criteria method selection. Omega 86, 107–124.
- Wątróbski, J., Jankowski, J., Ziemba, P., Karczmarczyk, A., Zioło, M., 2019b. MCDA method selection tool: An innovative tool for selecting MCDA method tailored to the decision problem. http://mcda.it/.
- Wikström, F., Williams, H., Verghese, K., Clune, S., 2014. The influence of packaging attributes on consumer behaviour in food-packaging life cycle assessment studies - a neglected topic. J. Clean. Prod. 73, 100–108.
- Williams, H., Wikström, F., 2011. Environmental impact of packaging and food losses in a life cycle perspective: a comparative analysis of five food items. J. Clean. Prod. 19 (1), 43–48.
- Williams, H., Wikström, F., Otterbring, T., Löfgren, M., Gustafsson, A., 2012. Reasons for household food waste with special attention to packaging. J. Clean. Prod. 24, 141–148.
- de Wit, M., Hoogzaad, J., Ramkumar, S., Friedl, H., Douma, A., 2018. The Circularity Gap Report: An Analysis of the Circular State of the Global Economy. https://bfc732f7-80e9-4ba1-b429-7f76cf51627b.filesusr.com/ugd/ad6e59_
- 733a71635ad946bc9902dbdc52217018.pdf, Accessed date: 11 December 2019. Wohner, B., Pauer, E., Heinrich, V., Tacker, M., 2019a. Packaging-related food losses and waste: an overview of drivers and issues. Sustainability 11 (1).
- Wohner, B., Schwarzinger, N., Gürlich, U., Heinrich, V., Tacker, M., 2019b. Technical emptiability of dairy product packaging and its environmental implications in Austria. PeerJ 7 (12), e7578.
- Wood, R., Hertwich, E.G., 2013. Economic modelling and indicators in life cycle sustainability assessment. Int. J. Life Cycle Assess. 18 (9), 1710–1721.
- Yokokawa, N., Kikuchi-Uehara, E., Sugiyama, H., Hirao, M., 2018. Framework for analyzing the effects of packaging on food loss reduction by considering consumer behavior. J. Clean. Prod. 174, 26–34.
- Yonezawa, K., Richards, T.J., 2016. Competitive package size decisions. J. Retail. 92 (4), 445–469.
- Zimek, M., Schober, A., Mair, C., Baumgartner, R.J., Stern, T., Füllsack, M., 2019. The third wave of LCA as the "decade of consolidation". Sustainability 11 (12), 3283.

12